
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

July 16, 2024 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 

 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the July 2, 2024 regular meeting minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to 
speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - The agenda packet for this meeting is posted on the county's website. 
Any additional documentation presented at the meeting shall be submitted to the Clerk for 
receipt, recording and distribution to the Board 

IX. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate, the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda. 

1. [2024-337 Contract] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris 
Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 16, 2024 

2. [2024-338 Agreement] 

Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement between Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
and Greystone Homeowners Association 

3. [2024-339 Contract] 

Consideration to approve to renew the Disaster Debris Removal Services Contract with 
Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. and CrowderGulf, LLC 

4. [2024-340 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve Amendment #4 for the extension of the Master Services 
Agreement for Professional Services for EOM Operations 

5. [2024-341 Agreement] 

Consideration to renew the License Agreement with Verizon Wireless for site 133762 in 
Springfield 

X. New Business 

1. [2024-342 Purchase] Clint Hodges 

Consideration to approve the Purchase of a Fire Engine and Ladder Truck from Ten-8 
Fire and Safety. 

2. [2024-343 Plat/Deed] Samantha Easton 

Consideration to approve a Final Plat and Warranty Deed for Lonadine Phase 2A located 
on Highway 119 S Map# 344 Parcel# 26A in the Third District, zoned R-6 

3. [2024-344 Policy] Jonathan Hulme 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Construction Specification to amend 
Section 02400 Stormwater Drainage System of the Effingham County Construction 
Specifications and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual page 14 to 
reflect this change 

4. [2024-345 Proposal] Jonathan Hulme 

Consideration to approve a Proposal from GMC for Engineering Evaluation of the 
Effingham County Goshen Commercial Park Well System 

5. [2024-346 Ordinance] Jonathan Hulme 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an Ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code, Chapter 34 - Article III, Provisions - Flood Hazard Reduction, for Section 
34.83 of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

6. [20244-347 Ordinance] Jonathan Hulme 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an Ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code, Chapter 34 - Article III - Section 34.84  (Standards for areas of special flood 
hazard (zones AE) with established base flood elevations without designated floodways) of 
the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

7. [2024-348 Ordinance] Samantha Easton 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code, Appendix C - Zoning Ordinance, Section 3.17 - Excavation, Mining, Ponds, and Fills 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 16, 2024 

of Land and/or State/Federal Jurisdictional Waters or Wetlands and 3.17A - Ponds - 
Construction of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

8. [2024-349 Ordinance] Samantha Easton 

Consideration to approve the amendment of the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official 
Code: Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 3.41 Swimming pools, private community, or 
club of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

9. [2024-350 Task Order] Danielle Carver 

Consideration to approve Task Order 24-IDC-RFP-067 for POND & Company to complete 
the design of the roundabout at SR-30 and Midland Road 

10. [2024-351 Change Order/Task Order] Danielle Carver 

Consideration to approve Change Order #4 and Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 
Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering 

11. [2024-352 Purchase Order] Danielle Carver 

Consideration to approve Purchase Order 23-RFQ-062 with Aqualitec Corp for the 
replacement of Fine Screen and Washer Compactor 

12. [2024-353 Agreement] Danielle Carver 

Consideration to approve Amendment 7 of the Agreement with EOM Operations for 
public works related services 

13. [2024-354 Agreement] Danielle Carver 

Consideration to approve Task Order 9 with EOM Operations under the Master Services 
Agreement related to civil engineering services  

14. [2024-355 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 024-021 to amend the Fiscal Year 2024 budget 

15. [2024-356 Annexation] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to acknowledge a Petition for Annexation as submitted by the City of 
Springfield related to a property located at 1528 Hwy 21 South, Map# 389B Parcel# 18 
in the Fourth District 

16. [2024-357 Agreement]  Jonathan Hulme 

Consideration to approve a Memorandum of Understanding Proposed Sewer Assets 
between Effingham County and the City of Springfield  

17. [2024-358 Agreement] Danielle Carver 

Consideration to approve the Preliminary Engineering Agreement with CSX 
Transportation, Inc. for the Goshen Road Widening Project 

XI. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

 

 

 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 16, 2024 

 

XIII. Planning Board - 6:00 pm 

1. [2024-359 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning board recommends approval to amend Appendix C, Article IX - Section 
5.11.2 to allow for the addition of truck and trailer parking as a Conditional Use in B-3 
zoning districts 

2. [2024-360 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by Luis R. Perdomo for a 
conditional use for a Rural Business located at 100 Highland Drive for commercial 
vehicle parking. Map #466B Parcel # 10 in the Second District 

3. [2024-361 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Luis R. Perdomo for 
a conditional use for a Rural Business located at 100 Highland Drive for commercial 
vehicle parking. Map #466B Parcel # 10 in the Second District 

4. [2024-362 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Betty Crosby for a 
variance located at 118 Second Street to allow for a reduction in the required building 
setbacks. Map # 296A Parcel # 25 in the First District 

5. [2024-363 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Betty Crosby for 
a variance located at 118 Second Street to allow for a reduction in the required building 
setbacks. Map # 296A Parcel # 25 in the First District 

6. [2024-364 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Amy Wilson as agent for 
Sandra Hutcheson for a variance located at 569 Little McCall Road to allow for the 
occupation of an RV during home construction. Map # 320 Parcel # 51 in the Third 
District 

7. [2024-365 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading an application by Amy Wilson as agent 
for Sandra Hutcheson for a variance located at 569 Little McCall Road to allow for the 
occupation of an RV during home construction. Map # 320 Parcel # 51 in the Third 
District 

8. [2024-366 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by Robert Crisp for 
a variance located at 156 Knotty Pine Circle to allow for the reduction in required 
building setbacks. Map # 428C Parcel # 150 in the Fourth District 

9. [2024-367 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Robert Crisp for 
a variance located at 156 Knotty Pine Circle to allow for the reduction in required 
building setbacks. Map # 428C Parcel # 150 in the Fourth District  

4



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – July 16, 2024 

 

10. [2024-368 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approval of a request by Jason Ruarks as agent for 
Karen Lanier & Gary Moore to rezone 4.88 acres located at 188 Harley Road from AR-
1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create a new home site Map# 417B Parcel# 4 in 
the Second District 

11. [2024-369 Second Reading]  

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of a request by Jason Ruarks as agent 
for Karen Lanier & Gary Moore to rezone 4.88 acres located at 188 Harley Road 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for a subdivision to create a new home site Map# 417B 
Parcel# 4 in the Second District 

12. [2024-370 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving a request by Lee Grider to rezone +/-
1.34 acres located at 1243 & 1257 Noel C Conaway Road from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-3 
to allow for commercial/business opportunities Map# 375E Parcel# 5 & 6 in 
the Second District 

13. [2024-371 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving a request by Lee Grider to rezone +/-
1.34 acres located at 1243 & 1257 Noel C Conaway Road from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-
3 to allow for commercial/business opportunities Map# 375E Parcel# 5 & 6 in 
the Second District 

14. [2024-372 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving a request by Brooke Graham to rezone 
+/-5.14 acres located at 2453 GA Highway 119 N from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to 
create new home sites Map# 408 Parcel# 24A in the Third District 

15. [2024-373 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of a request by Brooke 
Graham to rezone +/-5.14 acres located at 2453 GA Highway 119 N from AR-1 to AR-
2 to subdivide to create new home sites Map# 408 Parcel# 24A in the Third District 

16. [2024-374 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends denying a request by Read Brennan to rezone +/- 
27.65 acres located on Blue Jay Road from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment 
of a Planned Development Map# 415 Parcel # 10 & Map # 414 Parcel # 9 in the 
Fourth District 

17. [2024-375 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of a request by Read Brennan to rezone 
+/- 27.65 acres located on Blue Jay Road from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the 
amendment of a Planned Development Map# 415 Parcel # 10 & Map # 414 Parcel # 
9 in the Fourth District 

XIV. Adjournment 

5



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of renewal of the Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring 

& Financial Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC (23-RFP-025) 

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department: EEMA 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Renewal Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring & 

Financial Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of the Pre-Event Contract for 

Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting 

Services, LLC 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Contract Dates: July 1, 2023 – June 30,2024 with three (3) additional single-year 

renewals. 

 No compensation will result from the pre-event contract unless an activation 

change order is approved by the Board of Commissioners in the event of a 

declared emergency. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of renewal of the Pre-Event Contract for Disaster Debris Monitoring & 

Financial Recovery Services with Thompson Consulting Services, LLC 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EEMA, Fire, Purchasing 

Funding Source: No compensation will result from the pre-event contract unless an 

activation change order is approved by the Board of Commissioners in the event of a 

declared emergency. 

Attachments: 

 Thompson Consulting Services, LLC Agreement 

 

 

 

6

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

This document is a pre-event contract.   

 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of 

Georgia (hereinafter called the “County”), and Thompson Consulting Services, LLC (hereinafter called 

the “Contractor”), a corporation maintaining an office located in 2601 Maitland Center Parkway, Maitland 

FL 32751, for the purposes of engaging in the business of providing disaster debris monitoring & financial 

recovery services. 

 

 WHEREAS, the County is empowered to provide for disaster debris monitoring & financial 

recovery services and is further allowed by law to enter contracts; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Contractor is willing to render the service of disaster debris monitoring & 

financial recovery services within the County upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is the expectation of each of the parties that by entering into this Agreement, and 

by the full and faithful observance and performance of its respective duties, obligations and responsibilities, 

a mutually-satisfactory relationship between them will be established and maintained;  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, 

the County and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all the laws of the federal government and the State of Georgia and 

the rules and regulations of any and all other governmental agencies relative to natural disasters.  In 

addition, the Contractor shall comply with all present and future ordinances which have an effect on or 

regulate national disasters.  The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable laws, rules, and 

regulations of all governmental agencies in the performance of this contract. 

 

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 

color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants 

are employed, and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their race, color, 

religion, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, 

upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay 

or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor agrees 

to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided 

setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.  

7

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 (2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the 

contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive considerations for employment without regard to 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a collective 

bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said labor 

union or workers' representatives of the contractor's commitments under this section, and shall post copies 

of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.  

 (4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and 

of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor.  

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 

September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, 

and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary 

of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders.  

(6) In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or 

with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated, or suspended 

in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts or 

federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 

11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions as may be imposed and remedies invoked as 

provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the 

Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law.  

(7) The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) and the 

provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, 

regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 

of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The 

contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the administering 

agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 

Provided, however, That in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation 

with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the administering agency the contractor 

may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States.”  

 

CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702, the contractor will compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis 

of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided 

that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all 

hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.  

 

The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or 

mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, 

hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or 

articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of 

intelligence.  

 

Compliance with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act 

(1) Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work 

which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such 

8

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of 

forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than 

one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable 

for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in 

the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such 

territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each 

individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was 

required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the 

overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section. 

 

3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS  (name of the Federal agency or the loan or grant recipient) shall upon its own action 

or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be 

withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under 

any such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-

assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same 

prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such 

contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in 
paragraph (2) of this section.  

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in 

paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these 

clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any 

subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this 

section.”  

 

DAVIS BACON ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows (if applicable):  

Compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144 and 3146-3148) as supplemented by 

Department of Labor regulations at 29 C.F.R. Part 5 (Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 

Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction)). See 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II, ¶ D. 

 

COPELAND “ANTI-KICKBACK” ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 
(1) Contractor: The contractor shall comply with 18 U.S.C. § 874, 40 U.S.C. § 3145, and the requirements 

of 29 C.F.R. pt. 3 as may be applicable, which are incorporated by reference into this contract.  

 

(2) Subcontracts: The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clause above and such 

other clauses as the FEMA may by appropriate instructions require, and also a clause requiring the 

subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be 

responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all of these contract 

clauses. 

  

(3) Breach: A breach of the contract clauses above may be grounds for termination of the contract, and for 

debarment as a contractor and subcontractor as provided in 29 C.F.R. § 5.12.”  

9

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

CLEAN AIR ACT AND THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Clean Air Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to 

the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

  

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) and understands and agrees that the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), 

Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional 

Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 

financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.  
 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 

pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.  

 

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

and understands and agrees that the Effingham County Board of Commissioners will, in turn, report 

each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 financed 

in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.”  

 

DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION 
(1) This contract is a covered transaction for purposes of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180 and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000. As such 

the contractor is required to verify that none of the contractor, its principals (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.995), 

or its affiliates (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.905) are excluded (defined at 2 C.F.R.  § 180.940) or disqualified 

(defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.935).  

 

(2) The contractor must comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C and must 

include a requirement to comply with these regulations in any lower tier covered transaction it enters into.  

 

(3) This certification is a material representation of fact relied upon by EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD 

OF COMMISSIONERS (insert name of subrecipient). If it is later determined that the contractor did not 

comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C, in addition to remedies available 

to GEMA / EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (name of state agency serving as 

recipient and name of subrecipient), the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, including but 

not limited to suspension and/or debarment.  

 

(4) The bidder or proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 

C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C while this offer is valid and throughout the period of any contract that may arise 

from this offer. The bidder or proposer further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in 

its lower tier covered transactions.” 
 

10

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT, 31 U.S.C. § 1352 (as amended) 

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more shall file the required certification. Each 

tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person 

or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member 

of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 

obtaining any Federal contract, grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier shall also 

disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal 

award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient.” 

 
PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS 
(1) In the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall make maximum use of products 

containing recovered materials that are EPA- designated items unless the product cannot be acquired 

—  

(i) Competitively within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract performance 

schedule;  

 

(ii) Meeting contract performance requirements; or  

 

(iii) At a reasonable price.  

 

(2) Information about this requirement, along with the list of EPA-designate items, is available at 

EPA’s Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines web site, https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-

procurement-guideline-cpg-program.” 

 

CHANGES 

The County reserves the right to make changes in the Services, including alterations, reductions or additions 

thereto. If the County elects to make the change, the County shall issue a contract amendment or change 

order and Contractor shall not commence work on any such change until such written amendment or change 

order has been issued and signed by both parties.  

 

If the contractor wishes to make changes, the contractor shall submit a written request – either a contract 

amendment or change order and shall not commence work on any such change until such written 

amendment or change order has been approved and signed by both parties. 
 

ACCESS TO RECORDS 

The following access to records requirements apply to this contract: 

 

(1) The contractor agrees to provide Effingham County Board of Commissioners, the FEMA 

Administrator, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized 

representatives access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are 

directly pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transcriptions.  

(2) The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 
whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed.  

(3) The contractor agrees to provide the FEMA Administrator or his authorized representatives 

access to construction or other work sites pertaining to the work being completed under the 

contract. 

11

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

DHS SEAL, LOGO AND FLAGS 

The contractor shall not use the DHS seal(s), logos, crests, or reproductions of flags or likenesses of 

DHS agency officials without specific FEMA pre- approval. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL LAW, REGULATIONS AND EXECUTIVE ORDERS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that FEMA financial assistance will be used to 

fund the contract only. The contractor will comply will all applicable federal law, regulations, executive 

orders, FEMA policies, procedures, and directives. 

NO OBLIGATION BY FEDERAL GOVERNMENT 
The Federal Government is not a party to this contract and is not subject to any obligations or liabilities to 

the non-Federal entity, contractor, or any other party pertaining to any matter resulting from the contract. 

 

PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS OR RELATED ACTS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that 31 U.S.C. Chap. 38 (Administrative Remedies 

for False Claims and Statements) applies to the contractor’s actions pertaining to this contract. 
 

AGREEMENT NOT AN EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 

It is the understanding and intention of the parties hereto that the Agreement shall constitute a contract for 

disaster debris monitoring & financial recovery services; that said Agreement shall not constitute an 

exclusive franchise; nor shall same be deemed or construed as such. 

 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  TERM OF CONTRACT 

This Agreement shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed and 

performance of such Agreement shall begin upon issuance of a Task Order.  The initial agreement shall 

terminate on June 30, 2024.  There will be three (3) single-year renewals.  This Agreement shall terminate 

absolutely and without further obligation on the part of County at the close of the fiscal year in which it 

was executed and at the close of each succeeding fiscal year for which it may be renewed as provided for 

in O.C.G.A. §36-60-13, the provisions of which are incorporated herein.  This Agreement shall terminate 

immediately and absolutely at such time as appropriated and otherwise unobligated funds are no longer 

available to satisfy the obligations of the County under this Agreement.  

 

LICENSES AND TAXES 

The Contractor must obtain all licenses and permits required by the County, the Federal Government and 

the State Government.    
 

INDEMNITY  

The Contractor agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, its commissioners, 

officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, damages, claims, suits, liens, and 

judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or indemnification, for injuries to or 

death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other rights of any person or persons caused 

by the Contractor or its subcontractors.  Contractor further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide 

defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, at its sole expense, and agrees 

to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or 

fraudulent, including any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's Compensation 

Act arising out of injuries sustained by any employee of the Contractor or its subcontractors or anyone 

directly or indirectly employed by any of them. The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify the County under 

this Section shall not be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and amount 

of coverage provided by any insurance maintained by the Contractor. 
 

 

12

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

IMMUNITY 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any immunity to which 

the County, its officials, or employees are legally entitled.  
 

INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain such insurance as will protect the company from claims under workmen’s 

compensation acts and from any other claims for damages to property, and for personal injury, including 

death, which may arise from operations under this contract, whether such operations are by the Contractor 

or by any sub-contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by Contractor.   

Certificates of such insurance shall be filed with the County.  The Contractor will provide the County ten 

(10) days’ notice in the event the Contractor’s insurance is cancelled or terminated for any reason 
 

 *The limits of insurance are as follows: 

A. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury, including death 

and property damage claims arising from operations of a contractor or tenant. Minimum 

limits: $1,000,000 bodily injury and property damage each occurrence, and $2,000,000 

Property Damage, in the aggregate. 

B. Worker's Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Provides statutory protection 

against bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by employees of the contractor while 

performing within the scope of duties. Minimum limits: $500,000 for each accident, disease 

policy limit, and disease each employee and Statutory Worker’s Compensation limit. 

C. Business Automobile Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims arising out of 

the contractor’s use of automobiles. Minimum limit: $1,000,000 combined single limit 

per accident for bodily injury, property damage, and should be written on an “Any Auto” 

basis. 

D. Umbrella Policy: $10,000,000 

Failure to obtain or maintain the appropriate insurance coverages as stated herein (and in RFP 18-

001) shall be deemed a default on the part of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately 

cure a default under this provision within twenty-four (24) hours thereof.  In the event Contractor 

does not timely cure a default under this provision, the County shall be entitled to immediately 

terminate this contract. 

 

*Liability Insurance shall be effective for the duration of the contract period as described in the 

contract documents, including RFP 18-001 and any authorized change orders/task orders. 

 

All insurance premiums shall be paid by the Contractor and shall be without cost to the County. 

 

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

FEES:. SEE ATTACHMENT A 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
   

 

Debris Monitoring Positions 

Paper-Based Ticketing Automated Ticketing 

Hourly Hourly 

$ Rate $ Rate 

    

Project Manager  $   $  

Operation Managers  $   $  

Field Supervisors  $   $  

GIS Analyst  $   $  

Environmental Specialists  $   $  

Billing/Invoicing/Data Managers  $   $  

Project Coordinators  $   $  

Load Ticket Data Entry Clerks  $   $  

Collection Crew Monitors  $   $  

Tower Monitors  $   $  

Residential Drop-off Monitors  $   $  

Automated Ticketing Specialists    $  

 

   

  

Grant Management Consulting Positions 

  

Hourly 

$ Rate 

  

 

 

 

Senior Grant Management Consultant $  

Grant Management Consultant $  

Administrative Assistant $  

Grand Total $  

 

 

  

 

Emergency Management Consulting 

Positions 

Hourly 

$ Rate 

  

 

 

  

Senior Planner $  

Planner $  

Grand Total $  

 

The hourly labor rates shall include all applicable overhead and profit.   

Lodging, meals and incidentals will be billed at the most current GSA per diem rate for the area.  

Mileage will be reimbursed at the most recent IRS published rate.   

All other direct project expenses will be reimbursed at cost without mark-up. 
 

14

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

These prices shall remain in effect for a period of 36 months, no exception. 

 

No work outside the scope of work contained in the RFP will be performed without the advanced written 

consent of the County Manager or Project Manager. 

 

TERMINATION  
The agreement between the County and Contractor can be terminated with 30 days written notice by the 

County based on: 

a. County electing, in writing, not to exercise any of its option periods. 

b. Failure of the Contractor to perform based on the Contractor’s bankruptcy, lack or loss of skilled 

personnel, or disregarding laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having 

jurisdiction.  Should any single, multiple or all of the above conditions occur, the County shall have 

the authority to terminate the contract with written notice to Contractor.  The Contractor shall be 

liable for any losses occurring as a result of not abiding by the terms of the agreement. 

c. Failure of the Contractor to abide by any of the conditions of this Agreement. 

d. Any termination of the Contractor’s services shall not affect any right of the County against the 

Contractor then-existing or which may thereafter occur.  Any retention of payment monies by the 

County due the Contractor will not release Contractor from compliance with the Contract 

documents. 

 

Should the contract, upon expiration, be awarded to another service provider, Contractor shall cooperate 

with the County to assist with the orderly transfer of the functions and operations provided by the Contractor 

hereunder to another service provider or to the County as determined by the County in its sole discretion.  

Prior to termination or expiration of this Agreement, the County may require the Contractor to perform and, 

if so required, the Contractor shall perform certain transition services necessary to shift the support work 

of the Contractor to another provider or to the County itself and the County shall pay for such service at the 

rates set forth in this Agreement.  Transition services may include but shall not be limited to the following: 

1.  Working with the County to jointly develop a mutually agreed upon Transition Services Plan to 

facilitate the termination of the Services; and  

2.  Notifying all affected service providers and subcontractors of the Service provider 

Effingham County shall have the right to terminate any contract to be made hereunder for its convenience 

by giving written notice 30 days in advance of its election to do so and by specifying the effective date of 

such termination. The Vendor shall be paid for services rendered through the effective date of such 

termination. Further, provided a contract is awarded, if a Vendor shall fail to fulfill any of its obligations 

hereunder, the County may, by giving written notice to the Vendor, terminate the agreement with said 

Vendor for such default. If this agreement is so terminated, the Vendor shall be paid only for work 

satisfactorily completed.  

 

TRANSFERABILITY OF CONTRACT   
No assignment of the Contract or any right accruing under this Contract shall be made in whole or in part 

to third persons by the Contractor without the express written consent of the County, which consent shall 

not be unreasonably withheld; in the event of any assignment, the assignee shall assume the liability of the 

Contractor. 

 

ADMINISTRATION   
The administration and enforcement of this Agreement shall be the responsibility of the County Manager 

or his designated representative(s). 

 

The County Manager shall recommend that the Board of Commissioners adopt any rules and regulations 

required to implement or enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall 

15

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

cooperate with the County Manager or his representative(s) in any inspections and render whatever 

assistance they reasonably request.  The Contractor agrees to follow the reasonable recommendations of 

the County Manager so that the County’s reputation is in no way damaged by the Contractor’s performance.   

 

NO AGENCY CREATED 

Nothing in the Contract is intended to grant authority to the Contractor, as agent or otherwise, to bind the 

County to any contract, warranty, or agreement, or to subject the County to any costs, liabilities or expenses.  

It is expressly understood that the Contractor shall be an independent contractor with absolutely no authority 

to bind or obligate the County and for whom the County shall have no liability or responsibility. 

 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

This agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, 

and no representations, inducements, or agreements, oral or otherwise, not embodied herein, shall be of any 

force and effect.  Should, through administrative oversight, a particular requirement of RFP No. 18-001 not 

be expressly addressed within the body of this Agreement, the RFP language shall be referred to for 

guidance. 

 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

It is the intention and agreement of the parties of this Contract that all legal provisions of law which are 

required to be inserted herein, shall be and are inserted herein.  However, if by mistake or otherwise, some 

such provision is not herein inserted, or is not inserted in proper form, the contract may be amended 

provided that such amendment is in writing and signed by the parties hereto stating that said writing is an 

amendment or modification hereto.  Any other attempts at modification, whether by course of conduct, oral 

or informally written agreement or whatever, shall not prevail. 

 

SEPERABILITY OR PROVISION 

If any provision of this Agreement, or its application to any person or circumstances, is invalid or 

unenforceable, a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefore in order to carry out, so far 

as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of this invalid and unenforceable provision herein 

and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby. 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been approved and accepted at Springfield, Effingham County, 

Georgia, and shall be construed under the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 

HEADINGS 

The use of headings, captions, and numbers herein is solely for the convenience of identifying and indexing 

the various paragraphs and shall in no event be considered otherwise in construing or interpreting any 

provision of the Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

16

Item IX. 1.



23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery Services 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be executed by their duly 

authorized officers and their corporate seals affixed hereto on the day and year below their respective 

signatures. 

 

 

       BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

     EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA  

      

 

    BY:        

                                                             Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

                                            

  

     

    ATTEST:         

     Stephanie Johnson, Effingham County Clerk 

              

 

 

          Date:           

 

 

     FOR THE CONTRACTOR 

 

     BY:        

      

     Title:        

 

     Attest:        

 

Date:        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

17

Item IX. 1.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia 

Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 

Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial 

Recovery Services 

Due Date / Time: June 1, 2023 | 11:00 am 

 

ELECTRONIC SUBMITTAL 
Proposal Cost 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

18

Item IX. 1.



 
 

2601 Maitland Center Parkway 
Maitland, Florida 32751 

O: (407) 792-0018 | F: (407) 878-7858  

www.thompsoncs.net 

A THOMPSON HOLDINGS, INC. COMPANY 

 

June 1, 2023 

Effingham County 

804 S Laurel St. 

Springfield, GA 31329 

Submitted electronically to: https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/effinghamcounty 

RE: Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery 

Services | Proposal Cost 

Thompson Consulting Services, LLC (Thompson) is pleased to provide Effingham County with the 

enclosed Proposal Cost for Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & 

Financial Recovery Services. 

Thompson has invested considerable resources in order to improve the efficiencies of our administrative 

and accounting services, as well as our training and logistics operations. In turn, we pass on these 

efficiencies to our clients in the form of cost savings and no-cost services. We understand the 

importance of minimizing costs and as such will not charge the County for positions that are duplicative 

in nature or unnecessary to perform the scope of services requested. Project costs will vary depending 

on the severity and duration of a disaster event, and all positions may not be necessary to complete the 

scope of services requested.  

The pricing proposal form has been provided on the following page. Please feel free to contact 

Thompson President, Jon Hoyle, with any questions pertaining to the proposal cost.  

Best regards, 
THOMPSON CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC 

 

 

Jon Hoyle, President 
2601 Maitland Center Parkway, Maitland, FL 32751 
O: 407.792.0018 |C: 321.303.2543 |F:  407.878.7858 
E-mail: jhoyle@thompsoncs.net 
  

EN: RFP No. 23-RFP-025 - Proposal Cost Form     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

19

Item IX. 1.



 
Selection Committee, Effingham, Georgia June 1, 2023 
RFP 23-RFP-025 Proposal Cost 
 
  

PRICING PROPOSAL FORM 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task 

order is approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

The hourly labor rates shall include all applicable overhead and profit. Lodging, meals and 

incidentals will be billed at the most current GSA per diem rate for the area. Mileage will be 

reimbursed at the most recent IRS published rate. All other direct project expenses will be 

reimbursed at cost without mark-up 
 

1Duplicative management position not necessary to complete the scope of work requested by the County, 

therefore will not be charged to the County. Tasks associated with this position will be performed by the Project 

Manager. 

2Position not necessary due to efficiencies of our Automated Debris Management System (ADMS), therefore 

position will not be charged to the County. 

 

 
 

Debris Monitoring Positions 

Paper-Based Ticketing Automated Ticketing 

Hourly Hourly 

$ Rate $ Rate 

Project Manager $ 65.12 $ 65.12 

Operation Managers 1 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

Field Supervisors $ 43.42 $ 43.42 

GIS Analyst $ 50.00 $ 50.00 

Environmental Specialists $ 50.00 $ 50.00 

Billing/Invoicing/Data Managers $ 55.00 $ 55.00 

Project Coordinators 2 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

Load Ticket Data Entry Clerks 
2
 $ 18.00 $ 0.00 

Collection Crew Monitors $ 35.28 $ 37.99 

Tower Monitors $ 34.19 $ 35.82 

Residential Drop-off Monitors $ 29.85 $ 29.85 

Automated Ticketing Specialists 2  $ 0.00 

 

 
Grant Management Consulting Positions 

Hourly  

$ Rate 

Senior Grant Management Consultant $ 135.68 

Grant Management Consultant $ 103.11 

Administrative Assistant $ 24.42 

Grand Total $ 263.21 
 

 
Emergency Management Consulting 

Positions 

Hourly  

$ Rate 

Senior Planner $ 135.68 

Planner $ 103.11 

Grand Total $ 238.79 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

20

Item IX. 1.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

21

Item IX. 1.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effingham County, Georgia 

Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 

Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial 

Recovery Services 

Due Date / Time: June 1, 2023 | 11:00 am 

 

ELECTRONIC SUBMITTAL 
Proposal Cost 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

22

Item IX. 1.



 
 

2601 Maitland Center Parkway 
Maitland, Florida 32751 

O: (407) 792-0018 | F: (407) 878-7858  

www.thompsoncs.net 

A THOMPSON HOLDINGS, INC. COMPANY 

 

June 1, 2023 

Effingham County 

804 S Laurel St. 

Springfield, GA 31329 

Submitted electronically to: https://procurement.opengov.com/portal/effinghamcounty 

RE: Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & Financial Recovery 

Services | Proposal Cost 

Thompson Consulting Services, LLC (Thompson) is pleased to provide Effingham County with the 

enclosed Proposal Cost for Request for Proposal No. 23-RFP-025 – Disaster Debris Monitoring & 

Financial Recovery Services. 

Thompson has invested considerable resources in order to improve the efficiencies of our administrative 

and accounting services, as well as our training and logistics operations. In turn, we pass on these 

efficiencies to our clients in the form of cost savings and no-cost services. We understand the 

importance of minimizing costs and as such will not charge the County for positions that are duplicative 

in nature or unnecessary to perform the scope of services requested. Project costs will vary depending 

on the severity and duration of a disaster event, and all positions may not be necessary to complete the 

scope of services requested.  

The pricing proposal form has been provided on the following page. Please feel free to contact 

Thompson President, Jon Hoyle, with any questions pertaining to the proposal cost.  

Best regards, 
THOMPSON CONSULTING SERVICES, LLC 

 

 

Jon Hoyle, President 
2601 Maitland Center Parkway, Maitland, FL 32751 
O: 407.792.0018 |C: 321.303.2543 |F:  407.878.7858 
E-mail: jhoyle@thompsoncs.net 
  

EN: RFP No. 23-RFP-025 - Proposal Cost Form     
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

23

Item IX. 1.



 
Selection Committee, Effingham, Georgia June 1, 2023 
RFP 23-RFP-025 Proposal Cost 
 
  

PRICING PROPOSAL FORM 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task 

order is approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

The hourly labor rates shall include all applicable overhead and profit. Lodging, meals and 

incidentals will be billed at the most current GSA per diem rate for the area. Mileage will be 

reimbursed at the most recent IRS published rate. All other direct project expenses will be 

reimbursed at cost without mark-up 
 

1Duplicative management position not necessary to complete the scope of work requested by the County, 

therefore will not be charged to the County. Tasks associated with this position will be performed by the Project 

Manager. 

2Position not necessary due to efficiencies of our Automated Debris Management System (ADMS), therefore 

position will not be charged to the County. 

 

 
 

Debris Monitoring Positions 

Paper-Based Ticketing Automated Ticketing 

Hourly Hourly 

$ Rate $ Rate 

Project Manager $ 65.12 $ 65.12 

Operation Managers 1 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

Field Supervisors $ 43.42 $ 43.42 

GIS Analyst $ 50.00 $ 50.00 

Environmental Specialists $ 50.00 $ 50.00 

Billing/Invoicing/Data Managers $ 55.00 $ 55.00 

Project Coordinators 2 $ 0.00 $ 0.00 

Load Ticket Data Entry Clerks 
2
 $ 18.00 $ 0.00 

Collection Crew Monitors $ 35.28 $ 37.99 

Tower Monitors $ 34.19 $ 35.82 

Residential Drop-off Monitors $ 29.85 $ 29.85 

Automated Ticketing Specialists 2  $ 0.00 

 

 
Grant Management Consulting Positions 

Hourly  

$ Rate 

Senior Grant Management Consultant $ 135.68 

Grant Management Consultant $ 103.11 

Administrative Assistant $ 24.42 

Grand Total $ 263.21 
 

 
Emergency Management Consulting 

Positions 

Hourly  

$ Rate 

Senior Planner $ 135.68 

Planner $ 103.11 

Grand Total $ 238.79 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

24

Item IX. 1.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A - 23-RFP-025

25

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 
 
Subject:  Ratification of Approval of a Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement between 
   Effingham County Board of Commissioners and Greystone Homeowners 
   Association 
Author:  Tim Callanan, County Manager 
Department:  County Manager 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
Item Description: Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement between Effingham County Board of 
Commissioners and Greystone Homeowners Association. 
 
Summary Recommendation:  Staff recommends ratification of approval for the Custom Traffic 
Signpost Agreement between Effingham County Board of Commissioners and Greystone 
Homeowners Association. 
 
Executive Summary/Background: 

• Greystone HOA has requested the replacement of 1 stop sign within their subdivision at 
Cornelia Court and Greystone Drive. 

• Greystone HOA desires to use custom signposts for traffic signs located within its 
subdivision. 

• Greystone HOA will assume all costs associated with the installation, maintenance and any 
liability that may arise from the use of the custom traffic signposts. 

• The County will only be responsible for attaching the stop sign to the custom traffic signpost. 
• The lease agreement was prepared by the County Attorney. 

 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement between Effingham County Board of 
Commissioners and Honey Ridge Estates Homeowners Association. 

2. Do not approve the proposed agreement. 
3. Provide Staff with direction. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  Staff recommends alternative number 1 – Approve the Custom Traffic 
Signpost Agreement between Effingham County Board of Commissioners and Honey Ridge Estates 
Homeowners Association. 
 
Other Alternatives:  2 or 3 
 
Department Review: County Manager, County Attorney 
 
Funding Source:  Public Works Operating Supplies 
 
Attachments:  Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement 
 

26

Item IX. 2.



Page 1 of 3 
 

CUSTOM TRAFFIC SIGNPOST AGREEMENT 

This Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement (hereinafter referred to as “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into by and between The Lakes at Greystone Homeowners Association, Inc. (hereinafter referred 

to as “Greystone HOA”) and Effingham County Board of Commissioners (hereinafter referred to as 

“County”). 

WHEREAS, Greystone HOA desires to use custom signpost for traffic signs located within its subdivision; 

and 

WHEREAS, Greystone HOA will assume all cost associated with the installation, maintenance, and any 

liability that may arise from the use of the custom traffic signpost; and  

WHEREAS, the County will only be responsible for attaching the traffic sign and/or stop sign to the custom 

traffic signpost; and 

WHEREAS, any applicant requesting to use a custom signpost shall sign an indemnification and hold 

harmless agreement for the benefit of the County; and  

WHEREAS, the public interest will be served by the Agreement; and  

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein, and in order 

to obtain the mutual benefits provided hereunder, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 

1.  Laws and Ordinances.  Greystone HOA shall at all times observe and comply with all Federal, 

State, and local laws, ordinances and regulations, which in any manner affect the custom traffic 

signposts. 

   

2. Release.  Greystone HOA releases County from any and all claims, demands, or causes of action 

which Greystone HOA, its successors and assigns, may now have or hereafter acquire for damage 

to or injury from its custom traffic signposts.   

 

3. Indemnification.  Greystone HOA shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County and its 

officers, agents, and employees from and against all damages, injuries (including death), claims, 

property damages (including loss of use), losses, demands, suits, judgments, and costs, including 

reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses, occurring in any way or by any cause as a result of the 

use of the custom traffic signposts by Greystone HOA arising out of or resulting from the 

performance of this Agreement caused by the negligent act or omission of Greystone HOA, its 

officers, agents, employees, subcontractors or invitees or any other person involved in any way 

with the installation or maintenance of the custom traffic signposts. 

 

4. Responsibility for damages.  In addition to the Indemnification provisions of the preceding 

paragraph, and without limitation thereto, Greystone HOA shall be responsible for any and all 

damage related in any manner to the custom traffic signposts. 

 

5. Venue.  The laws of the State of Georgia shall govern the interpretation, validity, performance 

and enforcement of this Agreement and the exclusive venue for any legal proceedings involving 

this Agreement shall be Effingham County, Georgia. 

27

Item IX. 2.



Page 2 of 3 
 

 

6. Misc.  In the event any provision hereof is held to be invalid and unenforceable, such invalidity or 

unenforceability shall not affect the validity of enforceability of any other provision hereof.  This 

Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 

hereof, and no representation, inducements, promises or agreements, oral or otherwise, not 

expressly set forth herein shall be of any force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified 

except by written modification executed by all parties hereto.  This Agreement shall be construed, 

governed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.  No provision of 

this Agreement shall be construed against or interpreted to the disadvantage of any party by any 

court or other governmental or judicial authority by reason of such party having or being deemed 

to have structured or dictated such provision.  This Agreement may be executed in any number 

of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be the original and all of which together shall 

compromise but a single instrument.  No consent or waiver, expressed or implied, by a party to 

any breach or default by any other party in the performance by such other party of the obligations 

thereof under this Agreement shall be deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver of any 

other breach or default in the performance by such other party of any other obligations of such 

party of this Agreement.  Failure on the part of any party to complain of any act or failure to act 

of any other party or to declare such party in default, irrespective of how long such failure 

continues, shall not constitute a waiver of such party of the rights thereof under this Agreement. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned parties have executed, or caused this Agreement to be 

executed by their duly authorized representatives, under the seal as of the day and year written below. 

 
Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia 
 
 
________________________________ 
Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 
 
 
Date:____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28

Item IX. 2.



Page 3 of 3 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned parties have executed, or caused this Agreement to be 

executed by their duly authorized representatives, under the seal as of the day and year written below. 

 
 

Greystone Home Owners Association, Inc. 
 
 
By:       
 
Its:       
 
        
Attest: 
 
By:       
 
Its:       
 
 
Date:       

 

President

Market Portfolio Manager

7/1/2024

29

Item IX. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of renewal of the Disaster Debris Removal Services Contract with 

Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. and CrowderGulf, LLC (23-RFP-025) 

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department: EEMA 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Renewal of the Disaster Debris Removal Services Contract with 

Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. and CrowderGulf, LLC 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends renewal of both contracts for Disaster 

Debris Removal Services with Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. and CrowderGulf, 

LLC 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Contracts include both Ceres Environmental Services and CrowderGulf, LLC to 

help manage debris removal in case of a disaster. 

 This is a pre-event contract and no compensation will result unless an activation task 

order is approved by the County. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of renewal of the Disaster Debris Removal Services Contract with 

Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. and CrowderGulf, LLC  

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EEMA, Fire, Purchasing 

Funding Source: This is a pre-event contract and no compensation will result unless an 

activation task order is approved by the County  

Attachments: 

 Ceres Disaster Debris Removal Contract with Addendum 

 CrowderGulf Disaster Debris Removal Contract with Addendum 

 

 

 

30

Item IX. 3.



Disaster Debris Removal Services 

 

This document is a pre-event contract.   

 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of 

Georgia (hereinafter called the “County”), and CERES ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, INC 

(hereinafter called the “Contractor”) of 6968 PROFESSIONAL PARKWAY, SARASOTA, FL 34240, a 

corporation maintaining an office located in FLORIDA, for the purposes of engaging in the business of 

providing Disaster Debris Removal Services. 

 

 WHEREAS, the County is empowered to provide for Disaster Debris Removal Services and is 

further allowed by law to enter contracts; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Contractor is willing to render the service of Disaster Debris Removal Services 

within the County upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is the expectation of each of the parties that by entering into this Agreement, and 

by the full and faithful observance and performance of its respective duties, obligations and responsibilities, 

a mutually-satisfactory relationship between them will be established and maintained;  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, 

the County and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all the laws of the federal government and the State of Georgia and 

the rules and regulations of any and all other governmental agencies relative to natural disasters.  In 

addition, the Contractor shall comply with all present and future ordinances which have an effect on or 

regulate national disasters.  The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable laws, rules, and 

regulations of all governmental agencies in the performance of this contract. 

 

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 

color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants 

are employed, and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their race, color, 

religion, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, 

upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay 

or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor agrees 

to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided 

setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.  

31

Item IX. 3.



 (2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the 

contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive considerations for employment without regard to 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a collective 

bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said labor 

union or workers' representatives of the contractor's commitments under this section, and shall post copies 

of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.  

 (4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and 

of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor.  

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 

September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, 

and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary 

of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders.  

(6) In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or 

with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated, or suspended 

in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts or 

federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 

11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions as may be imposed and remedies invoked as 

provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the 

Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law.  

(7) The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) and the 

provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, 

regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 

of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The 

contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the administering 

agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 

Provided, however, That in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation 

with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the administering agency the contractor 

may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States.”  

 

CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702, the contractor will compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis 

of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided 

that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all 

hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.  

 

The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or 

mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, 

hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or 

articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of 

intelligence.  

 

Compliance with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act  

(1) Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work 

which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such 

32

Item IX. 3.



laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of 

forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than 

one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable 

for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in 

the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such 

territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each 

individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was 

required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the 

overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section. 

 

3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS  (name of the Federal agency or the loan or grant recipient) shall upon its own action 

or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be 

withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under 

any such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-

assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same 

prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such 

contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in 
paragraph (2) of this section.  

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in 

paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these 

clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any 

subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this 

section.”  

 

DAVIS BACON ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows (if applicable):  

Compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144 and 3146-3148) as supplemented by 

Department of Labor regulations at 29 C.F.R. Part 5 (Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 

Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction)). See 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II, ¶ D. 

 

COPELAND “ANTI-KICKBACK” ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 
(1) Contractor: The contractor shall comply with 18 U.S.C. § 874, 40 U.S.C. § 3145, and the requirements 

of 29 C.F.R. pt. 3 as may be applicable, which are incorporated by reference into this contract.  

 

(2) Subcontracts: The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clause above and such 

other clauses as the FEMA may by appropriate instructions require, and also a clause requiring the 

subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be 

responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all of these contract 

clauses. 

  

(3) Breach: A breach of the contract clauses above may be grounds for termination of the contract, and for 

debarment as a contractor and subcontractor as provided in 29 C.F.R. § 5.12.”  

33

Item IX. 3.



 

CLEAN AIR ACT AND THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Clean Air Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to 

the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

  

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) and understands and agrees that the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), 

Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional 

Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 

financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.  
 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 

pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.  

 

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

and understands and agrees that the Effingham County Board of Commissioners will, in turn, report 

each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 financed 

in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.”  

 

DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION 
(1) This contract is a covered transaction for purposes of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180 and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000. As such 

the contractor is required to verify that none of the contractor, its principals (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.995), 

or its affiliates (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.905) are excluded (defined at 2 C.F.R.  § 180.940) or disqualified 

(defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.935).  

 

(2) The contractor must comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C and must 

include a requirement to comply with these regulations in any lower tier covered transaction it enters into.  

 

(3) This certification is a material representation of fact relied upon by EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD 

OF COMMISSIONERS(insert name of subrecipient). If it is later determined that the contractor did not 

comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C, in addition to remedies available 

to GEMA/EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (name of state agency serving as 

recipient and name of subrecipient), the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, including but 

not limited to suspension and/or debarment.  

 

(4) The bidder or proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 

C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C while this offer is valid and throughout the period of any contract that may arise 

from this offer. The bidder or proposer further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in 

its lower tier covered transactions.” 
 

34

Item IX. 3.



BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT, 31 U.S.C. § 1352 (as amended) 

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more shall file the required certification. Each 

tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person 

or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member 

of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 

obtaining any Federal contract, grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier shall also 

disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal 

award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient.” 

 
PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS 
(1) In the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall make maximum use of products 

containing recovered materials that are EPA- designated items unless the product cannot be 

acquired—  

(i) Competitively within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract performance 

schedule;  

 

(ii) Meeting contract performance requirements; or  

 

(iii) At a reasonable price.  

 

(2) Information about this requirement, along with the list of EPA-designate items, is available at 

EPA’s Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines web site, https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-

procurement-guideline-cpg-program.” 

 

CHANGES 

The County reserves the right to make changes in the Services, including alterations, reductions or additions 

thereto. If the County elects to make the change, the County shall issue a contract amendment or change 

order and Contractor shall not commence work on any such change until such written amendment or change 

order has been issued and signed by both parties.  

 

If the contractor wishes to make changes, the contractor shall submit a written request – either a contract 

amendment or change order and shall not commence work on any such change until such written 

amendment or change order has been approved and signed by both parties. 
 

ACCESS TO RECORDS 

The following access to records requirements apply to this contract: 

 

(1) The contractor agrees to provide Effingham County Board of Commissioners, the FEMA 

Administrator, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized 

representatives access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are 

directly pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transcriptions.  

(2) The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 
whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed.  

(3) The contractor agrees to provide the FEMA Administrator or his authorized representatives 

access to construction or other work sites pertaining to the work being completed under the 

contract. 

35

Item IX. 3.



DHS SEAL, LOGO AND FLAGS 

The contractor shall not use the DHS seal(s), logos, crests, or reproductions of flags or likenesses of 

DHS agency officials without specific FEMA pre- approval. 

COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL LAW, REGULATIONS AND EXECUTIVE ORDERS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that FEMA financial assistance will be used to 

fund the contract only. The contractor will comply will all applicable federal law, regulations, executive 

orders, FEMA policies, procedures, and directives. 

NO OBLIGATION BY FEDERAL GOVERNMENT 
The Federal Government is not a party to this contract and is not subject to any obligations or liabilities to 

the non-Federal entity, contractor, or any other party pertaining to any matter resulting from the contract. 

PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS OR RELATED ACTS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that 31 U.S.C. Chap. 38 (Administrative Remedies 

for False Claims and Statements) applies to the contractor’s actions pertaining to this contract. 

AGREEMENT NOT AN EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 

It is the understanding and intention of the parties hereto that the Agreement shall constitute a contract for 

Disaster Debris Removal Services; that said Agreement shall not constitute an exclusive franchise; nor shall 

same be deemed or construed as such. 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  TERM OF CONTRACT 

This Agreement shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed and 

performance of such Agreement shall begin upon issuance of a Task Order.  The initial agreement shall 

terminate on August 31, 2026.  There will be two (2) single-year renewals.  This Agreement shall 

terminate absolutely and without further obligation on the part of County at the close of the fiscal year in 

which it was executed and at the close of each succeeding fiscal year for which it may be renewed as 

provided for in O.C.G.A. §36-60-13, the provisions of which are incorporated herein.  This Agreement 

shall terminate immediately and absolutely at such time as appropriated and otherwise unobligated funds 

are no longer available to satisfy the obligations of the County under this Agreement.  

LICENSES AND TAXES 

The Contractor must obtain all licenses and permits required by the County, the Federal Government and 

the State Government.    

INDEMNITY 

The Contractor agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, its commissioners, 

officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, damages, claims, suits, liens, and 

judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or indemnification, for injuries to or 

death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other rights of any person or persons caused 

by the Contractor or its subcontractors.  Contractor further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide 

defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, at its sole expense, and agrees 

to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or 

fraudulent, including any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's Compensation 

Act arising out of injuries sustained by any employee of the Contractor or its subcontractors or anyone 

directly or indirectly employed by any of them. The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify the County under 

this Section shall not be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and amount 

of coverage provided by any insurance maintained by the Contractor. 

36

Item IX. 3.



IMMUNITY 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any immunity to which 

the County, its officials, or employees are legally entitled.  
 

INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain such insurance as will protect the company from claims under workmen’s 

compensation acts and from any other claims for damages to property, and for personal injury, including 

death, which may arise from operations under this contract, whether such operations are by the Contractor 

or by any sub-contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by Contractor.   

Certificates of such insurance shall be filed with the County.  The Contractor will provide the County ten 

(10) days’ notice in the event the Contractor’s insurance is cancelled or terminated for any reason 
 

 *The limits of insurance are as follows: 

A. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury, including death 

and property damage claims arising from operations of a contractor or tenant. Minimum 

limits: $1,000,000 bodily injury and property damage each occurrence, and $2,000,000 

Property Damage, in the aggregate. 

B. Worker's Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Provides statutory protection 

against bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by employees of the contractor while 

performing within the scope of duties. Minimum limits: $500,000 for each accident, disease 

policy limit, and disease each employee and Statutory Worker’s Compensation limit. 

C. Business Automobile Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims arising out of 

the contractor’s use of automobiles. Minimum limit: $1,000,000 combined single limit 

per accident for bodily injury, property damage, and should be written on an “Any Auto” 

basis. 

D. Umbrella Policy: $10,000,000 

Failure to obtain or maintain the appropriate insurance coverages as stated herein (and in RFP 18-

002) shall be deemed a default on the part of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately 

cure a default under this provision within twenty-four (24) hours thereof.  In the event Contractor 

does not timely cure a default under this provision, the County shall be entitled to immediately 

terminate this contract. 
 

*Liability Insurance shall be effective for the duration of the contract period as described in the 

contract documents, including RFP 18-002 and any authorized change orders/task orders. 
 

All insurance premiums shall be paid by the Contractor and shall be without cost to the County. 

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37

Item IX. 3.



FEES:. **SEE ATTACHMENT A FOR THE FEE PROPOSAL SUBMITTED FOR 23-RFP-026** 

  

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE 

REMOVAL AND HAULING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS 

FROM ROW TO DMS.  

To include limbs and trees placed on ROW under other pay 

items below. 

 

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

    

DMS SITE MANAGEMENT,  

Management of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by 

the Contractor or County. 

    

                             $_____.___ /cy 

    

GRINDING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT A DMS 

PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY.  

Grinding of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by 

Contractor or County 

 

                             $_____.___ /cy 

  

AIR CURTAIN BURNING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT 

A DMS PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY.  

Burning of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by 

Contractor or County. 

                                 

                             $_____.___ /cy 

  

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF VEGETATIVE 

DEBRIS REDUCED BY GRINDING FROM DMS TO AN 

APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

  

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF VEGETATIVE 

DEBRIS REDUCED BY AIR CURTAIN BURNING FROM 

DMS TO APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

  

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy  

 

  

38

Item IX. 3.



REMOVAL AND HAULING OF C&D DEBRIS FROM 

ROW TO DMS  

 

0-15.9 miles               $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles            $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

    

REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY GRINDING 

  

                            $______.___ /cy 

  

REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY COMPACTION 

 

                            $______.___/cy 

 

  

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF C&D DEBRIS 

REDUCED BY GRINDING/COMPACTION FROM DMS 

TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

    

REMOVAL OF C&D DEBRIS AND HAULING DIRECTLY 

TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly.  

(NON DMS OPTION) 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy  

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

  

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS LIMBS (HANGERS).  The 

Contractor shall remove all hazardous hanging limbs over 2” in 

diameter and place them on public property or ROW 

    

 

                             $_____.___/tree 

 

 

 

 

 

  

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS TREES (LEANERS).   

The Contractor shall remove all hazardous trees 6” in diameter 

and greater (measured 54” above ground) and place them on 

public property or ROW 

 

6” – 12”                     $____.___/tree 

  

12” – 24”                    $____.___/tree 

 

24” – 36”                    $____.___/tree 

 

36” and greater              $____.___/tree 

  

39

Item IX. 3.



REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS STUMPS.   

The Contractor shall remove all hazardous stumps 24” and 

place them on public property or ROW 

 

24” – 36”                  $____.___/stump 

 

36” – 48”                  $____.___/stump 

 

48” and greater             $____.___/stump 

 

  

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF WHITE 

GOODS.  

The Contractor shall remove, decontaminate, transport and 

recycle or dispose approved white goods (appliances) in 

accordance with all federal, state, and local rules, regulations, 

and laws. 

 

   

                            $_____.___ /unit 

  

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 

ELECTRONICS WASTE.  

The Contractor shall remove, haul, and dispose electronics 

waste in accordance with all applicable rules, regulations, and 

laws.  The e-waste will be loaded, transported, and disposed at 

a facility approved to accept such items. 

 

     

                             $_____.___ /cy 

    

REMOVAL, HAULING, OF HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS 

WASTES (HHW).  

The Contractor shall collect and transport household hazardous 

wastes to a central collection site identified by the County. 

   

                             $_____.___ /lb. 

  

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 

LAWNMOWERS AND EQUIPMENT WITH SMALL 

ENGINES.  

The Contractor shall load, haul, and dispose of lawnmowers 

and other equipment with small engines.  County is responsible 

for final disposal costs. 

 

  

                             $_____.__  /each 

    

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF DEAD 

ANIMAL CARCASSES.  

The Contractor shall collect and transport dead animal 

carcasses to a central collection site identified by the County. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

 

   

                             $ _____.___ /lb. 

  

40

Item IX. 3.



 

REMOVAL AND HAULING OF STORM DEPOSITED 

SOILS TO DMS.   

The contractor shall haul storm deposited soils to a DMS 

designated by the County.  Final disposition of the soils shall 

be the responsibility of the County. 

 

 

 

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

  

 

DEMOLITION.   

The Contractor shall demolish structures identified by the 

County as eligible for reimbursement and place on the ROW 

for removal. 

 

   

                             $____.___/sq. ft. 

 

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION HOURLY RATE 

 

EMERGENCY ROAD CLEARANCE (per item 5.29 of 

RFP 18-002) 

 

                       

 

                    $____.___/per hour (complete) 

  
 

 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES PROVIDED AT NO COST: 

 

A.  Training and Assistance: One (1) day of training for all key personnel and assistance in all disaster 

debris recovery planning efforts is required. 

 

B.  Preliminary Damage Assessment: Determining the impact and magnitude of the disaster event to 

help expedite any applications for federal assistance. 

 

C.  Mobilization and Demobilization: All arrangements necessary to mobilize and demobilize the 

Contractor's labor force and equipment needed to perform the Scope of Services contained herein 

shall be made by the Contractor. 

  

D.  Temporary Storage of Documents: The Contractor shall provide storage of daily disaster-related 

documents and reports for protection during the disaster event. 

 

E.  Debris Planning Efforts: The Contractor shall assist in disaster debris recovery planning efforts as 

requested by the County. These planning efforts shall include, but are not limited to; identification 

of adequate temporary debris storage and reduction sites, estimation of debris quantities, and 

emergency action plans for debris clearance following a disaster event. 

 

F.  Reporting and Documentation: The Contractor shall provide and submit to the Monitor and the 

County, all reports and documents as may be necessary to adequately document its performance of 

this Contract, to include all requirements for documentation requested by FEMA and/or State 

government for reimbursement of costs. 
 

These prices shall remain in effect for a period of 36 months, no exception. 

 

41

Item IX. 3.



No work outside the scope of work contained in the RFP will be performed without the advanced written 

consent of the County Manager or Project Manager. 

 

TERMINATION  
The agreement between the County and Contractor can be terminated with 30 days written notice by the 

County based on: 

a. County electing, in writing, not to exercise any of its option periods. 

b. Failure of the Contractor to perform based on the Contractor’s bankruptcy, lack or loss of skilled 

personnel, or disregarding laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having 

jurisdiction.  Should any single, multiple or all of the above conditions occur, the County shall have 

the authority to terminate the contract with written notice to Contractor.  The Contractor shall be 

liable for any losses occurring as a result of not abiding by the terms of the agreement. 

c. Failure of the Contractor to abide by any of the conditions of this Agreement. 

d. Any termination of the Contractor’s services shall not affect any right of the County against the 

Contractor then-existing or which may thereafter occur.  Any retention of payment monies by the 

County due the Contractor will not release Contractor from compliance with the Contract 

documents. 

 

Should the contract, upon expiration, be awarded to another service provider, Contractor shall cooperate 

with the County to assist with the orderly transfer of the functions and operations provided by the Contractor 

hereunder to another service provider or to the County as determined by the County in its sole discretion.  

Prior to termination or expiration of this Agreement, the County may require the Contractor to perform and, 

if so required, the Contractor shall perform certain transition services necessary to shift the support work 

of the Contractor to another provider or to the County itself and the County shall pay for such service at the 

rates set forth in this Agreement.  Transition services may include but shall not be limited to the following: 

1.  Working with the County to jointly develop a mutually agreed upon Transition Services Plan to 

facilitate the termination of the Services; and  

2.  Notifying all affected service providers and subcontractors of the Service provider 

 

Effingham County shall have the right to terminate any contract to be made hereunder for its convenience 

by giving written notice 30 days in advance of its election to do so and by specifying the effective date of 

such termination. The Vendor shall be paid for services rendered through the effective date of such 

termination. Further, provided a contract is awarded, if a Vendor shall fail to fulfill any of its obligations 

hereunder, the County may, by giving written notice to the Vendor, terminate the agreement with said 

Vendor for such default. If this agreement is so terminated, the Vendor shall be paid only for work 

satisfactorily completed.  

 

TRANSFERABILITY OF CONTRACT   
No assignment of the Contract or any right accruing under this Contract shall be made in whole or in part 

to third persons by the Contractor without the express written consent of the County, which consent shall 

not be unreasonably withheld; in the event of any assignment, the assignee shall assume the liability of the 

Contractor. 

 

ADMINISTRATION   
The administration and enforcement of this Agreement shall be the responsibility of the County Manager 

or his designated representative(s). 

The County Manager shall recommend that the Board of Commissioners adopt any rules and regulations 

required to implement or enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall 

cooperate with the County Manager or his representative(s) in any inspections and render whatever 

assistance they reasonably request.  The Contractor agrees to follow the reasonable recommendations of 

the County Manager so that the County’s reputation is in no way damaged by the Contractor’s performance.   

42

Item IX. 3.



NO AGENCY CREATED 

Nothing in the Contract is intended to grant authority to the Contractor, as agent or otherwise, to bind the 

County to any contract, warranty, or agreement, or to subject the County to any costs, liabilities or expenses.  

It is expressly understood that the Contractor shall be an independent contractor with absolutely no authority 

to bind or obligate the County and for whom the County shall have no liability or responsibility. 

 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

This agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, 

and no representations, inducements, or agreements, oral or otherwise, not embodied herein, shall be of any 

force and effect.  Should, through administrative oversight, a particular requirement of RFP No. 18-002 not 

be expressly addressed within the body of this Agreement, the RFP language shall be referred to for 

guidance. 

 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

It is the intention and agreement of the parties of this Contract that all legal provisions of law which are 

required to be inserted herein, shall be and are inserted herein.  However, if by mistake or otherwise, some 

such provision is not herein inserted, or is not inserted in proper form, the contract may be amended 

provided that such amendment is in writing and signed by the parties hereto stating that said writing is an 

amendment or modification hereto.  Any other attempts at modification, whether by course of conduct, oral 

or informally written agreement or whatever, shall not prevail. 

 

SEPERABILITY OR PROVISION 

If any provision of this Agreement, or its application to any person or circumstances, is invalid or 

unenforceable, a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefore in order to carry out, so far 

as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of this invalid and unenforceable provision herein 

and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby. 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been approved and accepted at Springfield, Effingham County, 

Georgia, and shall be construed under the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 

HEADINGS 

The use of headings, captions, and numbers herein is solely for the convenience of identifying and indexing 

the various paragraphs and shall in no event be considered otherwise in construing or interpreting any 

provision of the Agreement 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

43

Item IX. 3.



44

Item IX. 3.



FLORIDA │ TEXAS │ MINNESOTA │ CALIFORNIA │ LOUISIANA 
6968 Professional Parkway | Sarasota, FL 34240 | OFFICE (800) 218-4424 | FAX (866) 228-5636

ceresenvironmental.com 

June 1, 2023 

Effingham County 
Purchasing Office 
804 S Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

RE: 23-RFP-026 - Disaster Debris Removal Services 
Due: 6/1/2023 at 11:15 AM ET 

Dear Evaluation Team 

The following is Ceres Environmental Services Inc’s Proposal Cost for the Effingham County RFP 
#23-RFP-026 - Disaster Debris Removal Services. 

Item 
Number Description Quantity Unit of 

Measure Unit Cost 

1 
REMOVAL AND HAULING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS 
FROM ROW TO DMS. To include limbs and trees 

placed on ROW under other pay items below. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $ 8.23 
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  8.53 

31-60 miles CY  $  8.83 

2 
DMS SITE MANAGEMENT, Management of disaster 

related debris delivered to the DMS by the 
Contractor or County. 

Per CY  $  1.84 

3 

GRINDING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT A DMS 
PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY.  

Grinding of disaster related debris delivered to the 
DMS by Contractor or County 

Per CY  $  2.85 

4 

AIR CURTAIN BURNING OF VEGETATIVE 
DEBRIS AT A DMS PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY. 
Burning of disaster related debris delivered to 

the DMS by Contractor or County. 

Per CY  $  1.28 

5 

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 
VEGETATIVE DEBRIS REDUCED BY GRINDING 
FROM DMS TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS 

DIRECTED BY THE COUNTY. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $  2.95 
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  3.35 

31-60 miles CY  $  3.95 

6 

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 
VEGETATIVE DEBRIS REDUCED BY AIR CURTAIN 
BURNING FROM DMS TO APPROVED LANDFILL 

AS DIRECTED BY THE COUNTY. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $  3.48 
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  3.64 

31-60 miles CY  $  3.78 

7 REMOVAL AND HAULING OF C&D DEBRIS 
FROM ROW TO DMS  

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $  8.23 
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  8.53 

31-60 miles CY  $  8.83 
8 REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY GRINDING Per CY  $  2.44 

ATTACHMENT A

45

Item IX. 3.

http://ceresenvironmental.com/


 

FLORIDA │ TEXAS │ MINNESOTA │ CALIFORNIA │ LOUISIANA 
6968 Professional Parkway | Sarasota, FL 34240 | OFFICE (800) 218-4424 | FAX (866) 228-5636 

ceresenvironmental.com 
 

Item 
Number Description Quantity Unit of 

Measure Unit Cost 

9 REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY COMPACTION Per CY  $  1.05  

10 

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF C&D 
DEBRIS REDUCED BY GRINDING/COMPACTION 

FROM DMS TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS 
DIRECTED BY THE COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $  4.45  
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  5.65  

31-60 miles CY  $  6.95  

11 

REMOVAL OF C&D DEBRIS AND HAULING 
DIRECTLY TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS 

DIRECTED BY THE COUNTY. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly.  

(NON DMS OPTION) 

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $  8.73  
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  9.33  

31-60 miles CY  $  9.83  

12 

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS LIMBS (HANGERS).  
The Contractor shall remove all hazardous 

hanging limbs over 2” in diameter and place 
them on public property or ROW 

Per Tree  $88.00  

13 

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS TREES (LEANERS).   
The Contractor shall remove all hazardous 

trees 6” in diameter and greater (measured 
54” above ground) and place them on public 

property or ROW 

6" to 12" Tree  $20.00  
12" to 24" Tree  $30.00  
24 to 36" Tree  $40.00  
36" and 
greater Tree  $50.00  

14 

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS STUMPS.   
The Contractor shall remove all hazardous 

stumps 24” and place them on public property 
or ROW 

24" to 36" Stump  $75.00  
36" to 48" Stump  $85.00  

48" and 
greater Stump  $100.00  

15 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 
WHITE GOODS.  

The Contractor shall remove, decontaminate, 
transport and recycle or dispose approved 

white goods (appliances) in accordance with 
all federal, state, and local rules, regulations, 

and laws. 

Per Unit  $28.00  

16 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 
ELECTRONICS WASTE.  

The Contractor shall remove, haul, and 
dispose electronics waste in accordance with 

all applicable rules, regulations, and laws.  The 
e-waste will be loaded, transported, and 

disposed at a facility approved to accept such 
items. 

Per Unit  $14.00  

ATTACHMENT A

46

Item IX. 3.

http://ceresenvironmental.com/


 

FLORIDA │ TEXAS │ MINNESOTA │ CALIFORNIA │ LOUISIANA 
6968 Professional Parkway | Sarasota, FL 34240 | OFFICE (800) 218-4424 | FAX (866) 228-5636 

ceresenvironmental.com 
 

Item 
Number Description Quantity Unit of 

Measure Unit Cost 

17 

REMOVAL, HAULING, OF HOUSEHOLD 
HAZARDOUS WASTES (HHW).  

The Contractor shall collect and transport 
household hazardous wastes to a central 
collection site identified by the County. 

Per Pound  $  5.75  

18 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 
LAWNMOWERS AND EQUIPMENT WITH 

SMALL ENGINES.  
The Contractor shall load, haul, and dispose of 
lawnmowers and other equipment with small 

engines.  County is responsible for final 
disposal costs. 

Per Each  $32.00  

19 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF DEAD 
ANIMAL CARCASSES.  

The Contractor shall collect and transport 
dead animal carcasses to a central collection 

site identified by the County. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

Per Pound  $  0.75  

20 

REMOVAL AND HAULING OF STORM 
DEPOSITED SOILS TO DMS.   

The contractor shall haul storm deposited soils 
to a DMS designated by the County.  Final 

disposition of the soils shall be the 
responsibility of the County. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY  $  8.79  
16.0 - 30.9 

miles CY  $  9.59  

31-60 miles CY  $10.59  

21 

DEMOLITION.  The Contractor shall demolish 
structures identified by the County as eligible 
for reimbursement and place on the ROW for 

removal. 

Per Sq Ft  $  3.24  

22 EMERGENCY ROAD CLEARANCE  Per Hour  $248.00  
 

We look forward to the opportunity to be your supplier of disaster debris management services. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
Tia Laurie 
Corporate Secretary 
Ceres Environmental Services, Inc. 
 
Enc. 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A

47

Item IX. 3.

http://ceresenvironmental.com/


48

Item IX. 3.



49

Item IX. 3.



Disaster Debris Removal Services 

 

This document is a pre-event contract.   

 

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

 THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, a political subdivision of the State of 

Georgia (hereinafter called the “County”), and CROWDERGULF, LLC.(hereinafter called the 

“Contractor”) of 5629 COMMERCE BLVD. E, MOBILE, AL 36619, a corporation maintaining an office 

located in ALABAMA, for the purposes of engaging in the business of providing Disaster Debris Removal 

Services. 

 

 WHEREAS, the County is empowered to provide for Disaster Debris Removal Services and is 

further allowed by law to enter contracts; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Contractor is willing to render the service of Disaster Debris Removal Services 

within the County upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is the expectation of each of the parties that by entering into this Agreement, and 

by the full and faithful observance and performance of its respective duties, obligations and responsibilities, 

a mutually-satisfactory relationship between them will be established and maintained;  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, 

the County and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

The Contractor agrees to comply with all the laws of the federal government and the State of Georgia and 

the rules and regulations of any and all other governmental agencies relative to natural disasters.  In 

addition, the Contractor shall comply with all present and future ordinances which have an effect on or 

regulate national disasters.  The Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable laws, rules, and 

regulations of all governmental agencies in the performance of this contract. 

 

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 

color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants 

are employed, and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their race, color, 

religion, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but not be limited to the following: Employment, 

upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay 

or other forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor agrees 

to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided 

setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.  

50

Item IX. 3.



 (2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of the 

contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive considerations for employment without regard to 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a collective 

bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said labor 

union or workers' representatives of the contractor's commitments under this section, and shall post copies 

of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.  

 (4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and 

of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor.  

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order 11246 of 

September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, 

and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary 

of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders.  

(6) In the event of the contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this contract or 

with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated, or suspended 

in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts or 

federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 

11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions as may be imposed and remedies invoked as 

provided in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the 

Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law.  

(7) The contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding paragraph (1) and the 

provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, 

regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 

of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The 

contractor will take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the administering 

agency may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 

Provided, however, That in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation 

with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the administering agency the contractor 

may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States.”  

 

CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702, the contractor will compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the basis 

of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided 

that the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all 

hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.  

 

The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and provide that no laborer or 

mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, 

hazardous or dangerous. These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or 

articles ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of 

intelligence.  

 

Compliance with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act  

(1) Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work 

which may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such 

51

Item IX. 3.



laborer or mechanic in any workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of 

forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than 

one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable 

for the unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in 

the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such 

territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each 

individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and guards, employed in violation of the clause set 

forth in paragraph (1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was 

required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the 

overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section. 

 

3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. The EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS  (name of the Federal agency or the loan or grant recipient) shall upon its own action 

or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be 

withheld, from any moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under 

any such contract or any other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-

assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same 

prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such 

contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in 
paragraph (2) of this section.  

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in 

paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these 

clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any 

subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this 

section.”  

 

DAVIS BACON ACT 

During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows (if applicable):  

Compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141-3144 and 3146-3148) as supplemented by 

Department of Labor regulations at 29 C.F.R. Part 5 (Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contracts 

Covering Federally Financed and Assisted Construction)). See 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II, ¶ D. 

 

COPELAND “ANTI-KICKBACK” ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 
(1) Contractor: The contractor shall comply with 18 U.S.C. § 874, 40 U.S.C. § 3145, and the requirements 

of 29 C.F.R. pt. 3 as may be applicable, which are incorporated by reference into this contract.  

 

(2) Subcontracts: The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clause above and such 

other clauses as the FEMA may by appropriate instructions require, and also a clause requiring the 

subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be 

responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all of these contract 

clauses. 

  

(3) Breach: A breach of the contract clauses above may be grounds for termination of the contract, and for 

debarment as a contractor and subcontractor as provided in 29 C.F.R. § 5.12.”  

52

Item IX. 3.



 

CLEAN AIR ACT AND THE FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 
During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows:  

 

Clean Air Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to 

the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

  

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) and understands and agrees that the (name of the state agency or local or Indian tribal 

government) will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), 

Federal Emergency Management Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional 

Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 

financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.  
 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act 

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued 

pursuant to the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.  

 

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

and understands and agrees that the Effingham County Board of Commissioners will, in turn, report 

each violation as required to assure notification to the (name of recipient), Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office.  

 

(3) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 financed 

in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FEMA.”  

 

DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION 
(1) This contract is a covered transaction for purposes of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180 and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000. As such 

the contractor is required to verify that none of the contractor, its principals (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.995), 

or its affiliates (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.905) are excluded (defined at 2 C.F.R.  § 180.940) or disqualified 

(defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.935).  

 

(2) The contractor must comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C and must 

include a requirement to comply with these regulations in any lower tier covered transaction it enters into.  

 

(3) This certification is a material representation of fact relied upon by EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD 

OF COMMISSIONERS(insert name of subrecipient). If it is later determined that the contractor did not 

comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C, in addition to remedies available 

to GEMA/EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (name of state agency serving as 

recipient and name of subrecipient), the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, including but 

not limited to suspension and/or debarment.  

 

(4) The bidder or proposer agrees to comply with the requirements of 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 

C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C while this offer is valid and throughout the period of any contract that may arise 

from this offer. The bidder or proposer further agrees to include a provision requiring such compliance in 

its lower tier covered transactions.” 
 

53

Item IX. 3.



BYRD ANTI-LOBBYING AMENDMENT, 31 U.S.C. § 1352 (as amended) 

Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more shall file the required certification. Each 

tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person 

or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a member 

of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in connection with 

obtaining any Federal contract, grant, or any other award covered by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. Each tier shall also 

disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with obtaining any Federal 

award. Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient.” 

 
PROCUREMENT OF RECOVERED MATERIALS 
(1) In the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall make maximum use of products 

containing recovered materials that are EPA- designated items unless the product cannot be 

acquired—  

(i) Competitively within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract performance 

schedule;  

 

(ii) Meeting contract performance requirements; or  

 

(iii) At a reasonable price.  

 

(2) Information about this requirement, along with the list of EPA-designate items, is available at 

EPA’s Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines web site, https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-

procurement-guideline-cpg-program.” 

 

CHANGES 

The County reserves the right to make changes in the Services, including alterations, reductions or additions 

thereto. If the County elects to make the change, the County shall issue a contract amendment or change 

order and Contractor shall not commence work on any such change until such written amendment or change 

order has been issued and signed by both parties.  

 

If the contractor wishes to make changes, the contractor shall submit a written request – either a contract 

amendment or change order and shall not commence work on any such change until such written 

amendment or change order has been approved and signed by both parties. 
 

ACCESS TO RECORDS 

The following access to records requirements apply to this contract: 

 

(1) The contractor agrees to provide Effingham County Board of Commissioners, the FEMA 

Administrator, the Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their authorized 

representatives access to any books, documents, papers, and records of the Contractor which are 

directly pertinent to this contract for the purposes of making audits, examinations, excerpts, and 
transcriptions.  

(2) The Contractor agrees to permit any of the foregoing parties to reproduce by any means 
whatsoever or to copy excerpts and transcriptions as reasonably needed.  

(3) The contractor agrees to provide the FEMA Administrator or his authorized representatives 

access to construction or other work sites pertaining to the work being completed under the 

contract. 

54

Item IX. 3.



 

DHS SEAL, LOGO AND FLAGS 

The contractor shall not use the DHS seal(s), logos, crests, or reproductions of flags or likenesses of 

DHS agency officials without specific FEMA pre- approval. 

 

COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL LAW, REGULATIONS AND EXECUTIVE ORDERS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that FEMA financial assistance will be used to 

fund the contract only. The contractor will comply will all applicable federal law, regulations, executive 

orders, FEMA policies, procedures, and directives. 
 

NO OBLIGATION BY FEDERAL GOVERNMENT 
The Federal Government is not a party to this contract and is not subject to any obligations or liabilities to 

the non-Federal entity, contractor, or any other party pertaining to any matter resulting from the contract. 

 

PROGRAM FRAUD AND FALSE OR FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS OR RELATED ACTS 
By executing this contract, the contractor acknowledges that 31 U.S.C. Chap. 38 (Administrative Remedies 

for False Claims and Statements) applies to the contractor’s actions pertaining to this contract. 

 

AGREEMENT NOT AN EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE 

It is the understanding and intention of the parties hereto that the Agreement shall constitute a contract for 

Disaster Debris Removal Services; that said Agreement shall not constitute an exclusive franchise; nor shall 

same be deemed or construed as such. 
 

EFFECTIVE DATE:  TERM OF CONTRACT 

This Agreement shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed and 

performance of such Agreement shall begin upon issuance of a Task Order.  The initial agreement shall 

terminate on June 30, 2020.  There will be three (3) single-year renewals.  This Agreement shall terminate 

absolutely and without further obligation on the part of County at the close of the fiscal year in which it 

was executed and at the close of each succeeding fiscal year for which it may be renewed as provided for 

in O.C.G.A. §36-60-13, the provisions of which are incorporated herein.  This Agreement shall terminate 

immediately and absolutely at such time as appropriated and otherwise unobligated funds are no longer 

available to satisfy the obligations of the County under this Agreement.  

 

LICENSES AND TAXES 

The Contractor must obtain all licenses and permits required by the County, the Federal Government and 

the State Government.    
 

INDEMNITY  

The Contractor agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, its commissioners, 

officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, damages, claims, suits, liens, and 

judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or indemnification, for injuries to or 

death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other rights of any person or persons caused 

by the Contractor or its subcontractors.  Contractor further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide 

defense for, and to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the County, at its sole expense, and agrees 

to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, false, or 

fraudulent, including any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's Compensation 

Act arising out of injuries sustained by any employee of the Contractor or its subcontractors or anyone 

directly or indirectly employed by any of them. The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify the County under 

this Section shall not be limited in any way by the agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and amount 

of coverage provided by any insurance maintained by the Contractor. 
 

 

55

Item IX. 3.



IMMUNITY 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed or deemed to be a waiver of any immunity to which 

the County, its officials, or employees are legally entitled.  
 

INSURANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain such insurance as will protect the company from claims under workmen’s 

compensation acts and from any other claims for damages to property, and for personal injury, including 

death, which may arise from operations under this contract, whether such operations are by the Contractor 

or by any sub-contractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by Contractor.   

Certificates of such insurance shall be filed with the County.  The Contractor will provide the County ten 

(10) days’ notice in the event the Contractor’s insurance is cancelled or terminated for any reason 
 

 *The limits of insurance are as follows: 

A. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury, including death 

and property damage claims arising from operations of a contractor or tenant. Minimum 

limits: $1,000,000 bodily injury and property damage each occurrence, and $2,000,000 

Property Damage, in the aggregate. 

B. Worker's Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Provides statutory protection 

against bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by employees of the contractor while 

performing within the scope of duties. Minimum limits: $500,000 for each accident, disease 

policy limit, and disease each employee and Statutory Worker’s Compensation limit. 

C. Business Automobile Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims arising out of 

the contractor’s use of automobiles. Minimum limit: $1,000,000 combined single limit 

per accident for bodily injury, property damage, and should be written on an “Any Auto” 

basis. 

D. Umbrella Policy: $10,000,000 

Failure to obtain or maintain the appropriate insurance coverages as stated herein (and in RFP 18-

002) shall be deemed a default on the part of the Contractor.  The Contractor shall immediately 

cure a default under this provision within twenty-four (24) hours thereof.  In the event Contractor 

does not timely cure a default under this provision, the County shall be entitled to immediately 

terminate this contract. 
 

*Liability Insurance shall be effective for the duration of the contract period as described in the 

contract documents, including RFP 18-002 and any authorized change orders/task orders. 
 

All insurance premiums shall be paid by the Contractor and shall be without cost to the County. 

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56

Item IX. 3.



FEES:. **SEE ATTACHMENT A FOR THE FEE PROPOSAL SUBMITTED FOR 23-RFP-026** 

  

No compensation will result from a contract unless an activation task order is 

approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE 

REMOVAL AND HAULING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS 

FROM ROW TO DMS.  

To include limbs and trees placed on ROW under other pay 

items below. 

 

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

    

DMS SITE MANAGEMENT,  

Management of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by 

the Contractor or County. 

    

                             $_____.___ /cy 

    

GRINDING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT A DMS 

PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY.  

Grinding of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by 

Contractor or County 

 

                             $_____.___ /cy 

  

AIR CURTAIN BURNING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT 

A DMS PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY.  

Burning of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by 

Contractor or County. 

                                 

                             $_____.___ /cy 

  

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF VEGETATIVE 

DEBRIS REDUCED BY GRINDING FROM DMS TO AN 

APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

  

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF VEGETATIVE 

DEBRIS REDUCED BY AIR CURTAIN BURNING FROM 

DMS TO APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

  

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy  

 

  

57

Item IX. 3.



REMOVAL AND HAULING OF C&D DEBRIS FROM 

ROW TO DMS  

 

0-15.9 miles               $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles            $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

    

REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY GRINDING 

  

                            $______.___ /cy 

  

REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY COMPACTION 

 

                            $______.___/cy 

 

  

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF C&D DEBRIS 

REDUCED BY GRINDING/COMPACTION FROM DMS 

TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

    

REMOVAL OF C&D DEBRIS AND HAULING DIRECTLY 

TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly.  

(NON DMS OPTION) 

  

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy  

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

  

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS LIMBS (HANGERS).  The 

Contractor shall remove all hazardous hanging limbs over 2” in 

diameter and place them on public property or ROW 

    

 

                             $_____.___/tree 

 

 

 

 

 

  

REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS TREES (LEANERS).   

The Contractor shall remove all hazardous trees 6” in diameter 

and greater (measured 54” above ground) and place them on 

public property or ROW 

 

6” – 12”                     $____.___/tree 

  

12” – 24”                    $____.___/tree 

 

24” – 36”                    $____.___/tree 

 

36” and greater              $____.___/tree 

  

58

Item IX. 3.



REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS STUMPS.   

The Contractor shall remove all hazardous stumps 24” and 

place them on public property or ROW 

 

24” – 36”                  $____.___/stump 

 

36” – 48”                  $____.___/stump 

 

48” and greater             $____.___/stump 

 

  

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF WHITE 

GOODS.  

The Contractor shall remove, decontaminate, transport and 

recycle or dispose approved white goods (appliances) in 

accordance with all federal, state, and local rules, regulations, 

and laws. 

 

   

                            $_____.___ /unit 

  

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 

ELECTRONICS WASTE.  

The Contractor shall remove, haul, and dispose electronics 

waste in accordance with all applicable rules, regulations, and 

laws.  The e-waste will be loaded, transported, and disposed at 

a facility approved to accept such items. 

 

     

                             $_____.___ /cy 

    

REMOVAL, HAULING, OF HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS 

WASTES (HHW).  

The Contractor shall collect and transport household hazardous 

wastes to a central collection site identified by the County. 

   

                             $_____.___ /lb. 

  

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF 

LAWNMOWERS AND EQUIPMENT WITH SMALL 

ENGINES.  

The Contractor shall load, haul, and dispose of lawnmowers 

and other equipment with small engines.  County is responsible 

for final disposal costs. 

 

  

                             $_____.__  /each 

    

 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF DEAD 

ANIMAL CARCASSES.  

The Contractor shall collect and transport dead animal 

carcasses to a central collection site identified by the County. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

 

   

                             $ _____.___ /lb. 

  

59

Item IX. 3.



 

REMOVAL AND HAULING OF STORM DEPOSITED 

SOILS TO DMS.   

The contractor shall haul storm deposited soils to a DMS 

designated by the County.  Final disposition of the soils shall 

be the responsibility of the County. 

 

 

 

0-15.9 miles                $_____.___/cy 

 

16.0-30.9 miles             $_____.___/cy 

 

31-60 miles                 $_____.___/cy 

 

  

 

DEMOLITION.   

The Contractor shall demolish structures identified by the 

County as eligible for reimbursement and place on the ROW 

for removal. 

 

   

                             $____.___/sq. ft. 

 

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION HOURLY RATE 

 

EMERGENCY ROAD CLEARANCE (per item 5.29 of 

RFP 18-002) 

 

                       

 

                    $____.___/per hour (complete) 

  
 

 

ADDITIONAL SERVICES PROVIDED AT NO COST: 

 

A.  Training and Assistance: One (1) day of training for all key personnel and assistance in all disaster 

debris recovery planning efforts is required. 

 

B.  Preliminary Damage Assessment: Determining the impact and magnitude of the disaster event to 

help expedite any applications for federal assistance. 

 

C.  Mobilization and Demobilization: All arrangements necessary to mobilize and demobilize the 

Contractor's labor force and equipment needed to perform the Scope of Services contained herein 

shall be made by the Contractor. 

  

D.  Temporary Storage of Documents: The Contractor shall provide storage of daily disaster-related 

documents and reports for protection during the disaster event. 

 

E.  Debris Planning Efforts: The Contractor shall assist in disaster debris recovery planning efforts as 

requested by the County. These planning efforts shall include, but are not limited to; identification 

of adequate temporary debris storage and reduction sites, estimation of debris quantities, and 

emergency action plans for debris clearance following a disaster event. 

 

F.  Reporting and Documentation: The Contractor shall provide and submit to the Monitor and the 

County, all reports and documents as may be necessary to adequately document its performance of 

this Contract, to include all requirements for documentation requested by FEMA and/or State 

government for reimbursement of costs. 
 

These prices shall remain in effect for a period of 36 months, no exception. 

 

60

Item IX. 3.



No work outside the scope of work contained in the RFP will be performed without the advanced written 

consent of the County Manager or Project Manager. 

 

TERMINATION  
The agreement between the County and Contractor can be terminated with 30 days written notice by the 

County based on: 

a. County electing, in writing, not to exercise any of its option periods. 

b. Failure of the Contractor to perform based on the Contractor’s bankruptcy, lack or loss of skilled 

personnel, or disregarding laws, ordinances, rules, regulations or orders of any public body having 

jurisdiction.  Should any single, multiple or all of the above conditions occur, the County shall have 

the authority to terminate the contract with written notice to Contractor.  The Contractor shall be 

liable for any losses occurring as a result of not abiding by the terms of the agreement. 

c. Failure of the Contractor to abide by any of the conditions of this Agreement. 

d. Any termination of the Contractor’s services shall not affect any right of the County against the 

Contractor then-existing or which may thereafter occur.  Any retention of payment monies by the 

County due the Contractor will not release Contractor from compliance with the Contract 

documents. 

 

Should the contract, upon expiration, be awarded to another service provider, Contractor shall cooperate 

with the County to assist with the orderly transfer of the functions and operations provided by the Contractor 

hereunder to another service provider or to the County as determined by the County in its sole discretion.  

Prior to termination or expiration of this Agreement, the County may require the Contractor to perform and, 

if so required, the Contractor shall perform certain transition services necessary to shift the support work 

of the Contractor to another provider or to the County itself and the County shall pay for such service at the 

rates set forth in this Agreement.  Transition services may include but shall not be limited to the following: 

1.  Working with the County to jointly develop a mutually agreed upon Transition Services Plan to 

facilitate the termination of the Services; and  

2.  Notifying all affected service providers and subcontractors of the Service provider 

 

Effingham County shall have the right to terminate any contract to be made hereunder for its convenience 

by giving written notice 30 days in advance of its election to do so and by specifying the effective date of 

such termination. The Vendor shall be paid for services rendered through the effective date of such 

termination. Further, provided a contract is awarded, if a Vendor shall fail to fulfill any of its obligations 

hereunder, the County may, by giving written notice to the Vendor, terminate the agreement with said 

Vendor for such default. If this agreement is so terminated, the Vendor shall be paid only for work 

satisfactorily completed.  

 

TRANSFERABILITY OF CONTRACT   
No assignment of the Contract or any right accruing under this Contract shall be made in whole or in part 

to third persons by the Contractor without the express written consent of the County, which consent shall 

not be unreasonably withheld; in the event of any assignment, the assignee shall assume the liability of the 

Contractor. 

 

ADMINISTRATION   
The administration and enforcement of this Agreement shall be the responsibility of the County Manager 

or his designated representative(s). 

The County Manager shall recommend that the Board of Commissioners adopt any rules and regulations 

required to implement or enforce the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  The Contractor shall 

cooperate with the County Manager or his representative(s) in any inspections and render whatever 

assistance they reasonably request.  The Contractor agrees to follow the reasonable recommendations of 

the County Manager so that the County’s reputation is in no way damaged by the Contractor’s performance.   

61

Item IX. 3.



NO AGENCY CREATED 

Nothing in the Contract is intended to grant authority to the Contractor, as agent or otherwise, to bind the 

County to any contract, warranty, or agreement, or to subject the County to any costs, liabilities or expenses.  

It is expressly understood that the Contractor shall be an independent contractor with absolutely no authority 

to bind or obligate the County and for whom the County shall have no liability or responsibility. 

 

CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

This agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, 

and no representations, inducements, or agreements, oral or otherwise, not embodied herein, shall be of any 

force and effect.  Should, through administrative oversight, a particular requirement of RFP No. 18-002 not 

be expressly addressed within the body of this Agreement, the RFP language shall be referred to for 

guidance. 

 

CONTRACT AMENDMENTS 

It is the intention and agreement of the parties of this Contract that all legal provisions of law which are 

required to be inserted herein, shall be and are inserted herein.  However, if by mistake or otherwise, some 

such provision is not herein inserted, or is not inserted in proper form, the contract may be amended 

provided that such amendment is in writing and signed by the parties hereto stating that said writing is an 

amendment or modification hereto.  Any other attempts at modification, whether by course of conduct, oral 

or informally written agreement or whatever, shall not prevail. 

 

SEPERABILITY OR PROVISION 

If any provision of this Agreement, or its application to any person or circumstances, is invalid or 

unenforceable, a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefore in order to carry out, so far 

as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of this invalid and unenforceable provision herein 

and the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby. 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been approved and accepted at Springfield, Effingham County, 

Georgia, and shall be construed under the laws of the State of Georgia. 

 

HEADINGS 

The use of headings, captions, and numbers herein is solely for the convenience of identifying and indexing 

the various paragraphs and shall in no event be considered otherwise in construing or interpreting any 

provision of the Agreement 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

62

Item IX. 3.



63

Item IX. 3.



CrowderGulf 
Disaster Recovery and Debris Management 

 
5629 Commerce Blvd. East  Office: (800) 992-6207 
Mobile, Alabama  36619    Fax: (251) 459-7433 

 
 

 

Quote to Effingham County  
 

Item  
 

Number 
Description Quantity Unit of  

 Measure 
Unit 
 Cost 

1 REMOVAL AND HAULING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS FROM ROW TO DMS. To 
include limbs and trees placed on ROW under other pay items below. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY $9.00 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $9.10 

31-60 miles CY $9.15 

2 DMS SITE MANAGEMENT, Management of disaster related debris delivered 
to the DMS by the Contractor or County. Per CY $1.85 

3 
GRINDING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT A DMS PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY.  
Grinding of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by Contractor or 

County 
Per CY $2.95 

4 

AIR CURTAIN BURNING OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS AT A DMS PROVIDED BY THE 
COUNTY.  

Burning of disaster related debris delivered to the DMS by Contractor or 
County. 

Per CY $1.80 

5 

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS REDUCED BY 
GRINDING FROM DMS TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY $4.50 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $5.50 

31-60 miles CY $6.50 

6 

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF VEGETATIVE DEBRIS REDUCED BY AIR 
CURTAIN BURNING FROM DMS TO APPROVED LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE 

COUNTY. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY $5.00 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $6.25 

31-60 miles CY $7.90 

7 REMOVAL AND HAULING OF C&D DEBRIS FROM ROW TO DMS  

0 - 15.9 miles CY $9.00 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $9.10 

31-60 miles CY $9.15 

8 REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY GRINDING Per CY $4.00 

9 REDUCTION OF C&D DEBRIS BY COMPACTION Per CY $2.95 

10 

LOADING, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF C&D DEBRIS REDUCED BY 
GRINDING/COMPACTION FROM DMS TO AN APPROVED LANDFILL AS 

DIRECTED BY THE COUNTY. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY $4.90 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $6.00 

31-60 miles CY $7.00 

11 

REMOVAL OF C&D DEBRIS AND HAULING DIRECTLY TO AN APPROVED 
LANDFILL AS DIRECTED BY THE COUNTY. 

County to pay all tipping fees directly.  
(NON DMS OPTION) 

0 - 15.9 miles CY $11.00 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $12.00 

31-60 miles CY $13.00 

ATTACHMENT A

64

Item IX. 3.



12 
REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS LIMBS (HANGERS).  The Contractor shall remove 
all hazardous hanging limbs over 2” in diameter and place them on public 

property or ROW 
Per Tree $70.00 

13 
REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS TREES (LEANERS).   

The Contractor shall remove all hazardous trees 6” in diameter and greater 
(measured 54” above ground) and place them on public property or ROW 

6" to 12" Tree $25.00 

12" to 24" Tree $45.00 

24 to 36" Tree $80.00 

36" and greater Tree $90.00 

14 
REMOVAL OF HAZARDOUS STUMPS.   

The Contractor shall remove all hazardous stumps 24” and place them on 
public property or ROW 

24" to 36" Stump $40.00 

36" to 48" Stump $50.00 

48" and greater Stump $60.00 

15 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF WHITE GOODS.  
The Contractor shall remove, decontaminate, transport and recycle or 

dispose approved white goods (appliances) in accordance with all federal, 
state, and local rules, regulations, and laws. Freon Extraction = $30.00 per 

Unit  

Per Unit $30.00 

16 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF ELECTRONICS WASTE.  
The Contractor shall remove, haul, and dispose electronics waste in 

accordance with all applicable rules, regulations, and laws.  The e-waste will 
be loaded, transported, and disposed at a facility approved to accept such 

items. 

Per Unit $30.00 

17 
REMOVAL, HAULING, OF HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTES (HHW).  

The Contractor shall collect and transport household hazardous wastes to a 
central collection site identified by the County. 

Per Pound $6.50 

18 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF LAWNMOWERS AND EQUIPMENT 
WITH SMALL ENGINES.  

The Contractor shall load, haul, and dispose of lawnmowers and other 
equipment with small engines.  County is responsible for final disposal costs. 

Per Each $10.00 

19 

REMOVAL, HAULING, AND DISPOSAL OF DEAD ANIMAL CARCASSES.  
The Contractor shall collect and transport dead animal carcasses to a central 

collection site identified by the County. 
County to pay all tipping fees directly. 

Per Pound $0.50 

20 
REMOVAL AND HAULING OF STORM DEPOSITED SOILS TO DMS.   

The contractor shall haul storm deposited soils to a DMS designated by the 
County.  Final disposition of the soils shall be the responsibility of the County. 

0 - 15.9 miles CY $7.00 

16.0 - 30.9 miles CY $8.00 

31-60 miles CY $8.50 

21 
DEMOLITION.  The Contractor shall demolish structures identified by the 
County as eligible for reimbursement and place on the ROW for removal. 

Rate is for Non-RACM Demo.  
Per Sq Ft $3.00 

22 
EMERGENCY ROAD CLEARANCE  

Rate is per Crew per Hour - Crew includes: 1 loader or skid steer, 2 sawhands, 
1 foreman 

Per Hour $250.00 

 NOTE: Where not specified, disposal fees shall be a pass through cost.  

 
 
 
 

  

 

ATTACHMENT A

65

Item IX. 3.



 
Hourly Equipment Rates - Description Unit Price 
JD 544 Wheel Loader with debris grapple Hour $150.00 
JD 644 Wheel-Loader with debris grapple Hour $175.00 
Extendaboom Forklift with debris grapple Hour $120.00 
753 Bobcat Skid Steer Loader with debris grapple Hour $100.00 
753 Bobcat Skid Steer Loader with bucket Hour $100.00 
753 Bobcat Skid Steer Loader with street sweeper Hour $100.00 
30 - 50 HP Farm Tractor with box blade or rake Hour $65.00 
2 - 2 1/2 cu. yd. Articulated Loader with bucket Hour $150.00 
3 - 4 cu. yd. Articulated Loader with bucket Hour $165.00 
JD 648E Log Skidder, or equivalent Hour $120.00 
CAT D4 Dozer Hour $100.00 
CAT D6 Dozer Hour $125.00 
CAT D8 Dozer Hour $200.00 
CAT125 - 140 HP Motor Grader Hour $110.00 
JD 690 Trackhoe with debris grapple Hour $120.00 
JD 690 Trackhoe with bucket & thumb Hour $120.00 
Rubber Tired Trackhoe with debris grapple Hour $120.00 
JD 310 Rubber Tire Backhoe with bucket and hoe Hour $120.00 
Rubber Tired Excavator with debris grapple Hour $130.00 
210 Prentiss Knuckleboom with debris grapple Hour $170.00 
Self-Loader Scraper Cat 623 or equivalent Hour $195.00 
Hand Fed Debris Chipper Hour $35.00 
300 - 400 Tub Grinder Hour $450.00 
800 -1,000 HP Diamond Z Tub Grinder Hour $600.00 
30 Ton Crane Hour $180.00 
50 Ton Crane Hour $200.00 
100 Ton Crane (8 hour minimum) Hour $400.00 
40 - 60' Bucket Truck Hour $100.00 
Service Truck Hour $100.00 
Water Truck Hour $100.00 
Portable Light Plant Hour $35.00 
Equipment Transports Hour $130.00 
Pickup Truck, unmanned Hour $40.00 
Self-loading Dump Truck with knuckleboom & debris grapple Hour $190.00 
Single Axle Dump Truck, 5 - 12 Cu. Yd. Hour $50.00 
Tandem Dump Truck, 16 - 20 Cu. Yd. Hour $75.00 
Trailer Dump Truck, 24-40 Cu. Yd. Hour $85.00 
Trailer Dump Truck, 41-60 Cu. Yd. Hour $105.00 
Trailer Dump Truck, 61 - 80 Cu. Yd. Hour $130.00 
Power Screen Hour $225.00 
Stacking Conveyor Hour $140.00 
Off Road Trucks Hour $190.00 

ATTACHMENT A

66

Item IX. 3.



   
   
   Hourly Labor Rates and Personnel Description Unit Price 
Operations Manager Hour $75.00 
Superintendent with truck, phone & radio Hour $65.00 
Foreman with truck, phone & radio Hour $60.00 
Safety/Quality Control Inspector with vehicle, phone & radio Hour $55.00 
Inspector with vehicle, phone & radio Hour $38.00 
Climber with gear Hour $125.00 
Saw Hand with chainsaw Hour $40.00 
Laborers & Flagmen Hour $35.00 
Timekeeper Hour $35.00 
HazMat Professional Hour $200.00 
Household HazMat Inspection & Removal Crew Hour $135.00 
    

     
 Materials Description Unit Price  

Fill Dirt for Stump Holes - Purchased, Placed, and Shaped CY $18.00 
      

   

NOTES:  
  

   
1.    The equipment, labor and material rates shown above are for tasks 
requested by the Client which are not covered in the rates (per cubic 
yard) for normal debris removal and reduction. 

  

ATTACHMENT A

67

Item IX. 3.



68

Item IX. 3.



69

Item IX. 3.



Staff Report 

 

Subject: Master Services Agreement for (Engineering) Professional Services for FY25 

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department:    

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration to approve Amendment #4, the extension of the Master 

Services Agreement for Professional Services for EOM Operations  

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval of Amendment #4 of the Master Services 

Agreement for Professional Services with EOM Operations to perform Public Works 

related Engineering tasks.  For FY 2025, the scope of services will be defined in Task 

Orders to be approved by the Board of Commissioners.  

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The County has utilized consultant and contractor services for Public Works related 

Engineering support.  Since 2018, EOM Operations has performed these tasks. 

 For FY 2024-2025, County staff is recommending approval of Amendment #4 for the 

Master Services Agreement with EOM Operations.  Funding is approved in the FY 

2025 budget. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve the Master Services Agreement for Engineering Professional Services 

Amendment #4 for FY 2025 for EOM Operations. 

2. Reject the FY 2025 extension.  Direct staff to advertise for a consultant to perform 

some or all of the Public Works related Engineering tasks. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Finance, County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: Multiple funding sources depending on the services provided; 

General Fund, Development Services, Water/Sewer, WWTP, Special Tax District  

 

Attachments: 

1. EOM Operations Master Agreement for Professional Services dated September 

15, 2020  

2. Amendments. 

70

Item IX. 4.



71

Item IX. 4.



72

Item IX. 4.



73

Item IX. 4.



74

Item IX. 4.



75

Item IX. 4.



76

Item IX. 4.



77

Item IX. 4.



78

Item IX. 4.



79

Item IX. 4.



80

Item IX. 4.



81

Item IX. 4.



82

Item IX. 4.



83

Item IX. 4.



v1 

AMENDMENT No. 4 
Master Agreement for Professional Services 

 
This Amendment No. 4 (hereinafter referred to as “Amendment”) is made by and between The Board of 
Commissioners of Effingham County (hereinafter referred to as “County”) and EOM Operations, a 
division of EOM Public Works, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “EOM”). 

WHEREAS, the County and EOM entered into a Master Agreement for Professional Services  dated 
September 15th, 2020 for Professional Services (hereinafter referred to as  the “Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the Master Agreement was Amended July 18, 2023 to extend the term of the agreement to 
June 30, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the parties agree as set forth below. 

1. This Amendment renews the Master Agreement for Professional Services. The renewal term begins on 
July 1, 2024 and terminates on June 30, 2025. 
 

2. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Agreement and this Amendment, this 
Amendment shall control. 
 

3. This Amendment shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed 
below.  

Both parties indicate their approval of this Amendment by their signatures below. 
 
EOM OPERATIONS            Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
 
Authorized Signature ______________________       Authorized Signature _______________________ 

Name____________________________         Name ____________________________________ 

Title______________________________         Title______________________________________ 

Date_______________             Date_____________________ 

84

Item IX. 4.



Staff Report 
Subject: Consideration to renew the license agreement with Verizon Wireless for site 

133762 (Springfield) 

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department:  

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Renew the license agreement with Verizon Wireless for site 133762 

(Springfield) 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval to renew the License 

Agreement with Verizon Wireless for the South Tower – Springfield site 133762 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The County currently has a license agreement in place with Verizon Wireless 

which allows co-location of radio antennas at their site 133762 - Springfield.  The 

terms of the agreement are August 2006 to August 2011, with three additional 

five year renewals unless otherwise cancelled (2011-2016, 2016-2021, 2021-

2026). 

 The county owns, operates and maintains its own equipment. There are no 

payments to Verizon. 

 The radio frequencies used are already identified and coordinated with Verizon. 

 The agreement can be terminated with 90 days written notice with or without 

cause. 

 The Fire Chief / EMA Director has indicated he would like the agreement to 

continue.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Board approval to allow the license agreement with Verizon Wireless for site ID 

133762 (Springfield) to continue 

2. Cancel the agreement. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, EEMA 

Funding Source: None 

Attachments: License Agreement 

 

 

 

 

85

Item IX. 5.



86

Item IX. 5.



87

Item IX. 5.



88

Item IX. 5.



89

Item IX. 5.



90

Item IX. 5.



91

Item IX. 5.



92

Item IX. 5.



93

Item IX. 5.



94

Item IX. 5.



95

Item IX. 5.



96

Item IX. 5.



97

Item IX. 5.



98

Item IX. 5.



99

Item IX. 5.



100

Item IX. 5.



101

Item IX. 5.



102

Item IX. 5.



103

Item IX. 5.



104

Item IX. 5.



105

Item IX. 5.



106

Item IX. 5.



107

Item IX. 5.



108

Item IX. 5.



109

Item IX. 5.



110

Item IX. 5.



111

Item IX. 5.



Staff Report 

 
Subject: Consideration to approve to purchase a Fire Engine  and Ladder 

Truck from Ten-8 Fire & Safety 

Author:  Clint Hodges, EMA Director  

Department:  55-FIRE 

Meeting Date: 07/16/2024 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to purchase a Fire Engine and Ladder 

Truck from Ten-8 Fire and Safety 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approving a purchase agreement with Ten-8 

Fire and Safety for a Fire Engine and Ladder Truck 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

Effingham County Fire Rescue (ECFR) currently operates 17 front line fire engines, along with 4 spare 

Engines, 8 Tankers, and 1 Ladder Truck.  

 

In keeping up with a standard replacement program, and to avoid large quantity purchases, staff 

recommend replacing one Fire Engine per year. The current delivery time is approximately 36 months for 

Engines. This Fire Engine will replace one that will be 28 years old upon delivery. 

 

Additionally, the current Ladder Truck is currently 24 years old, and will be approximately 28 years old 

upon delivery of a replacement, as delivery times are currently 47 months. The current Ladder Truck will 

be moved to reserve status. 

 

Due to extended delivery times, these apparatus will not be received/paid for until FY 2027 or FY2028 for 

the Fire Engine and FY 2028 or FY2029 for the Ladder. 

 

As of August 1, 2024, a 2% price increase will take effect. 

 

Options/Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

 

Recommended:  Approve a purchase agreement with Ten-8 Fire and Safety for a Fire 

Engine and Ladder Truck. 

 

Other Alternative(s): Deny  

 

Department Review: Fire, County Manager 

 

Funding Source: $3,155,800 

 

Attachments: Purchase Agreement(s) 

 

 

112

Item X. 1.



 

Equipment Proposal   Proposal # 1190 

 

This Equipment Proposal (the “Proposal”) has been prepared by Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC (“Company”) in response to the 

undersigned Customer’s request for a proposal.  This Proposal is comprised of the special terms set forth below, the Proposal 

Option List, Warranty, and Company’s Purchasing Terms and Conditions.  Through its signature below or other Acceptance (as 

defined below), Customer acknowledges having received, read and being bound by this Proposal, all attachments and Company’s 

Purchasing Terms and Conditions.   

Date: June 17, 2024 (“Proposal Date”) Customer: Effingham County (“Customer”) 

  Customer Address:  Springfield, GA 

Qty Product Description & Options Price 

1 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 
 

Saber pumper 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

$971,200.00 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
 

                                                                                                                                                                              Total: 
 ** Pricing is subject to change as follows: 

(a) Commercial chassis price is an estimate; final chassis price will be determined when chassis is delivered by 
the manufacturer to the original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”). The OEM will notify Company of its 

final price, and Company will notify Customer of the final price.  

(b) Persistent Inflationary Environment: If the Producer Price Index of Components for Manufacturing  

[www.bls.gov Series ID: WPUID6112] (“PPI”) has increased at a compounded annual growth rate of 5.0% 

or more between the month the OEM accepts this order (“Order Month”) and a month 14 months prior to the 

then predicted “ready for pick up” date (“Evaluation Month”), then Company may update the pricing in an 

amount equal to the increase in PPI over 5.0% in each year or fractional year between the Order Month 

and the Evaluation Month. Company will document any such updated price for Customer’s approval,   

and Company will provide to Customer the option to cancel this Order for 45 days if Customer does not  

accept the updated price. If Customer accepts or fails to respond within such 45 day period, Customer will be 

obligated to complete the Product purchase at the updated Total price. 

         

 $971,200.00 

 

Delivery Timing: The Product described above in the Product Description and Options Section of this document will be built 

by and shipped from the manufacturer approximately 36  (months) after Company receives Customer’s acceptance of this 

Proposal as defined below, subject to market and production conditions, Force Majeure, delays from the chassis manufacturer, 

changes to Order Specifications, or any other circumstances or cause beyond Company’s or manufacturer’s control.   

Other:       

Unless accepted within 30 days from date of proposal, the right is reserved to withdraw this proposal.  

 

 

Order continues on immediately following page. 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF THIS PROPOSAL CREATES AN ENFORCEABLE BINDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN COMPANY 

AND CUSTOMER. “ACCEPTANCE” MEANS THAT CUSTOMER DELIVERS TO COMPANY:  (A) A PROPOSAL 

SIGNED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE, OR (B) A PURCHASE ORDER INCORPORATING THIS 
113

Item X. 1.



PROPOSAL, WHICH IS DULY APPROVED, TO THE EXTENT APPLICABLE, BY CUSTOMER’S GOVERNING 

BOARD. ACCEPTANCE OF THIS PROPOSAL IS EXPRESSLY LIMITED TO THE TERMS CONTAINED IN THIS 

PROPOSAL AND COMPANY’S PURCHASING TERMS AND CONDITIONS. ANY ADDITIONAL OR DIFFERENT 

TERMS, WHETHER CONTAINED IN CUSTOMER’S FORMS OR OTHERWISE PRESENTED BY CUSTOMER AT 

ANY TIME, ARE HEREBY REJECTED.   

 

 

 

INTENDING TO CREATE A BINDING AGREEMENT, Customer and Company have each caused this Proposal to be 

executed by their duly authorized representatives as of date of the last signature below.   

 

Customer: Effingham Co Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC 

By:  __________________________________      By:         

Title: _________________________________                   Title: Authorized Sales Representative 

Print: _________________________________      Print:   Jeff Amlong 

Date: _________________________________      Date:   6/17/2024  

114

Item X. 1.



EXHIBIT A 

 

PROPOSAL OPTION LIST 

 

 

 

  

115

Item X. 1.



EXHIBIT B 

 

WARRANTY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

116

Item X. 1.



EXHIBIT C 

 

PURCHASING TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

117

Item X. 1.



   

 

 

 

 
   

PURCHASING TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

These Purchasing Terms and Conditions, together with the Equipment Proposal and all attachments (collectively, the 

“Agreement”) are entered into by and between Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC, a Florida company (“Company”) and 

Customer (as defined in Ten-8 Fire & Safety LLC’s Equipment Proposal document) and is effective as of the date 

specified in Section 3 of these Purchasing Terms and Conditions.  Both Company and Customer may be referred 

throughout this document individually as a “party” or collectively as the “parties.”  

 

1. Definitions.  

a. “Acceptance” has the same meaning set forth in Company’s Equipment Proposal.   

b. “Company’s Equipment Proposal” means the Equipment Proposal provided by Company and prepared in 

response to Customer’s request for proposal for a fire apparatus or associated equipment.  

c. “Cooperative Purchasing Contract” means an Agreement between Company and a public authority, 

including without limitation, a department, division, agency of a municipal, county or state government 

(“Public Authority”), that adopts or participates in an existing agreement between Company and another non-

party customer (including, but not limited to such non-party customer’s equipment proposal,  its applicable 

exhibits, attachments and purchasing terms and conditions), often referred to as a “piggyback arrangement,” 

which is expressly agreed to, in writing, by Company.  Company has sole discretion to determine whether it 

will agree to such a Cooperative Purchasing Contract.   

d. “Delivery” means when Company delivers physical possession of the Product to Customer. 

e. “Manufacturer” means the Manufacturer of any Product.   

f. “Prepayment Discount” means the prepayment discounts, if any, specified in Company’s Equipment 

Proposal.  

g. “Product” means the fire apparatus and any associated equipment manufactured or furnished for Customer 

by Company pursuant to the Specifications.  

h. “Purchase Price” means the Total price set forth in the Quotation, after applicable pricing adjustments set 

forth in the Quotation.  

i. “Purchasing Terms and Conditions” means these Purchasing Terms and Conditions; however, if the 

Company’s Equipment Proposal or the Customer’s related Purchase Order states that it is governed by a 

Cooperative Purchasing Agreement, “Purchasing Terms and Conditions” shall mean those terms and 

conditions set forth in the applicable Cooperative Purchasing Agreement.  

j. “Specifications” means the general specifications, technical specifications, training, and testing 

requirements for the Product contained in Company’s Equipment Proposal and its Exhibit A (Proposal Option 

List), prepared in response to Customer’s request for such a proposal. 

 

2. Purpose.  This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of Company’s sale of the Product to Customer. 

 

3. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement will become effective on the date of Acceptance as defined in Company’s 

Equipment Proposal (“Effective Date”) and, unless earlier terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it 

will terminate upon Delivery and payment in full of the Purchase Price.  

 

4. Purchase and Payment.  Customer agrees to pay Company the Purchase Price for the Product(s).  The Purchase 

Price is in U.S. dollars.  Where Customer opts for a Prepayment Discount that specifies that Customer will tender 

one or more prepayments to Company, Customer must provide each prepayment within the time frame specified 

in the Equipment Proposal in order to receive the Prepayment Discount for that prepayment installment. To the 

extent permitted by applicable law, Company may in its sole discretion charge a convenience fee if Customer 

elects to pay the Purchase Price by means of a credit card.   

 

5. Representations and Warranties.  Customer hereby represents and warrants to Company that the purchase of the 

Product(s) has been approved by Customer in accordance with applicable general laws and, as applicable, 

Customer’s charter, ordinances and other governing documents, and funding for the purchase has been duly 

budgeted and appropriated.    

 

6. Cancellation/Termination.  In the event this Agreement is cancelled or terminated by Customer before completion, 

Company may charge Customer a cancellation fee.  The following charge schedule is based on costs incurred by 

118

Item X. 1.



   

 

 

 

 
   

Manufacturer and Company for the Product, which may be applied and charged to Customer: (a) 12% of the 

Purchase Price after the order for the Product(s) is accepted and entered into Manufacturer’s system by Company; 

(b) 22% of the Purchase Price after completion of approval drawings by Customer, and; (c) 32% of the Purchase 

Price upon any material requisition made by the Manufacturer for the Product. The cancellation fee will increase 

in excess of (c) in this Section 6, accordingly, as additional costs are incurred by Manufacturer and Company as 

the order progresses through engineering and into the manufacturing process.   

 

7. Delivery.  The Product is scheduled to be delivered as specified in the Delivery Timing section of the Equipment 

Proposal (“Delivery Timing”), which will be F.O.B. Company’s facility.  The Delivery Timing is an estimate, 

and Company is not bound to such date unless it otherwise agrees in writing.  Company is not responsible for 

Delivery delays caused by or as the result of actions, omissions or conduct of the Manufacturer, its employees, 

affiliates, suppliers, contractors, and carriers.  All right, title and interest in and to the Product, and risk of loss, 

shall pass to Customer upon Delivery of the Product(s) to Customer.  

 

8. Standard Warranty. The manufacturer warranties applicable to this Agreement, if any, are attached to Company’s 

Equipment Proposal as Exhibit A and are incorporated herein as part of the Agreement.   

 

a. Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, COMPANY, 

INCLUDING ITS PARENT COMPANY, AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES, AND THEIR 

RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, SHAREHOLDERS, AGENTS OR 

REPRESENTATIVES DO NOT MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS 

OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE PRODUCTS PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, 

WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY.  WITHOUT LIMITING 

THE FOREGOING DISCLAIMER, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OR CONDITION OF 

MERCHANTABILITY, IMPLIED WARRANTY AGAINST INFRINGEMENT, AND IMPLIED 

WARRANTY OR CONDITION OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE ARE EXPRESSLY 

EXCLUDED AND DISCLAIMED. STATEMENTS MADE BY SALES REPRESENTATIVES OR IN 

PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS DO NOT CONSTITUTE WARRANTIES. 

 

9. Limitation of Liability.  COMPANY WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, 

INDIRECT, ECONOMIC, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES ARISING FROM OR IN 

ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS AGREEMENT WITHOUT REGARD TO THE NATURE OF THE 

CLAIM OR THE UNDERLYING THEORY OR CAUSE OF ACTION (WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, 

STRICT LIABILITY, EQUITY OR ANY OTHER THEORY OF LAW) ON WHICH SUCH DAMAGES ARE 

BASED.  COMPANY’S LIMIT OF LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CAPPED AT THE 

TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE MONIES PAID BY CUSTOMER TO COMPANY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.   

 

10. Force Majeure.  Company shall not be responsible nor deemed to be in default on account of delays in 

performance due to causes which are beyond Company’s control or which make Company’s performance 

impracticable, including but not limited to wars, insurrections, strikes, riots, fires, storms, floods, other acts of 

nature, explosions, earthquakes, accidents, transportation or delivery delays or losses outside of Company’s 

control, any act of government, inability or delay of Company or manufacture in obtaining necessary labor or 

adequate or suitable manufacturing components at reasonable prices, allocation regulations or orders affecting 

materials, equipment, facilities or completed products, failure to obtain any required license or certificates, acts 

of God or the public enemy, terrorism, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, failure of vendors to perform their 

contracts or labor troubles of Company or a manufacturer causing cessation, slowdown, or interruption of work. 

 

11. Customer’s Obligations.  Customer shall provide its timely and best efforts to cooperate with Company and 

Manufacturer during the manufacturing process to create the Product.  Reasonable and timely cooperation 

includes, without limitation, Customer’s providing timely information in response to a request from Manufacturer 

or Company and Customer’s participation in traveling to Manufacturer’s facility for inspections and approval of 

the Product.   

 

12. Default.  The occurrence of one or more of the following shall constitute a default under this Agreement: (a) 

Customer’s failure to pay any amounts due under this Agreement or Customer’s failure to perform any of its 

obligations under this Agreement; (b) Company’s failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement; 

119

Item X. 1.



   

 

 

 

 
   

(c) either party becoming insolvent or becoming subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings; (d) any 

representation made by either party to induce the other to enter into this Agreement, which is false in any material 

respect; (e) an action by Customer to dissolve, merge, consolidate or transfer a substantial portion of its property 

to another entity; or (f) a default or breach by Customer under any other contract or agreement with Company.   

 

13. Manufacturer’s Statement of Origin.  Company shall retain possession of the manufacturer’s statement of origin 

(“MSO”) for the Product until the entire Purchase Price has been paid. If more than one Product is covered by 

this Agreement, Company shall retain the MSO for each individual Product until the Purchase Price for that 

Product has been paid in full.  

 

14. Arbitration.  Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be 

settled by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial 

Arbitration Rules, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having 

jurisdiction thereof.  The Arbitration shall take place in Bradenton, Florida.  

 

15. Miscellaneous.  The relationship of the parties established under this Agreement is that of independent contractors 

and neither party is a partner, employee, agent, or joint venture of or with the other.  Neither party may assign its 

rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the other party.  This Agreement 

and all transactions between Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC will be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Florida.  The delivery of signatures to this Agreement may be via facsimile transmission or 

other electronic means and shall be binding as original signatures.  This Agreement shall constitute the entire 

agreement and supersede any prior agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter of this 

Agreement.  This Agreement may only be modified by an amendment, in writing, signed by duly authorized 

representatives of both parties with authority to sign such amendments to this Agreement.  In the event of a 

conflict between the Ten-8 Proposal and these Terms and Conditions, the Ten-8 Proposal shall control except in 

the case of a Cooperative Purchasing Contract as set forth in Section 1(c) and (i) of these Purchasing Terms and 

Conditions.  If any term of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable by a competent legal 

authority, such term will be either reformed or deleted, as the case may be, but only to the extent necessary to 

comply with the applicable law, regulation, order or rule, and the remaining provisions of the Agreement will 

remain in full force and effect.   

 

 

 

 

 
 

120

Item X. 1.



 

Equipment Proposal   Proposal # 1020 

 

This Equipment Proposal (the “Proposal”) has been prepared by Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC (“Company”) in response to the 

undersigned Customer’s request for a proposal.  This Proposal is comprised of the special terms set forth below, the Proposal 

Option List, Warranty, and Company’s Purchasing Terms and Conditions.  Through its signature below or other Acceptance (as 

defined below), Customer acknowledges having received, read and being bound by this Proposal, all attachments and Company’s 

Purchasing Terms and Conditions.   

Date: June 17, 2024 (“Proposal Date”) Customer: Effingham County (“Customer”) 

  Customer Address:  Springfield, GA 

Qty Product Description & Options Price 

1 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 
 

Enforcer mid mount tower 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

$2,144,600.00 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
 

                                                                                                                                                                              Total: 
 ** Pricing is subject to change as follows: 

(a) Commercial chassis price is an estimate; final chassis price will be determined when chassis is delivered by 
the manufacturer to the original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”). The OEM will notify Company of its 

final price, and Company will notify Customer of the final price.  

(b) Persistent Inflationary Environment: If the Producer Price Index of Components for Manufacturing  

[www.bls.gov Series ID: WPUID6112] (“PPI”) has increased at a compounded annual growth rate of 5.0% 

or more between the month the OEM accepts this order (“Order Month”) and a month 14 months prior to the 

then predicted “ready for pick up” date (“Evaluation Month”), then Company may update the pricing in an 

amount equal to the increase in PPI over 5.0% in each year or fractional year between the Order Month 

and the Evaluation Month. Company will document any such updated price for Customer’s approval,   

and Company will provide to Customer the option to cancel this Order for 45 days if Customer does not  

accept the updated price. If Customer accepts or fails to respond within such 45 day period, Customer will be 

obligated to complete the Product purchase at the updated Total price. 

         

 $2,144,600.00 

 

Delivery Timing: The Product described above in the Product Description and Options Section of this document will be built 

by and shipped from the manufacturer approximately 47  (months) after Company receives Customer’s acceptance of this 

Proposal as defined below, subject to market and production conditions, Force Majeure, delays from the chassis manufacturer, 

changes to Order Specifications, or any other circumstances or cause beyond Company’s or manufacturer’s control.   

Other:       

Unless accepted within 30 days from date of proposal, the right is reserved to withdraw this proposal.  

 

 

Order continues on immediately following page. 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF THIS PROPOSAL CREATES AN ENFORCEABLE BINDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN COMPANY 

AND CUSTOMER. “ACCEPTANCE” MEANS THAT CUSTOMER DELIVERS TO COMPANY:  (A) A PROPOSAL 

SIGNED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE, OR (B) A PURCHASE ORDER INCORPORATING THIS 
121

Item X. 1.



PROPOSAL, WHICH IS DULY APPROVED, TO THE EXTENT APPLICABLE, BY CUSTOMER’S GOVERNING 

BOARD. ACCEPTANCE OF THIS PROPOSAL IS EXPRESSLY LIMITED TO THE TERMS CONTAINED IN THIS 

PROPOSAL AND COMPANY’S PURCHASING TERMS AND CONDITIONS. ANY ADDITIONAL OR DIFFERENT 

TERMS, WHETHER CONTAINED IN CUSTOMER’S FORMS OR OTHERWISE PRESENTED BY CUSTOMER AT 

ANY TIME, ARE HEREBY REJECTED.   

 

 

 

INTENDING TO CREATE A BINDING AGREEMENT, Customer and Company have each caused this Proposal to be 

executed by their duly authorized representatives as of date of the last signature below.   

 

Customer: Effingham Co Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC 

By:  __________________________________      By:         

Title: _________________________________                   Title: Authorized Sales Representative 

Print: _________________________________      Print:   Jeff Amlong 

Date: _________________________________      Date:   6/17/2024  

122

Item X. 1.



EXHIBIT A 

 

PROPOSAL OPTION LIST 

 

 

 

  

123

Item X. 1.



EXHIBIT B 

 

WARRANTY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

124

Item X. 1.



EXHIBIT C 

 

PURCHASING TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

125

Item X. 1.



   

 

 

 

 
   

PURCHASING TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

These Purchasing Terms and Conditions, together with the Equipment Proposal and all attachments (collectively, the 

“Agreement”) are entered into by and between Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC, a Florida company (“Company”) and 

Customer (as defined in Ten-8 Fire & Safety LLC’s Equipment Proposal document) and is effective as of the date 

specified in Section 3 of these Purchasing Terms and Conditions.  Both Company and Customer may be referred 

throughout this document individually as a “party” or collectively as the “parties.”  

 

1. Definitions.  

a. “Acceptance” has the same meaning set forth in Company’s Equipment Proposal.   

b. “Company’s Equipment Proposal” means the Equipment Proposal provided by Company and prepared in 

response to Customer’s request for proposal for a fire apparatus or associated equipment.  

c. “Cooperative Purchasing Contract” means an Agreement between Company and a public authority, 

including without limitation, a department, division, agency of a municipal, county or state government 

(“Public Authority”), that adopts or participates in an existing agreement between Company and another non-

party customer (including, but not limited to such non-party customer’s equipment proposal,  its applicable 

exhibits, attachments and purchasing terms and conditions), often referred to as a “piggyback arrangement,” 

which is expressly agreed to, in writing, by Company.  Company has sole discretion to determine whether it 

will agree to such a Cooperative Purchasing Contract.   

d. “Delivery” means when Company delivers physical possession of the Product to Customer. 

e. “Manufacturer” means the Manufacturer of any Product.   

f. “Prepayment Discount” means the prepayment discounts, if any, specified in Company’s Equipment 

Proposal.  

g. “Product” means the fire apparatus and any associated equipment manufactured or furnished for Customer 

by Company pursuant to the Specifications.  

h. “Purchase Price” means the Total price set forth in the Quotation, after applicable pricing adjustments set 

forth in the Quotation.  

i. “Purchasing Terms and Conditions” means these Purchasing Terms and Conditions; however, if the 

Company’s Equipment Proposal or the Customer’s related Purchase Order states that it is governed by a 

Cooperative Purchasing Agreement, “Purchasing Terms and Conditions” shall mean those terms and 

conditions set forth in the applicable Cooperative Purchasing Agreement.  

j. “Specifications” means the general specifications, technical specifications, training, and testing 

requirements for the Product contained in Company’s Equipment Proposal and its Exhibit A (Proposal Option 

List), prepared in response to Customer’s request for such a proposal. 

 

2. Purpose.  This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions of Company’s sale of the Product to Customer. 

 

3. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement will become effective on the date of Acceptance as defined in Company’s 

Equipment Proposal (“Effective Date”) and, unless earlier terminated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it 

will terminate upon Delivery and payment in full of the Purchase Price.  

 

4. Purchase and Payment.  Customer agrees to pay Company the Purchase Price for the Product(s).  The Purchase 

Price is in U.S. dollars.  Where Customer opts for a Prepayment Discount that specifies that Customer will tender 

one or more prepayments to Company, Customer must provide each prepayment within the time frame specified 

in the Equipment Proposal in order to receive the Prepayment Discount for that prepayment installment. To the 

extent permitted by applicable law, Company may in its sole discretion charge a convenience fee if Customer 

elects to pay the Purchase Price by means of a credit card.   

 

5. Representations and Warranties.  Customer hereby represents and warrants to Company that the purchase of the 

Product(s) has been approved by Customer in accordance with applicable general laws and, as applicable, 

Customer’s charter, ordinances and other governing documents, and funding for the purchase has been duly 

budgeted and appropriated.    

 

6. Cancellation/Termination.  In the event this Agreement is cancelled or terminated by Customer before completion, 

Company may charge Customer a cancellation fee.  The following charge schedule is based on costs incurred by 

126

Item X. 1.



   

 

 

 

 
   

Manufacturer and Company for the Product, which may be applied and charged to Customer: (a) 12% of the 

Purchase Price after the order for the Product(s) is accepted and entered into Manufacturer’s system by Company; 

(b) 22% of the Purchase Price after completion of approval drawings by Customer, and; (c) 32% of the Purchase 

Price upon any material requisition made by the Manufacturer for the Product. The cancellation fee will increase 

in excess of (c) in this Section 6, accordingly, as additional costs are incurred by Manufacturer and Company as 

the order progresses through engineering and into the manufacturing process.   

 

7. Delivery.  The Product is scheduled to be delivered as specified in the Delivery Timing section of the Equipment 

Proposal (“Delivery Timing”), which will be F.O.B. Company’s facility.  The Delivery Timing is an estimate, 

and Company is not bound to such date unless it otherwise agrees in writing.  Company is not responsible for 

Delivery delays caused by or as the result of actions, omissions or conduct of the Manufacturer, its employees, 

affiliates, suppliers, contractors, and carriers.  All right, title and interest in and to the Product, and risk of loss, 

shall pass to Customer upon Delivery of the Product(s) to Customer.  

 

8. Standard Warranty. The manufacturer warranties applicable to this Agreement, if any, are attached to Company’s 

Equipment Proposal as Exhibit A and are incorporated herein as part of the Agreement.   

 

a. Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, COMPANY, 

INCLUDING ITS PARENT COMPANY, AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES, AND THEIR 

RESPECTIVE OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, SHAREHOLDERS, AGENTS OR 

REPRESENTATIVES DO NOT MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS 

OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO THE PRODUCTS PROVIDED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, 

WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY.  WITHOUT LIMITING 

THE FOREGOING DISCLAIMER, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OR CONDITION OF 

MERCHANTABILITY, IMPLIED WARRANTY AGAINST INFRINGEMENT, AND IMPLIED 

WARRANTY OR CONDITION OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE ARE EXPRESSLY 

EXCLUDED AND DISCLAIMED. STATEMENTS MADE BY SALES REPRESENTATIVES OR IN 

PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS DO NOT CONSTITUTE WARRANTIES. 

 

9. Limitation of Liability.  COMPANY WILL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, 

INDIRECT, ECONOMIC, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES ARISING FROM OR IN 

ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH THIS AGREEMENT WITHOUT REGARD TO THE NATURE OF THE 

CLAIM OR THE UNDERLYING THEORY OR CAUSE OF ACTION (WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, 

STRICT LIABILITY, EQUITY OR ANY OTHER THEORY OF LAW) ON WHICH SUCH DAMAGES ARE 

BASED.  COMPANY’S LIMIT OF LIABILITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CAPPED AT THE 

TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE MONIES PAID BY CUSTOMER TO COMPANY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.   

 

10. Force Majeure.  Company shall not be responsible nor deemed to be in default on account of delays in 

performance due to causes which are beyond Company’s control or which make Company’s performance 

impracticable, including but not limited to wars, insurrections, strikes, riots, fires, storms, floods, other acts of 

nature, explosions, earthquakes, accidents, transportation or delivery delays or losses outside of Company’s 

control, any act of government, inability or delay of Company or manufacture in obtaining necessary labor or 

adequate or suitable manufacturing components at reasonable prices, allocation regulations or orders affecting 

materials, equipment, facilities or completed products, failure to obtain any required license or certificates, acts 

of God or the public enemy, terrorism, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, failure of vendors to perform their 

contracts or labor troubles of Company or a manufacturer causing cessation, slowdown, or interruption of work. 

 

11. Customer’s Obligations.  Customer shall provide its timely and best efforts to cooperate with Company and 

Manufacturer during the manufacturing process to create the Product.  Reasonable and timely cooperation 

includes, without limitation, Customer’s providing timely information in response to a request from Manufacturer 

or Company and Customer’s participation in traveling to Manufacturer’s facility for inspections and approval of 

the Product.   

 

12. Default.  The occurrence of one or more of the following shall constitute a default under this Agreement: (a) 

Customer’s failure to pay any amounts due under this Agreement or Customer’s failure to perform any of its 

obligations under this Agreement; (b) Company’s failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement; 

127

Item X. 1.



   

 

 

 

 
   

(c) either party becoming insolvent or becoming subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings; (d) any 

representation made by either party to induce the other to enter into this Agreement, which is false in any material 

respect; (e) an action by Customer to dissolve, merge, consolidate or transfer a substantial portion of its property 

to another entity; or (f) a default or breach by Customer under any other contract or agreement with Company.   

 

13. Manufacturer’s Statement of Origin.  Company shall retain possession of the manufacturer’s statement of origin 

(“MSO”) for the Product until the entire Purchase Price has been paid. If more than one Product is covered by 

this Agreement, Company shall retain the MSO for each individual Product until the Purchase Price for that 

Product has been paid in full.  

 

14. Arbitration.  Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be 

settled by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial 

Arbitration Rules, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having 

jurisdiction thereof.  The Arbitration shall take place in Bradenton, Florida.  

 

15. Miscellaneous.  The relationship of the parties established under this Agreement is that of independent contractors 

and neither party is a partner, employee, agent, or joint venture of or with the other.  Neither party may assign its 

rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the other party.  This Agreement 

and all transactions between Ten-8 Fire & Safety, LLC will be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Florida.  The delivery of signatures to this Agreement may be via facsimile transmission or 

other electronic means and shall be binding as original signatures.  This Agreement shall constitute the entire 

agreement and supersede any prior agreement between the parties concerning the subject matter of this 

Agreement.  This Agreement may only be modified by an amendment, in writing, signed by duly authorized 

representatives of both parties with authority to sign such amendments to this Agreement.  In the event of a 

conflict between the Ten-8 Proposal and these Terms and Conditions, the Ten-8 Proposal shall control except in 

the case of a Cooperative Purchasing Contract as set forth in Section 1(c) and (i) of these Purchasing Terms and 

Conditions.  If any term of this Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable by a competent legal 

authority, such term will be either reformed or deleted, as the case may be, but only to the extent necessary to 

comply with the applicable law, regulation, order or rule, and the remaining provisions of the Agreement will 

remain in full force and effect.   

 

 

 

 

 
 

128

Item X. 1.



Staff Report          Final Plat 

Subject:  Final Plat Approval (Third District) 
Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date:  July 16, 2024 
Item Description: Coleman Company request approval of a Final Plat for “Lonadine Phase 
2A” Located on Hwy 119 S, zoned R-6. [Map# 344 Parcel# 26A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the plat and inspected the roads and drainage infrastructure identified in the 
warranty deed and recommends Alternative 1.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  
• Contractors have built roads and drainage infrastructure for Phase 2A of Lonadine in order to 

sell the 22 lots in this R-6 subdivision located off Hwy 119.  

• Water & Sewer service will be provided by the City of Springfield.  

• The County Engineer has inspected all roads, right-of-ways, and drainage infrastructure that is 

being dedicated to the county, and he recommends approval.  

• Development Services Staff reviewed the Final Plat and Final Plat Checklist. All documents are 

in order.  

• GIS and E-911 has approved the proposed Road Names.  

• The County Attorney has reviewed and approved the warranty deed, and infrastructure 

agreement, and has recommended changes. Staff has been in contact with the applicant to get 

the corrected documents. 

• The County Engineer has reviewed the bond recommendation and is recommending approval.   

• Development Services is waiting on a Maintenance Bond for $62,825.53 

• Staff has been in communication with the applicant to receive the Maintenance Bond.  

Alternatives  
1. Approve the final plat and infrastructure agreement for Laurel Grove Phase 1, and accept the 

roads and drainage infrastructure identified in the warranty deed with the following conditions: 

a. A corrected Deed & Infrastructure Agreement has been submitted. 

2. Take no action 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services, County Attorney  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Final Plat for Laurel Grove Phase 1  

2. Final Plat Submittal Form & Checklist 
3. Deed  
4. Infrastructure Agreement 
5. Maintenance Bond Recommendation 

   

129

Item X. 2.



DAYLILY
 DRIVE

PUBLIC
 60' R/W

FREESIA DRIVE

60' R/W

STI
LLH

OUS
E D

RIV
E

PU
BLI

C 
60

' R
/W

GARNET COURT

PUBLIC 60' R/W

LOT 205

LOT 204

LOT 203

LO
T 202

LO
T 201

LOT 214

LOT 213

LOT 212

LOT 211

LOT 210

LOT 209

LOT 208

LO
T 207

LO
T 206

LO
T 215

LO
T 216

LO
T 217

LO
T 218

LO
T 219

LO
T 220

LO
T 221LO

T 222

OPEN SPACE A
O

PEN SPACE B

1
4

8
0

 C
h

a
th

a
m

 P
a

rk
w

a
y
, 

S
u

it
e

 1
0

0
S

a
v
a

n
n

a
h

, 
G

e
o

rg
ia

 |
 (

9
1

2
) 

2
0

0
-3

0
4

1

SHEET:

SCALE:
CHECKED BY:
DRAWN BY:
DATE:
JOB NUMBER:

CO
LE

M
AN

 C
O

M
PA

N
Y,

 IN
C.

   
   

   
 D

AT
E 

PL
O

TT
ED

: 7
/1

/2
02

4 
1:

03
 P

M
   

BY
: J

us
tin

 P
al

m
er

   
 D

RA
W

IN
G 

PA
TH

: Q
:\

20
21

\2
1-

94
8.

00
0\

DW
G\

Su
rv

ey
\2

1-
94

8_
Lo

na
di

ne
(2

A)
_M

aj
or

Su
b_

6.
24

.2
02

4(
2)

.d
w

g

DRAFT
21-948

3/18/2024
JTP

1" = 50'

MAJOR
SUBDIVISION

1/1

A 
MA

JO
R 

SU
BD

IV
IS

IO
N 

OF
 LO

NA
DI

NE
 P

HA
SE

 2A
,

BE
IN

G 
A 

PO
RT

IO
N 

OF
 P

AR
CE

L A
 O

F T
HE

 W
EB

B 
TR

AC
T,

 E
FF

IN
GH

AM
 C

OU
NT

Y,
ST

AT
E 

OF
 G

EO
RG

IA
PR

EP
AR

ED
 FO

R:
 C

LA
YT

ON
 P

RO
PE

RT
IE

S 
GR

OU
P,

 IN
C

SURVEYORS CERTIFICATION

LAND  SURVEYOR

REG I STEREDGEORG I A

DON  E DWA RD  T A Y L OR ,  J R .

130

Item X. 2.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' STORM & ACCESS  EASEMENT (PB 29, PG 549-550)

AutoCAD SHX Text
S15°58'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
185.00''

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' STORM & ACCESS EASEMENT PB 29, PG 549-550

AutoCAD SHX Text
N15°58'24"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
125.00''

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S15°58'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
185.00''

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 1 - COMMON AREA 3 PB 29, PG 74 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PIN:03440026A00

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB 29, PG 74 REMAINING PORTION WEBB TRACT N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PIN:03440026A00

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.5' BSL (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY EMERGENCY  TURNAROUND (RADIUS = 48')

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY EMERGENCY  TURNAROUND (RADIUS = 48')

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
15.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
POR N:856,611.53 E:906,651.43

AutoCAD SHX Text
POR N:856,491.35 E:906,685.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB/POR N:856,250.20 E:906,771.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' BSL (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
25' BSL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM #2

AutoCAD SHX Text
S15°58'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
130.34''

AutoCAD SHX Text
35.28'

AutoCAD SHX Text
72.93'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S74°01'36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
39.26'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' DRAINAGE & ACCESS EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' DRAINAGE & ACCESS EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY EMERGENCY  TURNAROUND (RADIUS = 48')

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.65'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 46 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D046

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 45 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D045

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 44 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D044

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 43 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D043

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 47 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D047

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 48 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D048

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 49 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D049

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 50 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D050

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 51 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D051

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 52 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D052

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 53 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D053

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 53 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PB 29, PG 549-550 PIN: 0344D053

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' DRAINAGE & ACCESS EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMAINING PORTION WEBB TRACT PB 29, PG 74 N/F: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP INC PIN:03440026A00

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRID

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAD 83

AutoCAD SHX Text
GEORGIA EAST ZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE: 1"= 50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS REQUIRED BY SUBSECTION (D) OF O.C.G.A. SECTION 15-6-67, THIS PLAT HAS BEEN PREPARED BY A LAND SURVEYOR AND APPROVED BY ALL APPLICABLE LOCAL JURISDICTIONS FOR RECORDING AS EVIDENCED BY APPROVAL CERTIFICATES, SIGNATURES, STAMPS, OR STATEMENTS HEREON. SUCH APPROVALS OR AFFIRMATIONS SHOULD BE CONFIRMED WITH THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNMENTAL BODIES BY ANY PURCHASER OR USER OF THIS PLAT AS TO INTENDED USE OF ANY PARCEL. FURTHERMORE, THE UNDERSIGNED LAND SURVEYOR CERTIFIES THAT THIS PLAT COMPLIES WITH THE MINIMUM TECHNICAL STANDARDS FOR PROPERTY SURVEYS IN GEORGIA AS SET FORTH IN THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GEORGIA BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS AND AS SET FORTH IN O.C.G.A. SECTION 15-6-67.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DON EDWARD TAYLOR, JR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GA REG. LAND SURVEYOR NO. 3417

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLEMAN COMPANY, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION; LSF 1167

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. 3417

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UREFERENCE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1. PLAT RECORD BOOK 10, PAGE 111. PLAT RECORD BOOK 10, PAGE 111. 2. PLAT RECORD BOOK A377, PAGE B2. PLAT RECORD BOOK A377, PAGE B2. 3. PLAT RECORD BOOK K, PAGE 112. PLAT RECORD BOOK K, PAGE 112. 4. PLAT RECORD BOOK C181, PAGE D1. PLAT RECORD BOOK C181, PAGE D1. 5. PLAT RECORD BOOK 13, PAGE 1. PLAT RECORD BOOK 13, PAGE 1. 6. PLAT RECORD BOOK D31, PAGE C1. PLAT RECORD BOOK D31, PAGE C1. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER/DEVELOPER: CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP, INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
24HR CONTACT: RYAN STRICKLAND - (912)663-0309

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX MAP & PARCEL NUMBER: 03440026

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL AREA: 6.768 ACRES; 294,822 SQUARE FEET.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONING CLASSIFICATION: R-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED LAND USE: RESIDENTIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NUMBER OF LOTS: 22

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINIMUM LOT SIZE: 6,600 SQ. FT. (0.15 ACRES)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT SETBACK: 15 FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
REAR SETBACK: 25 FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE SETBACK: 7.5 FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE SETBACK (STREET): 15 FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER AND SEWER SERVICE TO BE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDED BY CITY OF SPRINGFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE SUBDIVISION PLAT KNOWN AS LONADINE PHASE 2A HAS BEEN FOUND TO 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPLY WITH THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS AND WAS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED BY THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY, GEORGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
_______________________    _________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
             (CHAIRMAIN OF EFFINGHAM COUNTY              

AutoCAD SHX Text
                     ______________

AutoCAD SHX Text
                           DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RECORDING IN THE OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF SUPERIOR COURT OF EFFINGHAM 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITNESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP, INC. DULY ORGANIZED AND EXISTING UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA BY, (PRINCIPLES AUTHORIZED TO SIGN THE CERTIFICATE) IS THE OWNER OF THE PROPERTY SHOWN AND DESCRIBED THEREON, AND THAT ALL STREETS, ALLEYS, WALKS, PARKS, AND OTHER SITES SHOWN HEREON, ARE DEDICATED TO PUBLIC OR PRIVATE USE AS NOTED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE STREETS, DRAINAGE SYSTEM, SEWER SYSTEM, AND WATER SYSTEM IN THE SUBDIVISION KNOWN AS LONADINE PHASE 2 SHOWN ON THE PLAT DATED 3/18/2024, PREPARED BY DON EDWARD TAYLOR HAS BEEN INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONSTRUCTION PLAN FOR WEBB TRACT PHASE 2 APPROVED 7-15-2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
_______________________        _______________

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIL MCKENZIE, P.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
_______________________    _________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINT CORPORATION NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITNESS NAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
_______________________    _________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITNESS SIGNATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF PRINCIPLE AUTHORIZED TO SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
_______________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINCIPLE SIGNATURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERTIFICATE OF OWNERSHIP AND DEDICATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL FOR RECORDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GA. HWY 119

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRINGFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUYTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAT BOOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCH MARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" IRON PIPE SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%ULEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANGULAR ERROR PER "  " = 02"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ADJUSTED BY COMPASS RULE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAT ERROR OF CLOSURE: 1/154,124

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIELD ERROR OF CLOSURE: 1/15,647

AutoCAD SHX Text
GPS EQUIPMENT USED: CARLSON BRX7 ON EGPS RTK NETWORK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONVENTIONAL EQUIPMENT USED: ELECTRONIC TOTAL STATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
            (REGISTERED SURVEYOR)                      (DATE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY___________________________________    ____________

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATED AND PLACED TO THE SPECIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN SAID REGULATIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNDER MY SUPERVISION, AND THAT MONUMENTS SHOWN HAVE BEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND WAS PREPARED FROM AN ACTUAL SURVEY OF THE PROPERTY MADE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS REQUIRED BY EFFINGHAM COUNTY SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS;

AutoCAD SHX Text
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS PLAT IS A TRUE, CORRECT AND ACCURATE SURVEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DON EDWARD TAYLOR, JR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GA REG. LAND SURVEYOR NO. 3417

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UNOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER(AUTHORIZED PRINCIPLE)                            DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1. THIS SUBDIVISION CONTAINS 22 LOTS. THIS SUBDIVISION CONTAINS 22 LOTS. 2. TOTAL AREA: 6.768 ACRES; 294,822 SQUARE FEET. TOTAL AREA: 6.768 ACRES; 294,822 SQUARE FEET. 3. PARENT PROPERTY ADDRESS: 0 HIGHWAY 119 PARENT PROPERTY ADDRESS: 0 HIGHWAY 119 4. PARENT PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 03440026A00 PARENT PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 03440026A00 03440026A00 5. THIS PROPERTY IS CURRENTLY ZONED R-6  THIS PROPERTY IS CURRENTLY ZONED R-6  6. THE HORIZONTAL DATUM OF THIS PLAT IS BASED ON GRID NORTH, GEORGIA STATE PLANE, EAST ZONE, THE HORIZONTAL DATUM OF THIS PLAT IS BASED ON GRID NORTH, GEORGIA STATE PLANE, EAST ZONE, NAD 83.  7. AS OF THE DATE OF THIS SURVEY; BASED ON MY OBSERVATION THIS PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN ZONE AS OF THE DATE OF THIS SURVEY; BASED ON MY OBSERVATION THIS PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN ZONE X, NOT A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA AS DETERMINED BY FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY (FEMA) FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP NUMBER 13103C0251D, EFFECTIVE DATE: 12/17/2010 BASE FLOOD ELEVATION: N/A, NAVD 88.  FEMA MAPS ARE SUBJECT TO REVISIONS AND AMENDMENTS AND SHOULD BE REVIEWED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. 8. LOTS TO BE SERVED BY CITY OF SPRINGFIELD WATER AND SANITARY SEWER SYSTEMS. LOTS TO BE SERVED BY CITY OF SPRINGFIELD WATER AND SANITARY SEWER SYSTEMS. 9. ALL BUILDING SETBACKS ARE TO CONFORM TO LOCAL ZONING ORDINANCES.  ALL BUILDING SETBACKS ARE TO CONFORM TO LOCAL ZONING ORDINANCES.  10. THIS PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS, COVENANTS, OR RESTRICTIONS EITHER THIS PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO ANY AND ALL EASEMENTS, COVENANTS, OR RESTRICTIONS EITHER RECORDED OR UNRECORDED. 11. THERE SHALL BE ACCESS GRANTED FOR OFFICIAL AND EMERGENCY VEHICLES. THERE SHALL BE ACCESS GRANTED FOR OFFICIAL AND EMERGENCY VEHICLES. 12. ANY PROPERTY LINES SHOWN HEREON THAT ARE NOT LABELED WITH BEARINGS AND DISTANCES ARE ANY PROPERTY LINES SHOWN HEREON THAT ARE NOT LABELED WITH BEARINGS AND DISTANCES ARE NOT TO BE ASSUMED TO BE SURVEY GRADE, AND ARE FOR VISUAL REFERENCE ONLY. 13. GPS WAS UTILIZED TO ESTABLISH THE HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL CONTROL FOR THIS PROJECT.  THE GPS WAS UTILIZED TO ESTABLISH THE HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL CONTROL FOR THIS PROJECT.  THE EQUIPMENT USED WAS A CARLSON BRX7 DUAL FREQUENCY ROVER ON THE EGPS NETWORK ADJUSTED REAL TIME KINEMATIC SYSTEM. HORIZONTAL PRECISION IS +-1CM + 1 PART PER MILLION AND VERTICAL PRECISION IS +-2CM +1 PART PER MILLION. 14. COMMON AREAS, DETENTION POND, AND SIDEWALKS SHALL BE PRIVATELY MAINTAINED BY THE COMMON AREAS, DETENTION POND, AND SIDEWALKS SHALL BE PRIVATELY MAINTAINED BY THE HOMEOWNERS'S ASSOCIATION. 15. AQUATIC RESOURCES SHOWN ON THE SURVEY MAY BE UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE USACE AQUATIC RESOURCES SHOWN ON THE SURVEY MAY BE UNDER THE JURISDICTION OF THE USACE AND/OR STATE OF GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES. LOT OWNERS AND THE DEVELOPER ARE SUBJECT TO PENALTY BY LAW FOR DISTURBANCE TO THESE PROTECTED AREA WITHOUT PROPER PERMIT APPLICATION & APPROVAL. 16. ALL STREETS, RIGHTS-OF-WAY, EASEMENTS, AND ANY SITES FOR PUBLIC USE AS NOTED ON THIS ALL STREETS, RIGHTS-OF-WAY, EASEMENTS, AND ANY SITES FOR PUBLIC USE AS NOTED ON THIS PLAT ARE HEREBY DEDICATED FOR THE USES INTENDED.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT DATA

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" IRON PIPE FOUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
IPF

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION: 106.17'

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAG NAIL SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBENCH MARK #1%%U:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAVD 88

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEVATION: 105.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAG NAIL SET

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UBENCH MARK #2%%U:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
POB

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF REFERENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT #

AutoCAD SHX Text
201

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQ FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
202

AutoCAD SHX Text
203

AutoCAD SHX Text
204

AutoCAD SHX Text
205

AutoCAD SHX Text
214

AutoCAD SHX Text
213

AutoCAD SHX Text
212

AutoCAD SHX Text
211

AutoCAD SHX Text
210

AutoCAD SHX Text
209

AutoCAD SHX Text
208

AutoCAD SHX Text
207

AutoCAD SHX Text
206

AutoCAD SHX Text
215

AutoCAD SHX Text
216

AutoCAD SHX Text
217

AutoCAD SHX Text
218

AutoCAD SHX Text
222

AutoCAD SHX Text
220

AutoCAD SHX Text
219

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,369

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,344

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,535

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,020

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,541

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,375

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,790

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,097

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
7,500

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.215

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.238

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.173

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.207

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.219

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.216

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.248

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.232

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.172

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT TOTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE A

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.157

AutoCAD SHX Text
181,071

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.499

AutoCAD SHX Text
65,312

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.768

AutoCAD SHX Text
294,822

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.040

AutoCAD SHX Text
45,314

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE B

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.072

AutoCAD SHX Text
3,125

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQ FT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
L7

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.93'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S15°58'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
221

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINE #

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1

AutoCAD SHX Text
L2

AutoCAD SHX Text
L3

AutoCAD SHX Text
L4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
37.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.97'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DIRECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
S74°01'36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N17°10'50"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N53°23'35"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S17°10'50"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURVE #

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3

AutoCAD SHX Text
C4

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5

AutoCAD SHX Text
C6

AutoCAD SHX Text
C7

AutoCAD SHX Text
C8

AutoCAD SHX Text
C9

AutoCAD SHX Text
C10

AutoCAD SHX Text
C11

AutoCAD SHX Text
C12

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
39.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
190.42'

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
62.70'

AutoCAD SHX Text
149.77'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
92.72'

AutoCAD SHX Text
81.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.57'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
39.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADIUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
281.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
199.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
221.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
221.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
221.05'

AutoCAD SHX Text
259.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
259.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
259.27'

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD BEARING

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29°01'36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N36°35'25"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N11°00'00"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S79°00'00"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S65°00'48"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S36°35'25"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S48°36'24"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29°11'49"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N65°00'48"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N63°14'41"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N72°15'29"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S29°01'36"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHORD LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
35.36'

AutoCAD SHX Text
186.80'

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.43'

AutoCAD SHX Text
42.43'

AutoCAD SHX Text
62.44'

AutoCAD SHX Text
146.92'

AutoCAD SHX Text
56.89'

AutoCAD SHX Text
92.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
81.24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
65.39'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35.36'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L5

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6

AutoCAD SHX Text
27.06'

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.41'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N33°02'51"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N48°37'06"E



 

 

 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

 

 

THIS INDENTURE made this ___ day of _____, 2024, by and between CLAYTON 

PROPERTIES GROUP, INC, a Corporation as Party or Parties of the First Part, hereinafter 

referred to as Grantor, and the BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF EFFINGHAM 

COUNTY, GEORGIA, as Party or Parties of the Second Part, hereinafter referred to as 

Grantee (the words "Grantor" and "Grantee" to include their respective heirs, successors and 

assigns where the context requires or permits). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) in hand paid, at 

and before the sealing and delivery of these presents, and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Grantor has granted, bargained, 

sold, conveyed and confirmed, and by these presents does grant, bargain, sell, convey and 

confirm unto the said Grantee the following described property: 

 

All those certain roads and storm drainage, situate, lying and being in the 10th 

G.M. District, Effingham County, Georgia, consisting of the entire right-of-

way of Stillhouse Drive and Daylily Drive, located within the Lonadine 

Subdivision, Phase TWO-A (2A), as more particularly described on that certain 

subdivision plat entitled "A MAJOR SUBDIVISION OF LONADINE 2A, 

BEING A PORTION OF PARCEL A OF THE WEBB TRACT" prepared by 

Coleman Company, Inc., Don Edward Taylor, Jr., GA P.L.S. No. LS003417, 

dated July 1, 2024 recorded in Plat Cabinet ___,  Slide   , in the office of 

the Clerk of Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia. It is the intention 

of the Grantor to convey to the Grantee all of its  interest in the aforenamed 

streets or rights of way for public access. 

 

Subject to that certain Utility Easement Agreement dated ___ day of 

_____________, 2024, by and between Grantor and the City of Springfield, 

Georgia, recorded in Deed Book ___, Page ____ in the Office of Superior Court 

of Effingham County, Georgia. 

 

Grantor further conveys all right, title and interest in and to the drainage 

improvements, within said right-of-way and public easement, all located within  the 

Lonadine Subdivision, Phase Two-A (2A), as shown on the above-referenced plat which 

are incorporated herein for descriptive and all other purposes. However, this Warranty Deed 

excludes all water and sewer systems and lines lying within the said right-of-way and public 

easement all located within Lonadine Subdivision, Phase Two-A (2A), as shown on the 

aforedescribed plats which is incorporated herein for descriptive and all other purposes. 

 

131

Item X. 2.



 

 

A non-exclusive perpetual e a s e m e n t  t o  install, maintain, repair and replace any 

improvements for water systems and sewer systems located within the rights of way of these roads is 

hereby acknowledged to exist with the owner or owners of those systems. The Board of 

Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia shall have no obligation to install, maintain, repair or 

replace any of the water and sewer systems. 

 

Together with a perpetual, non-exclusive, appurtenant, commercial, transmissible general 

utility easement for the installation, construction, maintenance, operation, repair, and 

replacement of permanent above ground or underground utilities and for the inspection of the 

storm water management facilities, over, through and across and in those areas designated as 

utility easements and drainage easements, including the right to ingress and egress over the 

easements, all located within Lonadine Subdivision, Phase Two-A (2A), as shown on the 

aforementioned plat which is incorporated herein for descriptive and all other purposes. 

 

Further, this Warranty Deed does not include the conveyance of any detention ponds, 

sidewalks, or  common areas. 

 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD said road and easements, with all and singular the rights, 

members, and appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging, or in anywise appertaining, to 

the only proper use, benefit, and behoof of the said Grantee forever, in fee simple. 

 

AND THE SAID Grantor will warrant and forever defend the right and title to the 

above-described property unto the said Grantee against the claims of all persons 

whomsoever. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Grantor has hereunto set its hand and seal, on the day 

and year first above written. 

 

 

CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP, INC. 

 

 

__________________________________(SEAL) 

BY: TITLE 

 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered in 

the presence of: 

 

 

 

Witness 

 

 

 

    Notary Public 

132

Item X. 2.



 

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO THIS ____ DAY OF _________, 2023. 

 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, 

GEORGIA 

 

 

BY:    

Wesley Corbitt ,                    Chairman 

 

ATTEST:    

Stephanie Johnson, Effingham County Clerk 

 

 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered in 

the presence of: 

 

 

 

Witness 

 

 

 

    Notary Public 

133

Item X. 2.



Page 1 of 9 

 

 

 

 

 

Record and return to: 

Oliver Maner LLP       Please cross reference to: 

Post Office Box 10186      Deed Book ____, Page ____ 

Savannah, GA 31412       

         

         

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

 

UTILITY EASEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 This Easement Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”) 

is made and entered into this ___ day of __________, 2024 by and between 

CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP, INC, a Corporation, having its principal 

place of business at 441 Western Lane Irmo, SC 29063 (hereinafter, the 

“Grantor”) and THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, GEORGIA, a Georgia 

municipal corporation, having its principal place of business at 130 S. Laurel 

Street, Springfield, GA 31329 (hereinafter, the “Grantee”).  

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, Grantor is the fee owner of certain land located in 

Effingham County, Georgia, LONADINE SUBDIVISION PHASE 2A as 

shown upon a plat entitled “A MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT OF LONADINE 

PHASE 2A, BEING A PORTION OF PARCEL A OF THE WEBB TRACT” 

recorded in Plat Book ____, Page ______ the office of the Clerk of Superior 

Court of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the “Grantor’s 

Property”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, Grantor and Grantee desire to enter into this Agreement 

granting Grantee the right to use and exercise all rights in and to the utility 

easements as shown on that certain map or plat entitled “A MAJOR 

SUBDIVISION PLAT OF LONADINE PHASE 2A, BEING A PORTION OF 

PARCEL A OF THE WEBB TRACT” recorded in Plat Book ____, Page ______ 

the office of the Clerk of Superior Court of Effingham County, Georgia 

(hereinafter referred to as “Easement Premises”); and  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the sum of Ten 

Dollars ($10.00) and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency 

of which are hereby acknowledged under seal, Grantor hereby grants to 

134

Item X. 2.



Page 2 of 9 

Grantee and its lessees, licensees, successors, and assigns, the perpetual 

right and easement as described in Section 2 below in, under, through, over, 

across, and upon the Grantor’s Land, as follows: 

 

1. Recitals. The above preamble and recitals are hereby incorporated as if 

restated verbatim. 

 

2. Utility Easement. 

 

a. Grant of the Easement. Grantor does hereby grant, bargain, sell 

and convey unto Grantee, its lessees, licensees, successors, and 

assigns, and creates and establishes for the benefit of Grantee 

and its lessees, licensees, successors and assigns, a perpetual, 

appurtenant, non-exclusive utility easement (the“Easement”) 

shown as “UTILITY EASEMENT” on that certain map or plat 

entitled “A MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT OF LONADINE 

PHASE 2A, BEING A PORTION OF PARCEL A OF THE 

WEBB TRACT” recorded in Plat Book ____, Page ______ the 

office of the Clerk of Superior Court of Effingham County, 

Georgia and incorporated herein by reference, to have and to 

hold, unto Grantee, its lessees, licensees, successors and assigns, 

forever.  

 

b. Nature and Purpose. The Easement is for the purpose of 

providing water and sewer services and/or other utilities across 

the Grantor’s Property and shall now and forever encumber and 

run with the Grantor’s Property. The Easement is for the use 

and benefit of Grantee and its lessees, licensees, successors, and 

assigns, as well as their contractors, employees, agents, vendors, 

guests, licensees and invitees.   

 

c. Rights and Privileges Conferred by Easement.  

 

i. Grantee shall have the right of ingress and egress to the 

easement, to construct, reconstruct, relocate, extend, repair, 

replace, maintain, operate, and inspect to the extent Grantee 

considers desirable, lines, pipes, and any other necessary or 

desirable appurtenances to and/or for a utility system and/or 

utility facilities necessary for the provision of water and 

sewer services to LONADINE SUBDIVISION PHASE 2A 

(collectively, the “Facilities”). The Facilities shall not include 

any storm water drainage system installed by Effingham 

County. Grantee shall also have the right to take any other 

action it considers necessary for the proper maintenance and 

operation of the Facilities.  

135

Item X. 2.



Page 3 of 9 

 

ii. Grantee shall have the right to abandon or remove the 

Facilities at its pleasure, to maintain or improve the 

Facilities by any means, whether now existing or hereafter 

devised, for public or private use, in, upon, over, under, and 

across the Easement Premises and the roadways abutting or 

running through the Easement Premises, and to renew, 

replace, add to, and otherwise change the Facilities and each 

and every part thereof and the location thereof within the 

Easement Premises, and utilize the Facilities within the 

Easement Premises for the purpose of providing water and 

sewer services and/or other utilities. 

 

iii. Grantee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to clear 

and keep cleared, by physical, chemical, or other means, the 

Easement Premises of any and all trees, vegetation, roots, 

aboveground or belowground structures, improvements, or 

other obstructions and trim and/or remove other trees, roots, 

and vegetation adjacent to the Easement Premises that 

interfere with Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises. The 

clearing area adjacent to the Easement shall be equal to the 

full width of the easement at each point in the Easement. For 

example, where the Easement is 20 feet wide, the clearing 

area shall be 20 feet on each side of the Easement, measured 

from the edge of the Easement facing that side of the clearing 

area. Where the Easement is 15 feet wide, the clearing area 

shall be 15 feet on each side of the Easement, measured from 

each edge of the Easement facing that side of the clearing 

area.  

 

iv. Grantee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cut, 

remove and dispose of dead, diseased, weak or leaning trees 

(hereinafter referred to as “danger trees”) on lands of the 

Grantor adjacent to the Easement Premises but outside the 

clearing area which in Grantee’s sole opinion may now or 

hereafter strike, injure, endanger or interfere with the 

maintenance and operation of any of the Facilities, provided 

that on future cutting of such danger trees, timber so cut 

shall remain the property of the Grantor. Grantor shall 

notify Grantee of any party with whom Grantor contracts 

and who owns as a result thereof any danger trees to be cut 

as set forth above.  

 

v. Grantee shall have the right to excavate or change the grade 

of the Grantor's Land as is reasonable, necessary, and proper 

136

Item X. 2.



Page 4 of 9 

for any and all purposes described in this Agreement; 

provided, however, that the Grantee will, upon completion of 

their work, backfill and restore any excavated areas to 

reasonably the same condition as existed prior to such 

excavation. 

 

vi. Grantee shall have the right to pass and repass along the 

Easement Area to and from the adjoining lands and pass and 

repass over, across, and upon the Grantor’s Land to and from 

the Easement Area, and construct, reconstruct, relocate, use, 

and maintain such footbridges, causeways, and ways of 

access, if any, thereon, as is reasonable and necessary in 

order to exercise to the fullest extent the Easement. 

 

vii. Grantee shall have the right to install, maintain and use 

accessory utility structures (by way of non-exhaustive 

example: manholes and vents) on the lands of the Grantor 

adjacent to the Easement Premises as such accessory utility 

structures are necessary to operate, maintain, or upgrade the 

water and/or sewer systems or other utility systems to be 

installed within the Easement Premises.  

 

viii. Grantee shall have the right, when required by law or 

government regulations, to conduct scientific or other 

studies, including but not limited to environmental and 

archaeological studies, on or below the surface of the 

Easement Premises. 

 

d. Terms, Conditions and Restrictions.   

 

i. Maintenance. Grantee shall maintain the Easement 

Premises as shown on that certain map or plat entitled 

“UTILITY EASEMENT” on that certain map or plat entitled 

“A MAJOR SUBDIVISION PLAT OF LONADINE PHASE 

2A, BEING A PORTION OF PARCEL A OF THE WEBB 

TRACT recorded in Plat Book ____,  

Page ______ the office of the Clerk of Superior Court of 

Effingham County, Georgia, as it deems necessary and in its 

sole discretion.   

 

ii. Grantee shall have no obligation to pay for any insurance or 

taxes, assessments or other charges or fees applicable or 

chargeable to the Easement Premises or owners thereof. 

 

137

Item X. 2.



Page 5 of 9 

iii. Grantor covenants and agrees that it shall not plant within 

or allow to grow into the Easement Premises any trees, 

bushes or other planted material that would interfere with 

Grantee’s use of the Easement Premises, and that they shall 

not construct any buildings, walls, fences, or other 

improvements within, or over or upon the Easement 

Premises.  

 

iv. Grantor hereby warrants title to the Easement herein 

granted and conveyed to Grantee. Grantor warrants that the 

easement is free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. 

Grantor agrees to protect and defend the title from and 

against all persons whomsoever.  Grantor agrees and hereby 

does, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify and hold 

harmless Grantee from any costs, expenses, damages, claims 

or demands incurred or asserted against Grantee as a result 

of or arising out of Grantor’s warranties or covenants set 

forth herein.  

 

v. It is agreed that if the City accepts dedication of the 

Facilities, such Facilities shall forever remain the property of 

the Grantee, its successors, and assigns. Grantor’s dedication 

to Effingham County of the roads and rights-of-way shown in 

Exhibit B shall not affect Grantee’s sole ownership of the 

Facilities within the Easement Premises. 

 

vi. Grantor reserves the right to cross and recross the Easement 

Premises provided that such use of said ground shall not 

interfere with, obstruct, or endanger any rights granted 

herein and shall not disturb the grade of said ground as it 

now exists. 

 

e. Miscellaneous.   

 

i. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding 

upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and 

their respective heirs, successors and assigns.  

 

ii. Severability: In the event any provision hereof is held to be 

invalid and unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability 

shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other 

provision hereof.   

 

iii. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire 

agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject 

138

Item X. 2.



Page 6 of 9 

matter hereof, and no representation, inducements, promises 

or agreements, oral or otherwise, not expressly set forth 

herein shall be of any force and effect.  

 

iv. Amendment. This Agreement may not be modified, amended, 

or terminated except by written modification executed by all 

parties hereto.   

 

v. Interpretation. No provision of this Agreement shall be 

construed against or interpreted to the disadvantage of any 

party by any court or other governmental or judicial 

authority by reason of such party having or being deemed to 

have structured or dictated such provision.   

 

vi. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any 

number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be 

the original and all of which together shall comprise but a 

single instrument.  No consent or waiver, expressed or 

implied, by a party to any breach or default by any other 

party in the performance by such other party of the 

obligations thereof under this Agreement shall be deemed or 

construed to be a consent or waiver of any other breach or 

default in the performance by such other party of any other 

obligations of such party of this Agreement.  Failure on the 

part of any party to complain of any act or failure to act of 

any other party or to declare such party in default, 

irrespective of how long such failure continues, shall not 

constitute a waiver of such party of the rights thereof under 

this Agreement.  

 

vii. Governing Law and Forum Selection. THIS AGREEMENT 

SHALL BE GOVERNED AND CONSTRUED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF 

GEORGIA. EACH PARTY HERETO AGREES THAT ALL 

ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING IN CONNECTION 

WITH THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS 

CONTEMPLATED HEREBY SHALL BE TRIED AND 

LITIGATED IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF EFFINGHAM 

COUNTY UNLESS SUCH ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS 

ARE REQUIRED TO BE BROUGHT IN ANOTHER COURT 

TO OBTAIN SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER 

THE MATTER IN CONTROVERSY. TO THE EXTENT 

PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH PARTY HERETO 

IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT ANY PARTY 

HERETO MAY HAVE TO ASSERT THE DOCTRINE OF 

139

Item X. 2.



Page 7 of 9 

FORUM NON CONVENIENS, TO ASSERT THAT ANY 

PARTY HERETO IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE 

JURISDICTION OF THE AFORESAID COURTS OR TO 

OBJECT TO VENUE TO THE EXTENT ANY 

PROCEEDING IS BROUGHT IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THIS ARTICLE. 

 

viii. Authority. Both parties represent and warrant that they 

have the authority to execute this Agreement and each 

individual signing on behalf of a party to this Agreement 

states that he or she is the duly authorized representative of 

the signing party and that his or her signature on this 

Agreement has been duly authorized by, and creates the 

binding and enforceable obligation of, the party on whose 

behalf the representative is signing. 

 

ix. Further Cooperation. Each of the signatories to this 

Agreement agree to execute such other documents and to 

perform such other acts as may be reasonably necessary or 

desirable to further the expressed and intent purpose of this 

agreement. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned parties have executed, or 

caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized 

representatives, under the seal as of the day and year above written.  

 

   THE CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 

 

    By:        

     Barton A. Alderman 

Mayor, City of Springfield 

 

CLAYTON PROPERTIES GROUP, INC; a Georgia 

Corporation    

By:        

                Manager  

 

Signed, sealed and delivered this  

____ day of ______________, 2024,  

in the presence of: 

 

___________________________ 

WITNESS 

 

___________________________ 

140

Item X. 2.



Page 8 of 9 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

 

 

      

 

 

 

This Agreement is approved as to form: 

 

 

    By:         

     Benjamin M. Perkins 

     City Attorney, City of Springfield

141

Item X. 2.



Page 9 of 9 

CONSENT TO CITY OF SPRINGFIELD – WEBB TRACT (LONADINE) 

SUBDIVISION PHASE 1A 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT BY: 

 

 

   ___________ BANK 

 

 

By:       

 

  Its:       

      

 

Signed, sealed and delivered this  

____ day of __________, 2022, in 

the presence of: 

 

___________________________ 

WITNESS 

 

___________________________ 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

142

Item X. 2.



1480 Chatham Parkway, Suite 100 | Savannah, GA 31405

04/10/2024
 
Effingham County

804 S Laurel Street

Springfield, Ga, 31329

Attn: Ms. Chelsie Fernald

Re:
erwe
ewrwre
CCI:

Utility Bond
Webb Tract Phase 2
Pooler, Georgia
20-642.002

Dear Ms. Fernald:

Enclosed, please find the Utility Bond Calculation for the above referenced project.  The various infrastructure components that 
comprise the overall project were used to determine the Warranty Bond Cost. The respective infrastructure components and 
their unit costs are listed on the attached spreadsheets.  Based on the attached information the calculated Utility Bond amount 
is as follows:

Cost of Infrastructure:     $ 628,255.25

Please review the attached calculations and if you have any questions or comments, please call me at 200-3041.

Regards,

Coleman Company, Inc.

Neil P. McKenzie, P.E.

10% Warranty Bond Cost of Infrastructure:     $   62,825.53

143

Item X. 2.



1480 Chatham Parkway, Suite 100 | Savannah, GA 31405

Performance Bond Calculations

Section I - Erosion Control
Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:

I-1 Inlet Protection 9 $225.00 $2,025.00
I-2 Level Spreader 1 $2,850.00 $2,850.00
I-3 Rip Rap (SY) 50 $85.00 $4,250.00
I-4 Grassing (AC) 33 $1,500.00 $49,500.00

Section II - Grading
Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:

II-1 N/A 0 $0.00 $0.00

Section III - Paving & Concrete Work
Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:

III-1 18" Rollover Curb & Gutter (LF) 2650 $19.00 $50,350.00
III-2 4" GAB - Turnarounds & Road to Lift Station (SY) 1615 $18.35 $29,635.25
III-3 8" Graded Aggreate Base (SY) 4050 $33.80 $136,890.00
III-4 2" Binder + 1.5" Asphalt Topping 4050 $30.50 $123,525.00
III-5 Sidewalks in Common Areas-4" Thick Concrete 80 $60.00 $4,800.00
III-6 Handicap Ramps 3 $1,500.00 $4,500.00
III-7 Pavement Markings (LS) 1 $4,750.00 $4,750.00

Section IV - Sanitary Sewer
Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:

IV-1 N/A 0 $0.00 $0.00

Section V - Stormwater Drainage System
Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:

V-1 18" RCP 0-6 (LF) 47 $66.00 $3,102.00
V-2 24" RCP 0-6 (LF) 427 $84.00 $35,868.00
V-3 24" RCP 6-8 (LF) 819 $87.00 $71,253.00
V-4 Curb Inlet 0-6 (Ea) 5 $4,884.00 $24,420.00
V-5 Curb Inlet 6-8 (Ea) 2 $5,120.00 $10,240.00
V-6 Grate Inlet 0-6 (Ea) 1 $4,107.00 $4,107.00
V-7 Grate Inlet 6-8 (Ea) 1 $4,342.00 $4,342.00
V-8 Outlet Control Structure 4' x 4' 1 $5,024.00 $5,024.00
V-9 24" FES (EA) 7 $1,490.00 $10,430.00

V-10 Headwall Structures 2 $8,000.00 $16,000.00

144

Item X. 2.



1480 Chatham Parkway, Suite 100 | Savannah, GA 31405

Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:
V-11 Stone for Bedding (TN) 200 $92.50 $18,500.00
V-12 Dewatering 1 $1,765.00 $1,765.00
V-13 Lamping Test 1 $6,529.00 $6,529.00
V-14 Temporary Inlet Protection (EA) 9 $400.00 $3,600.00

Section VI -  Water Distribution System
Item #: Description: Quantity: Unit Price: Cost:

VI-1 N/A 0 $0.00 $0.00

Erosion Control:
Grading:

Paving & Concrete Work:
Sanitary Sewer:

Stormwater Drainage:
Water Distribution:

Total Infrastructure Cost:

$58,625.00
$0.00
$354,450.25
$0.00
$215,180.00
$0.00
$628,255.25

145

Item X. 2.



146

Item X. 2.



147

Item X. 2.



Staff Report          

   
Subject: Construction Specification Revision  

Author: Jonathan Hulme  

Department: Engineering  

Date:  July 16, 2024  

  

Item Description: Construction Specification - Section 02400 & Stormwater 

Management Local Design Manual 

  

Summary Recommendation:  
The county needs to update the Construction Specification Section 02400 Storm Drainage 

System to current standards and requirements. The Stormwater Management Local Design 

Manual will now refer to our construction specifications instead of providing construction 

specifications.  

  

Executive Summary/Background:   
There have been no updates to our construction specifications in nearly 20 years. Staff has worked 

closely with product professionals to make specification current with today’s standards. 

Engineering Department is recommending the following changes:  

 RCP classification of pipe determination in accordance with ASTM 76 

 CMP, HDPP, HDPE Pipe to have rock installed to 6 inches above the crown of the 

pipe vs springline of pipe previously. 

 Field Quality Control improvements to inspect according to AASHTO R-73 

 Providing more construction guidance for RCP, CMP, HDPP, and HDPE 

 Page 14 of the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual will refer to county 

specifications for construction criteria. 

  

Alternatives:  
Approve an amendment to Effingham County Construction Specification - Section 02400 

Storm Drainage System & Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

  

Deny an amendment to Effingham County Construction Specification - Section 02400 

Storm Drainage System & Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

  

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2  

  

Department Review:  Engineering Department   FUNDING: N/A  

  

Attachments: Effingham County Construction Specification - Section 02400 Storm Drainage 

System from October 2004 and revised version July 2024, page 14 of Stormwater Management 

Local Design Manual. 

 

148

Item X. 3.



149

Item X. 3.



150

Item X. 3.



151

Item X. 3.



152

Item X. 3.



153

Item X. 3.



 

14 | P a g e  
 

5. APPROVED CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS 
 
5.1. Conveyance Structures 
 
5.1.1. Pipes under Roads and Pavement 
 
All pipes under roadways, parking lots and other surfaces designed for vehicular traffic shall be 
constructed of reinforced concrete pipe (RCP) meeting Georgia Department of Transportation 
Standards.  Longitudinal pipes with diameters of 30-inches or smaller may utilize High Density 
Polyethylene (HDPE) Pipe if the depth of the pipe is four feet or less (as measured from the 
invert of the pipe to the finished grade).  Bedding standards for HDPE pipe shall be such that 
stone bedding, or equivalent, shall be placed to half of the pipe diameter or in accordance with 
manufacturer’s specifications. Joints shall be wrapped with a double layer of non-woven 
geotextile with a minimum weight of 16 ounces per yard. 
 
5.1.2. Pipes Not Under Roads and Pavement 
 
Pipes not under roadways, parking lots and other surfaces meant for vehicular traffic shall be 
constructed of RCP or HDPE meeting Georgia Department of Transportation Standards and 
approved by the County Engineer or his designee.  Bedding standards for HDPE pipe shall be 
such that stone bedding, or equivalent, shall be placed to half of the pipe diameter for all depths 
greater than four feet and/or in accordance with manufacturers specifications whichever are 
greater.  All pipes must have a minimum of 12-inches of cover from the crown of the pipe unless 
prior approval of the County or its Agent has been obtained. 
 
5.1.3. Channels 
 
All channels must be protected from erosion through the use of rip-rap, concrete, erosion control 
matting or similar method acceptable to the County Engineer or his designee.  All channel side 
slopes shall have a 3-foot horizontal to 1-foot vertical (3:1) slope or less, unless otherwise 
approved by the County Engineer or his designee. 
 
5.1.4. Inlets 
 
All inlets shall be constructed of materials and methods approved by the Georgia Department of 
Transportation (GDOT) and designs pre-approved by the County Engineer or his designee. 
 
5.2. Detention Ponds  
 
All stormwater management and detention facilities constructed in accordance with the 
requirements of the LDM shall be constructed on subdivided parcels deeded to the property 
owner (for non-residential parcels) or the homeowners association (for residential parcels).  No 
stormwater management or detention facility for residential subdivisions shall be constructed in 
whole or part on a parcel or lot intended for future sale or use as a residential property.   
 

154

Item X. 3.

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Text Box
Effingham County Standard  Specifications.

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Text Box
Effingham County Standard Specifications.

jhulme
Text Box
meeting Effingham County Standard Specifications.

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Line

jhulme
Text Box
/or

jhulme
Text Box
maximum of



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-1 

 

SECTION 02400 

STORM DRAINAGE SYSTEM 

 
 
 
 
1. SCOPE: 

Installation of storm drainage systems. 
 
2. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS: 

Comply with requirements of authorities having jurisdiction for materials and installation of work of this 
Section. 

 
a) Referenced national Specifications or Standards.  

GDOT Specification 550 and associated Specifications referenced in 550, ASTM C76, ASTM C 
506, ASTM C507, AASSHTO M-274, AASHTO M-36, AASHTO M-196, AASHTO M294, ASTM C990, 
ASTM C1619, ASTM C443, ASTM F477, ASTM D3212, ASTM D1056, ASTM C478, ASTM C913, 
ASTM C923, ASTM C1478, ASTM C1821, ASTM F2510, ASTM A48, ASTM C32, ASTM C55, ASTM 
C33, AASHTO R-73. 

  
3. PIPE MATERIALS DESIGN:   

Design for Pipe Materials - Structural system strength design and Hydraulic capacity confirmation must 
be completed for all pipe materials and for every project and shall be signed, sealed, and submitted to the 
County Engineer by a registered Engineer of the State of Georgia. 

 
Structural design shall be based upon the specific pipe material design requirements set forth in the  

AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specification. When plastic pipe (HDPP or HDPE) is considered for use the 
Engineer shall consider the wet weather ground water conditions anticipated and the effects of such in their 
structural calculations or fill height table development as well as a job site confirmation plan to confirm 
structural backfill materials and compaction requirements assumed in their structural design will be met. If 
corrugated metal pipe (CMP) is to be used the Engineer shall consider the effects of Ph, resistivity of soil, 
ground water, storm runoff, and anticipated abrasion levels to confirm the correct gauge (thickness) of the 
metal pipe wall and if any other special protection that they feel is needed on a site-by-site basis. The metal 
pipe base materials and gauges (thicknesses) noted in section below are the minimum gauges that are 
acceptable regardless of the engineer’s design confirmation. 

 
Hydraulic Design Capacity Engineers/Designers shall utilize the following Manning’s “n” coefficient     

for closed system storm water systems - 0.013 for RCP, 0.017 for HDPE, HDPP, and 0.024 for CMP- 
Otherwise, the hydraulic analysis and pipe capacities shall be based upon all hydrology requirements set 
by the County. If the County does not have Hydraulic/Hydrology design standards then the Engineer shall 
follow GDOT Manual on “Drainage Design for Highways”. 

 
4. PIPE MATERIAL SELECTION AND APPLICATION:  

Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP) shall be used in all areas within the ROW and within all Public Utility 
and or Drainage Easements. Flexible Pipe (CMP, HDPP, and HDPE) may be used in areas outside the 
ROW. CMP, HDPP & HDPE is not allowed in ROW or within public utility or drainage easements. CMP is 
not allowed for use in intermittent or continuous flow streams. See plans for pipe materials required for 
each location on project. 

 
Any Alternate pipe materials to those shown as noted above may only be allowed for use on any 

project when hydraulic calculations and structural design calculations are submitted and stamped by a 

155

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-2 

 

registered Civil Engineer of Georgia, and their use is pre-approved by County Engineer prior to bid 
opening. 

 

5. PIPE MATERTIALS:  
The Contractor shall require the manufacturer or supplier to furnish a certification that all materials 

furnished meet the below listed standards and materials specifications and further certify that the 
manufacturer is currently on the GDOT approved Producers list for the product they supply.  
 

a) Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP).  

Reinforced concrete pipe shall be Class II, III, IV, or V to ASTM C76 as specified on the project 

plans. Horizontal elliptical concrete pipe (HERCP) shall conform to C507, Arch Pipe (ARCP) shall 

comply to ASTM C506, and strength class as specified on the project plans. 

 

b) Corrugated Metal Pipe (CMP).  
CMP Pipe materials allowed include CACMP and CAAP meeting the following material 

requirements; Aluminum coated (Type 2) (CACMP) steel pipe shall comply with AASHTO M-274 for the 
coating and AASHTO M-36 for the pipe fabrication. Aluminum alloy pipe (CAAP) shall comply with 
AASHTO M-196 for material and fabrication. Pipe diameters of 15-inches or smaller shall be 14-gauge 
minimum. Pipe diameters from 18-inch to 48-inch shall be 12-gauge minimum. Pipe diameters of 54-
inch or greater shall be 10-gauge minimum. The use of Zinc Coated (Galvanized) CMP and Spiral 
Ribbed Aluminized Pipe are prohibited. 
 

c) Dual wall High Density Polypropylene (HDPP).  
HDPP shall comply to ASTM F2764 or AASHTO M330. The use of recycled or reground material in 

HDPP is not allowed. 
 

d) High Density Polyethylene Pipe (HDPE).  
HDPE and appurtenances shall conform to the requirements of AASHTO M294. The pipe shall 

have a smooth interior and annular-corrugated exterior or profile wall pipe smooth interior for large 
diameter pipe. The use of recycled or reground materials in HDPE pipe is not allowed. 

 
6. JOINT MATERIALS: 

 
a) Joints for RCP.  

Unless otherwise noted on the plans all joints for RCP shall be soil tight joints. Soil-Tight joints for 
RCP shall be accomplished by using a preformed flexible sealant or rubber gasket in the joint. The 
butyl mastic joint material shall meet the requirements of ASTM C990. The rubber gaskets shall meet 
the Physical requirements of ASTM C1619. All RCP joints utilizing butyl mastic for joint seal shall also 
have an exterior filter fabric wrap installed on the exterior of pipe at each joint. 

Leak resistant joints shall be used when specified on the plans. The bell and spigot or the tongue 
and groove of the pipe shall be specially manufactured and prepared for the type of rubber gasket 
used. The rubber gaskets shall meet the Physical requirements of ASTM C1619. Rubber Gasket Joint 
performance criteria shall meet ASTM C443. Any RCP installation required to be leak-resistant will be 
noted on the plans. A plant proof of design test shall be completed and submitted to County Engineer 
for approval to ensure joint design/performance can meet ASTM C443.  

 
b) Joints for HDPP.  

Joints shall consist of an integral bell and spigot which meets ASTM F2736 or F2881 and shall be 
supplied with a rubber gasket meeting ASTM F477. The bell shall be reinforced with a polymer 
composite band installed by the manufacturer. If HDPP is to be utilized for a leak resistant application a 

156

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-3 

 

plant proof of design test shall be completed and submitted to the County Engineer for approval to 
ensure joint design/performance can meet ASTM D3212 
 

c) Joints for HDPE. 
Joints shall consist of a bell and spigot type joint with a rubber gasket meeting the physical 

requirements of ASTM F477. All HDPE installations will require a rubber gasket meeting the above 
requirements. If HDPE is to be utilized for a leak resistant application a plant proof of design test shall 
be completed and submitted to County Engineer for approval to ensure joint design/performance can 
meet ASTM D3212. Any HDPE pipe installation required to be leak-resistant will be noted on the plans. 
 

d) Joints for CMP. 
Coupling Bands for CMP: Couplings shall be a minimum 16-gauge thickness and of the same 

material as the pipe. Pipe ends shall be re-corrugated with annular corrugations to match the bands. 
Couplings shall provide enough longitudinal strength to preserve pipe alignment and prevent separation 
at the joints. Use “Hugger” type connecting bands with rubber “O” ring gaskets meeting ASTM D1056 
for all CMP installations. CMP shall not be used for leak resistant applications. 

 
7. DRAINAGE STRUCTURES AND APPURTENANCES: 

 Catch basins, manholes, and area drains shall be precast concrete as shown on the Plans or as 
otherwise directed by the County Engineer. Round Precast concrete structures shall meet the applicable 
requirements of ASTM C478. Square and or Rectangular precast concrete structures shall meet ASTM 
C913 requirements for wall thickness, slab thickness, concrete strength, and steel reinforcement 
requirements. 
 
a) Pipe to Structure Connections. 

a. Flexible-leak resistant connections shall be provided for all flexible pipe (CMP, HDPP, 
HDPE) to structure connections, connections shall be compression connector type or boots 
and shall conform to ASTM C923, ASTM C1478, and ASTM F2510. All structure 
connections with flexible pipe shall also be supplied and installed with an exterior filter fabric 
jacket. 
 

b. RCP to structure connections can be made with a neat non-shrink grout connection unless 
the installation requires a leak resistant performance. When the RCP installation are 
required to be leak resistant the RCP to structure connection shall be made with a 
compression connector type or boot and shall conform to ASTM C923, ASTM C1478, and 
ASTM F2510. 
 

b) Grates, Frames, and Curb Castings. Conforming to the requirements of ASTM A48, Class 30. 
Machining of contact surfaces will be required so that covers and grates rest securely on the frames. 
 

c) Mortar. Shall be composed of one-part Portland cement and 2 parts sands (volumetric measure). 
Mortar that has been mixed for more than 30 minutes which has been retempered or which has "set" 
shall not be used in the work. 
 

d) Brick (for grate grade adjustments). Grade SM, ASTM C32, or concrete brick conforming to the 
requirements of ASTM C55, Grade N-I. 
 

e) Headwalls and End Sections. Shall be precast concrete as shown on the Plans or as otherwise directed 
by the County Engineer. 
 

f) Install Manhole and structures to meet ASTM C1821. 

157

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-4 

 

 
8. EXAMINATION: 

 
a) Verify that excavation is ready to receive work of this Section, and that excavations, dimensions and 

elevations are as indicated on the Drawings. 
 

b) Before placing pipe in the trench, field inspect pipe for cracks, tears, dents, joint damage, or other 
defects; remove defective pipe from the construction site. Inspection, evaluation, and acceptance of 
RCP pipe prior to its placement shall be in accordance with AASHTO R-73.  
 

c) Do not install drainage structure until mass grading has resulted in rough sub-grade elevations through 
the work area or the embankment materials have been placed to an elevation of one foot above the top 
of the pipe to be placed. 

 
9. PREPARATION: 

 
a) Prior to laying pipe. 

  
a. Confirm trench width meets trench standard drawing. Trench width must accommodate Pipe 

OD and enough room on each side of pipe to compact backfill material. 
 

b. Confirm the foundation is firm. If foundation is soft or groundwater encountered contact 
Project Engineer of Record for corrective action required before installing pipe. 
 

c. Install 6” of well-graded (no particle size greater than 1”) granular bedding to the appropriate 
elevation and slope. Bedding material shall be Type 1 or Type 2 Foundation Backfill Material 
as specified in GDOT 812 Backfill Materials. 
 

d. Do not compact the bedding material prior to placing the pipe in the trench.  
 

e. Swab the interior of the pipe to remove all undesirable material. 
 

f. Prepare the bell end and remove undesirable material from the gasket and gasket recess. 
 

10. INSTALLING STORMWATER PIPE: 
 
a) Lay pipe in a straight line on a uniform grade from structure to structure. Lay pipe beginning at the 

downstream structure and progress upstream with the bell (groove) end facing upstream.  
 

b) Support each section throughout its length and form a close concentric joint with the adjoining pipe. If 
pipe is supplied with a protruding bell the installer shall excavate a small area in the bedding to 
accommodate the protruding bell so that the entire barrel of the pipe will be supported throughout its 
length. 
 

c) Once pipe is in place and prior to placing structural backfill compact the bedding material on each side 
of the pipe.  
 

d) Make junctions and turns with standard or special fittings. 
 

e) Do not open more trench at any time than pumping facilities are able to dewater. 
 

158

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-5 

 

f) Whenever the work ceases, close the end of the pipe with a tight-fitting plug or cover. 
 

g) Close all openings provided for future use and abandoned pipe with a tight-fitting plug sealed to avoid 
leakage. 
 

h) When the pipe connects with structures, the exposed ends shall be placed or cut off flush with the 
interior face of the structure and satisfactory connections made. 
 

i) Any pipe which is not in good alignment, or which shows any undue settlement or damage shall be 
taken up and re-laid without additional compensation. 
 

j) Laying pipe and sealing joints shall be a continuous operation. 
a. Construct the joints in such a manner that a soil-tight joint or leak-resistant joint (in locations as 

noted on plans) will result 
 

k) Joints for rigid pipe: 
 
a. Install preformed flexible sealant or rubber gasket (soil-tight applications); fully wrap exterior of 

joint with filter fabric when flexible sealant is used. 
 

b. Install rubber gasket for any noted leak-resistant applications (proper lubrication and 
equalization of the gasket is required per joint manufactures recommendations); or 
 

c. Other types of joints recommended by the pipe manufacturer and approved. When other type 
joints are permitted, install, or construct in accordance with the recommendations of the 
manufacturer. 

l) Firmly join HDPP/HDPE utilizing the pre-installed rubber gasket. 
 

m) Install CMP by utilizing coupling bands and rubber gaskets. 
 

n) When strutting or vertical elongation of CMP is required, it shall be performed in accordance with the 
details shown on the Plans. 
 

o) Leave ties and struts for CMP in place until the embankment is completed, unless otherwise specified. 
 

p) Install and compact specified materials in the bedding, haunch, and structural embedment zone as 
shown on the trench details.  
 
a. Install structural embedment backfill in 6” lifts and compact to springline (midpoint) of RCP. 

 
b. Install structural embedment backfill in 6” lift and compact to 6” above the pipe for all flexible pipe 

(CMP, HDPP, & HDPE) installations. 
 

c. All pipe to be installed in roadway with 2’ (foot) or less of cover from top of pipe to bottom of 
pavement section shall be backfilled with structural embedment backfill in 8” (inch) loose lifts for the 
full depth of the trench. 

 
q) As the work progresses, clean the interior of all pipe in place. 

 

159

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-6 

 

r) Protect RCP from construction damage by placing 3 feet of compacted soil above the pipe & 5 feet of 
compacted soil for all other pipe material prior to allowing heavy construction traffic to cross pipe 
installation. 
 

s) Make connections to catch-basins, other structures, or by installing wyes or tees as shown on the 
Plans. Wyes and tees for future connections shall be installed as indicated. 

 
11. INSTALLING CATCH BASINS, MANHOLES AND CLEANOUTS: 
 

a) Form bottom of excavation clean and smooth to correct elevation. 
 

b) Place Precast concrete base, with provision for pipe entry. 
 

c) Establish elevations and pipe inverts for inlets and outlets as indicated.  
 

d) Mount lid and frame level in grout, secured to top cone section to elevations indicated. Set true to line 
and grade and such that the entire surface of the casting is in contact with the bearing surface of the 
structure. 
 

e) All castings shall be set firm and snug and shall not rattle. 
 

f) All catch basin, manhole and cleanout castings and boxes shall be adjusted to final grade upon 
completion of the paving operations. Final adjustment shall be made by the contractor that installed the 
respective utility line. 

 
12. FIELD QUALITY CONTROL:  

 
a) Inspection During Construction (All Pipe types): 

a. Prior to placing structural backfill, allow the Owner’s Representative to observe installed pipe. 
 

b. Inspect the pipe before any backfill is placed. 
(1) Joint gap for soil tight joints shall not exceed 3/4” width for any pipe type. 
(2) Joint Gap for any leak resistant joint shall not exceed ½.” 

 
c. During the placement of structural backfill the installer shall employ a geotechnical engineer to 

complete compaction test of the structural backfill. Compaction testing shall be completed on each 
6” lift of structural embedment backfill for every 500 LF of pipe trench for all pipe installed. The 
structural embedment for RCP terminates at the springline of the pipe, and structural embedment 
for all metal and plastic pipe terminates 6” above the top of the pipe.  
 

d. Contractor shall provide Video, Laser Video or Manway physical inspection on projects that have 
more than 500 linear feet of storm drainpipe and on roadways with an AADT greater than 250 
vehicles. Conduct video inspection in accordance with the requirements of this Specification and 
GDOT GDT 136, current edition, on 20% of all storm drainpipe and 10% of all side drain driveway 
pipe installations. Unless the County Engineer or designee directs otherwise, schedule the 
inspections for the selected locations no sooner than 30 days after completing pipe installations to 
be tested. Before post installation inspection, dewater installed pipe (if necessary) and provide the 
County Engineer or designee with a post installation inspection schedule. Notify the County 
Engineer or designee at least seven days in advance of beginning inspection. Perform post 
installation inspections once compacted backfill has reached a depth of 8 feet or after completion of 
the pipe installation and final cover, which includes the embankment and all non-asphalt bases 

160

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-7 

 

and/or subgrades. Notify the County Engineer or designee if distresses or locations of improper 
installation are discovered. When camera testing shows distresses or improper installation in the 
installed pipe, County Engineer or designee may require corrective action or adjustments in 
payment per GDOT Section 550.5.01 Adjustments, dated November 21, 2019, or current edition.  
 
Video (RCP and HDPE, HDPP, CMP) and laser profiling (for HDPE, HDPP, CMP) measurement 
technology must be certified by the company performing the work to meet the requirements of 
GDOT GDT 136. 
 
Manual post installation inspection allowed for pipe diameters greater than 48 inches. Acceptance 
and payment of RCP and HDPE, HDPP, CMP is per GDOT 550, current addition, Section 550.5.01 
Adjustments. 

` 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

161

Item X. 3.



 

 

 

  July 2024   02400-8 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

END OF SECTION  
 
 
 

 

162

Item X. 3.



Staff Report          

   
Subject: GMC Contract - Engineering Evaluation of the Effingham County Goshen Commercial 

Park Well System   

Author: Jonathan Hulme  

Department: Engineering  

Date:  July 16, 2024  

  

Item Description: GMC Contract - Engineering Evaluation of the Effingham County 

Goshen Commercial Park Well System   

  

Summary Recommendation:  
This will evaluation will determine the best use of the existing well(currently not in use), permit 

for the well and water tower located next to GITC in to provide water in the general vicinity of 

southern portion of Old Augusta Road.  

  

Executive Summary/Background:   

Currently Effingham County owns a well located at Goshen Commercial Park Road in South 

Effingham County, GA.  The well is currently not in operation.  It is our understanding that your 

well system is permitted for 539,000 Gallons Per Day (GPD) monthly average and 335,000 GPD 

annual average beginning in January 2025.  Also, there is the GITC 500,000-gallon elevated 

storage tank, serving several warehouses in the GA International Trade Center.  In addition, there 

is currently an apartment community, Leo at the Sanctuary, located on Old Augusta Road and 

other residential and commercial properties to be served in the area.  Existing properties are 

currently served with Savannah I&D surface water.    

GMC will evaluate the feasibility of providing the service area, including the properties noted 

above, with groundwater. 

Alternatives:  
Approve the proposal of GMC Contract - Engineering Evaluation of the Effingham County 

Goshen Commercial Park Well System. 

  

Deny the proposal of GMC Contract - Engineering Evaluation of the Effingham County 

Goshen Commercial Park Well System. 

  

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2  

  

Department Review:  Engineering Department   FUNDING: N/A  

  

Attachments: GMC Contract - Engineering Evaluation of the Effingham County Goshen 

Commercial Park Well System Proposal  

 

163

Item X. 4.



  

 
 
 
 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
Tim Callanan 
County Manager 
804 South Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
Date: June 17, 2024 
 
RE: Engineering Evaluation of the Effingham County Goshen Commercial Park Well 

System  
 
Dear Mr. Callanan: 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit a proposal for the Engineering Evaluation of the 
Effingham County Goshen Commercial Park Well System (System). Our team is composed 
of professionals committed to meet your needs and the goals for that will be established 
for the project. We have prepared this proposal for your review and look forward to working 
with you throughout this evaluation.  
 
In accordance with our conversations, we have the following understanding of the Project 
Scope and the primary work items requiring our involvement: 
 
PROJECT SCOPE: 
Currently Effingham County owns a well located at Goshen Commercial Park Road in 
South Effingham County, GA.  The well is currently not in operation.  It is our 
understanding that your well system is permitted for 539,000 Gallons Per Day (GPD) 
monthly average and 335,000 GPD annual average beginning in January 2025.  Also, there 
is the GITC 500,000-gallon elevated storage tank, serving several warehouses in the GA 
International Trade Center.  In addition, there is currently an apartment community, Leo 
at the Sanctuary, located on Old Augusta Road and other residential and commercial 
properties to be served in the area.  Existing properties are currently served with 
Savannah I&D surface water.   
 
GMC will evaluate the feasibility of providing the service area, including the properties 
noted above, with groundwater. 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES: 
Below is the scope as we understand it: 
 
Task 0 - Project Management 
Project management will consist of all meetings associated with the scope of work. GMC 
will perform the following Project Management tasks: 

• Kick-off Meeting to discuss information and data required to be provided by the 
County to complete the evaluation (Completed on 06/05/24) 

• WS1: Recommendations Workshop 
164

Item X. 4.



 

Task 1 – Site Visit & Data Review 
GMC will conduct site visits and review pertinent data.  Site Visit and Data Review Tasks 
include: 

• Site visit of the Goshen Commercial Park well site and GITC Tank 
• Evaluate existing GIS information on the water system, demand data, record 

drawings, well data and tank data for the service area 

Task 2 - Demand Projections and Capacity Analysis 
Task 2 consists of the review of existing and development of projected water demands for 
the service area. GMC will perform the following Demand Projections and Capacity Analysis 
tasks: 

• Develop and define planning window 
• Review/update population and demand projections 
• Develop and define future demands 
• Analyze & document well and tank capacities 

Task 3 – Hydraulic Modeling 
Based on existing GIS information on the water system, demand data, well data and tank 
data, GMC will prepare a hydraulic model for the service area distribution system using 
WaterGEMS by Bentley.  Modeling tasks will include: 

• Well, Tank and Distribution System Data Assessment 
• Preparation of a hydraulic model of the water system infrastructure for the service 

area using WaterGEMS by Bentley 
• Model Calibration by simulating existing fire flow conditions, water supply records, 

anecdotal information obtained from operations staff, and pressure readings taken 
by GMC in the field. 

Task 4 – Water System Evaluation & Technical Memo 
GMC will evaluate the feasibility of providing the service area with groundwater. 
GMC will perform the following Water System Evaluation tasks: 

• Alternative analysis for service of the area with groundwater 
• Perform cost analysis of service alternatives 
• Development of Technical Memo (TM1) 
• Receive and address comments from Recommendations Workshop  
• Delivery of final version of TM1 

B. ASSUMPTIONS/EXCLUSIONS: 
Assumptions: 

• Requested pertinent information is supplied by County 

Exclusions: 
• System Permitting and Testing 
• Site survey 
• Geotechnical investigation 
• Design and construction 

Separate costs will be provided to perform these services, if required, once a specific 
proposed project has been identified. 
 

165

Item X. 4.



 

B. COMPENSATION: 
We propose performing the work illustrated above under the “Scope of Services” section in 
accordance with the below cost breakdown. 
 

Task Basic Services Fee 
Task 0 - Project Management $  3,800.00 
Task 1 – Site Visit & Data Review $  6,400.00 
Task 2 - Demand Projections & Capacity Analysis  $  4,700.00 
Task 3 – Hydraulic Modeling $14,900.00 
Task 4 – Water System Evaluation Report (TM1) $11,800.00 
Total $41,600.00 

 
PAYMENT TERMS: 
Professional services will be invoiced monthly in accordance with the status of the work. 
Payment is due 30 days from the invoice date, and is consider past-due thereafter. Past-
due invoices will accrue interest at a rate of one percent (1%) per month. 
 
C. PROJECT SCHEDULE: 
We propose performing the work illustrated above under the “Scope of Services” section in 
90 Days.  We will commence the work within 14 days after receiving the signed agreement. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to work with you over the course of this project, and trust 
our proposal is consistent with your expectations. Please feel free to contact me at your 
convenience to discuss the terms of this proposal and any questions or concerns you may 
have. 
 
Sincerely: 
GOODWYN MILLS AND CAWOOD, LLC. 

 

James C. Vaughn, P.E. 
Engineering Market Leader 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 
 
________________________ 
Approval Date 
 

166

Item X. 4.



Staff Report            

Subject: Ordinance Revision 

Author: Jonathan Hulme 

Department: Engineering 

Date:  July 16, 2024 

 

Item Description: Part II- Official Code, Chapter 34- Article III- Section 34.83  

 

Summary Recommendation: 
The current ordinance contradicts the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual.  

 

Executive Summary/Background:  
Engineering is recommending the following changes: 

• Eliminate the text “more than one foot at any point within the community.” 

• No rise is common industry practice and would help clarify the contradiction. 

 

 

Alternatives: 
Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Amendment to Part II, Appendix C, Article 

III, Section 34.83  

 

Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Amendment to Part II, Appendix C, Article 

III, Section 34.83  

 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review:  Engineering     FUNDING: N/A 

 

Attachments: Amendment To Part II, Chapter 34, Article III, Section 34.83  

167

Item X. 5.



(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

a.

1.

2.

3.

b.

c.

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(1)

a.

(2)

(3)

a.

b.

1.

2.

c.

d.

1.

2.

3.

(4)

a.

b.

(1)

ARTICLE III. - PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION

Sec. 34-81. - General standards.

In all areas of special flood hazard the following provisions are required:

New construction and substantial improvements of existing structures shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the structure;

New construction and substantial improvements of existing structures shall be constructed with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage;

New construction or substantial improvements of existing structures shall be constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damage;

Elevated buildings. All new construction or substantial improvements of existing structures that include any fully enclosed area located below the lowest floor formed by foundation and other exterior walls

shall be designed so as to be an unfinished or flood resistant enclosure. The enclosure shall be designed to equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for the automatic entry and exit of

floodwater:

Designs for complying with this requirement must either be certified by a professional engineer or architect or meet the following minimum criteria:

Provide a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding;

The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade; and

Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves or other coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of floodwater in both directions.

So as not to violate the "lowest floor" criteria of this chapter, the unfinished or flood resistant enclosure shall only be used for parking of vehicles, limited storage of maintenance equipment used in

connection with the premises, or entry to the elevated area; and

The interior portion of such enclosed area shall not be partitioned or finished into separate rooms.

All heating and air conditioning equipment and components (including ductwork), all electrical, ventilation, plumbing, and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water from

entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding;

Manufactured homes shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement. Methods of anchoring may include, but are not limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.

This standard shall be in addition to and consistent with applicable state requirements for resisting wind forces;

New and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the system;

New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the systems and discharges from the systems into floodwaters;

On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during flooding; and

Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvement to a structure which is not compliant with the provisions of this chapter shall be undertaken only if the non-conformity is not furthered, extended or

replaced.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-82. - Speci�c standards.

In all areas of special flood hazard the following provisions are required:

New construction and/or substantial improvements. Where base flood elevation data are available, new construction and/or substantial improvement of any structure or manufactured home shall have the

lowest floor, including basement, elevated no lower than one foot above the base flood elevation. Should solid foundation perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings sufficient to facilitate

equalization of flood hydrostatic forces on both sides of exterior walls shall be provided in accordance with standards of subsection 34-81(4) of this article.

All heating and air conditioning equipment and components (including ductwork), all electrical, ventilation, plumbing, and other service facilities shall be elevated at or above one foot above the base

flood elevation.

Non-residential construction. New construction and/or the substantial improvement of any structure located in A1-30, AE, or AH zones may be floodproofed in lieu of elevation. The structure, together with

attendant utility and sanitary facilities, must be designed to be watertight to one foot above the base flood elevation, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and structural

components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of

construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions above, and shall provide such certification to the county engineer as set forth in subsection 34-49(6) of this

chapter.

Standards for manufactured homes and recreational vehicles. Where base flood elevation data are available:

All manufactured homes placed and/or substantially improved on: (1) individual lots or parcels, (2) in new and/or substantially improved existing manufactured home parks or subdivisions, (3) in

expansions to existing manufactured home parks or subdivisions, or (4) on a site in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision where a manufactured home has incurred "substantial damage"

as a result of a flood must have the lowest floor including basement elevated no lower than one foot above the base flood elevation.

Manufactured homes placed and/or substantially improved in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision may be elevated so that either:

The lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated no lower than one foot above the level of the base flood elevation; or

The manufactured home chassis is elevated and supported by reinforced piers (or other foundation elements of at least an equivalent strength) of no less than 36 inches in height above grade.

All manufactured homes must be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse and lateral movement (reference subsection 34-81(6)).

All recreational vehicles placed on sites must either:

Be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days;

Be fully licensed and ready for highway use, (a recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is licensed, on its wheels or jacking system, attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities

and security devices, and has no permanently attached structures or additions); or

The recreational vehicle must meet all the requirements for "new construction," including the anchoring and elevation requirements of items a. and c., above.

Floodway—Located within areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7 may be areas designated as floodway. A floodway may be an extremely hazardous area due to velocity floodwaters, debris

or erosion potential. In addition, the area must remain free of encroachment in order to allow for the discharge of the base flood without increased flood heights. Therefore, the following provisions shall

apply:

Encroachments are prohibited, including earthen fill, new construction, substantial improvements or other development within the regulatory floodway. Development may be permitted provided that it

is demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in accordance with standard engineering practice that the encroachment shall not result in any increase in flood levels or floodway

widths during a base flood discharge. A registered professional engineer must provide supporting technical data and certification thereof.

Any new construction or substantial improvement allowed in accordance with subsection a. above shall comply with all other applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of this article.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-83. - Building standards for streams without established base �ood elevations and/or �oodway (A-zones).

Within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7, where streams exist but no base flood data have been provided (A-zones), or where base flood data have been provided but a floodway has not been

delineated, the following provisions apply:

5/23/24, 5:04 PM Effingham County, GA Code of Ordinances

about:blank 1/2

50

Item II. 5.

168

Item X. 5.

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


(2)

(3)

a.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(a)

(b)

When base flood elevation data or floodway data have not been provided by FEMA in accordance with section 34-7, then the county engineer may obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any scientific or historic base flood

elevation and floodway data available from a federal, state, or other source, in order to administer the provisions of this article. If data are not available from these sources, then the following provisions (2) and (3) shall

apply.

No encroachments, including structures or fill material, shall be located within an area equal to the width of the stream or within 20 feet, whichever is greater, measured from the top of the stream bank,

unless certification by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that such encroachment shall not result in more than a one foot increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the base

flood discharge.

In special flood hazard areas without base flood elevation data, new construction and substantial improvements of existing structures shall have the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including

basement) elevated no less than three feet above the highest adjacent grade at the building site. NOTE: Require the lowest floor to be elevated one foot above the estimated base flood elevation in A-zone

areas where a limited detail study has been completed). Openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with standards of subsection 34-81(4) of

this article.

All heating and air conditioning equipment and components (including ductwork), all electrical, ventilation, plumbing, and other service facilities shall be elevated no less than three feet above the

highest adjacent grade at the building site.

A registered land surveyor or professional engineer shall certify the lowest floor elevation level to the county engineer and the record shall become a permanent part of the permit file.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-84. - Standards for areas of special �ood hazard (zones AE) with established base �ood elevations without designated �oodways.

Within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7 where streams with base flood elevations are provided but no floodways have been designated (zones AE), the following provisions apply:

No encroachments, including fill material, new structures or substantial improvements shall be located within areas of special flood hazard, unless certification by a registered professional engineer is

provided demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the

base flood more than one foot at any point within the community. The engineering certification should be supported by technical data that conforms to standard hydraulic engineering principles.

New construction or substantial improvements of buildings shall be elevated or floodproofed to elevations established in accordance with section 34-82 of this article.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-85. - Standards for areas of shallow �ooding (AO zones).

Areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7 may include designated "AO" shallow flooding areas. These areas have base flood depths of one to three feet above ground, with no clearly defined channel. The

following provisions apply:

All new construction and substantial improvements of residential and non-residential structures shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to the flood depth number specified on the flood

insurance rate map (FIRM), above the highest adjacent grade. If no flood depth number is specified, the lowest floor, including basement, shall be elevated at least three feet above the highest adjacent

grade. Openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with standards of subsection 34-81(4) of this article.

A registered land surveyor or professional engineer shall certify the lowest floor elevation level to the county engineer and the record shall become a permanent part of the permit file.

New construction or the substantial improvement of a non-residential structure may be floodproofed in lieu of elevation. The structure, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, must be

designed to be watertight to the specified FIRM flood level plus one foot above highest adjacent grade, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and structural components having the

capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of construction are in

accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions above, and shall provide such certification to the official as set forth above and as required in subsections 34-47(1)c. and (2).

Drainage paths shall be provided to guide floodwater around and away from any proposed structure.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-86. - Standards for subdivisions.

For the purposes this section, "subdivisions" shall include only major subdivisions as defined in the subdivision regulations (appendix B), and "development" shall not include those activities exempt under the

development plan ordinance (appendix E).

All subdivision and/or development proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage;

All subdivision and/or development proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage;

All subdivision and/or development proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards; and

For subdivisions and/or developments greater than 50 lots or five acres, whichever is less, base flood elevation data shall be provided for subdivision and all other proposed development, including

manufactured home parks and subdivisions. Any changes or revisions to the flood data adopted herein and shown on the FIRM shall be submitted to FEMA for review as a conditional letter of map revision

(CLOMR) or conditional letter of map amendment (CLOMA), whichever is applicable. Upon completion of the project, the developer is responsible for submitting the "as-built" data to FEMA in order to obtain

the final LOMR and assuring that the new base flood boundary, floodway and/or V zone boundary if applicable, and the applicable base flood elevation for the building site on each lot, be clearly marked on

all recorded subdivision plats, be they for residential, commercial, or industrial use.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-87. - Standards for critical facilities.

Critical facilities shall not be located in the area of special flood hazard.

All ingress and egress from any critical facility must be protected to the highest known base flood elevation.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

5/23/24, 5:04 PM Effingham County, GA Code of Ordinances

about:blank 2/2

51

Item II. 5.

169

Item X. 5.

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
jhulme
Line

jhulme
Text Box
an



 

13 | P a g e  
 

B. For pipe depths between 5.1 and 10.0 feet and less from pipe invert to proposed finished 
grade, the easement or right-of-way width is to be 25 feet. 

C. For pipe depths 10.1 feet and greater from pipe invert to proposed finished grade, the 
easement or right-of-way width is to be 30 feet. 
 

Drainage easements may be used for other easements with the written approval of the County 
Engineer or his designee and with consent of the easement holders. Nothing shall be constructed 
which prohibits the use of the drainage easements for access to various properties and other 
compatible uses without the written authorization of the County Engineer or his designee. 
 
All stormwater drainage easements shall be recorded with the clerk of Superior Court of 
Effingham County. 
 
A developer may be required to provide adequate easements downstream from his proposed 
discharge if adequate public or private facilities do not exist to carry the proposed discharge. 
 
4.3.8. Flood Elevation Impacts  
 
All design work should be performed in strict conformance with applicable local, state, and 
federal government agency requirements pertaining to floodplain management. All development 
activity shall be designed to maintain the flooding capacity of the flood hazrd area, unless: 
 

1. It can be demonstrated that there is no increase, either upstream or downstream in the 
base flood elevation after the proposed improvement; and, 

2. Compensating storage is provided for all flood volume displaced by the proposed 
development or redevelopment activities below the base flood elevation. 
 

It is the policy of Effingham County that raising the flood water elevation on an adjacent 
property shall not be acceptable. As such, the LOS standards outlined in the Effingham County 
LDM shall be considered minimum standards. Where flood elevation(s) on an adjacent property 
will be increased due to development and/or construction of a drainage system, the LOS may be 
increased by the County Engineer or his designee in an effort to minimize impacts to the adjacent 
property. This requirement may be waived at the County’s discretion if the adjacent property 
owner provides a permanent drainage easement between the two property owners. The easement 
shall provide that the owner of the impacted property acknowledges that an increase in flood 
elevations will occur on their property as a result of the proposed development. Additionally, the 
easement shall include at a minimum a map showing the extent of the pre-development and post-
development 100-year floodplains. The party responsible for causing the impacts to the 
floodplain shall address any applicable FEMA or other regulatory requirements as part of the 
design and permitting effort. 
 
 Finally, the easement must be recorded with the Clerk of Superior Court of Effingham County 
as an attachment to the affected property’s land deed and shall be binding on all future property 
owners. Long term maintenance of the easement shall be the responsibility of the private 
property owners in accordance with the provisions outlined in the easement. 
 

170

Item X. 5.



Staff Report            

Subject: Ordinance Revision 

Author: Jonathan Hulme 

Department: Engineering 

Date:  July 16, 2024 

 

Item Description: Part II- Official Code, Chapter 34- Article III- Section 34.84 

 

Summary Recommendation: 
The current ordinance contradicts the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual.  

 

Executive Summary/Background:  
Engineering is recommending the following changes: 

• Eliminate the text “more than one foot at any point within the community.” 

• No rise is common industry practice and would help clarify the contradiction. 

 

 

Alternatives: 
Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Amendment to Part II, Appendix C, Article 

III, Section 34.84  

 

Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Amendment to Part II, Appendix C, Article 

III, Section 34.84  

 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review:  Engineering     FUNDING: N/A 

 

Attachments: Amendment To Part II, Chapter 34, Article III, Section 34.84 

171

Item X. 6.



 

13 | P a g e  
 

B. For pipe depths between 5.1 and 10.0 feet and less from pipe invert to proposed finished 
grade, the easement or right-of-way width is to be 25 feet. 

C. For pipe depths 10.1 feet and greater from pipe invert to proposed finished grade, the 
easement or right-of-way width is to be 30 feet. 
 

Drainage easements may be used for other easements with the written approval of the County 
Engineer or his designee and with consent of the easement holders. Nothing shall be constructed 
which prohibits the use of the drainage easements for access to various properties and other 
compatible uses without the written authorization of the County Engineer or his designee. 
 
All stormwater drainage easements shall be recorded with the clerk of Superior Court of 
Effingham County. 
 
A developer may be required to provide adequate easements downstream from his proposed 
discharge if adequate public or private facilities do not exist to carry the proposed discharge. 
 
4.3.8. Flood Elevation Impacts  
 
All design work should be performed in strict conformance with applicable local, state, and 
federal government agency requirements pertaining to floodplain management. All development 
activity shall be designed to maintain the flooding capacity of the flood hazrd area, unless: 
 

1. It can be demonstrated that there is no increase, either upstream or downstream in the 
base flood elevation after the proposed improvement; and, 

2. Compensating storage is provided for all flood volume displaced by the proposed 
development or redevelopment activities below the base flood elevation. 
 

It is the policy of Effingham County that raising the flood water elevation on an adjacent 
property shall not be acceptable. As such, the LOS standards outlined in the Effingham County 
LDM shall be considered minimum standards. Where flood elevation(s) on an adjacent property 
will be increased due to development and/or construction of a drainage system, the LOS may be 
increased by the County Engineer or his designee in an effort to minimize impacts to the adjacent 
property. This requirement may be waived at the County’s discretion if the adjacent property 
owner provides a permanent drainage easement between the two property owners. The easement 
shall provide that the owner of the impacted property acknowledges that an increase in flood 
elevations will occur on their property as a result of the proposed development. Additionally, the 
easement shall include at a minimum a map showing the extent of the pre-development and post-
development 100-year floodplains. The party responsible for causing the impacts to the 
floodplain shall address any applicable FEMA or other regulatory requirements as part of the 
design and permitting effort. 
 
 Finally, the easement must be recorded with the Clerk of Superior Court of Effingham County 
as an attachment to the affected property’s land deed and shall be binding on all future property 
owners. Long term maintenance of the easement shall be the responsibility of the private 
property owners in accordance with the provisions outlined in the easement. 
 

172

Item X. 6.



(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

a.

1.

2.

3.

b.

c.

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(1)

a.

(2)

(3)

a.

b.

1.

2.

c.

d.

1.

2.

3.

(4)

a.

b.

(1)

ARTICLE III. - PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION

Sec. 34-81. - General standards.

In all areas of special flood hazard the following provisions are required:

New construction and substantial improvements of existing structures shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the structure;

New construction and substantial improvements of existing structures shall be constructed with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage;

New construction or substantial improvements of existing structures shall be constructed by methods and practices that minimize flood damage;

Elevated buildings. All new construction or substantial improvements of existing structures that include any fully enclosed area located below the lowest floor formed by foundation and other exterior walls

shall be designed so as to be an unfinished or flood resistant enclosure. The enclosure shall be designed to equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for the automatic entry and exit of

floodwater:

Designs for complying with this requirement must either be certified by a professional engineer or architect or meet the following minimum criteria:

Provide a minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding;

The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade; and

Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves or other coverings or devices provided they permit the automatic flow of floodwater in both directions.

So as not to violate the "lowest floor" criteria of this chapter, the unfinished or flood resistant enclosure shall only be used for parking of vehicles, limited storage of maintenance equipment used in

connection with the premises, or entry to the elevated area; and

The interior portion of such enclosed area shall not be partitioned or finished into separate rooms.

All heating and air conditioning equipment and components (including ductwork), all electrical, ventilation, plumbing, and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent water from

entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding;

Manufactured homes shall be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement. Methods of anchoring may include, but are not limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors.

This standard shall be in addition to and consistent with applicable state requirements for resisting wind forces;

New and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the system;

New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the systems and discharges from the systems into floodwaters;

On-site waste disposal systems shall be located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during flooding; and

Any alteration, repair, reconstruction or improvement to a structure which is not compliant with the provisions of this chapter shall be undertaken only if the non-conformity is not furthered, extended or

replaced.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-82. - Speci�c standards.

In all areas of special flood hazard the following provisions are required:

New construction and/or substantial improvements. Where base flood elevation data are available, new construction and/or substantial improvement of any structure or manufactured home shall have the

lowest floor, including basement, elevated no lower than one foot above the base flood elevation. Should solid foundation perimeter walls be used to elevate a structure, openings sufficient to facilitate

equalization of flood hydrostatic forces on both sides of exterior walls shall be provided in accordance with standards of subsection 34-81(4) of this article.

All heating and air conditioning equipment and components (including ductwork), all electrical, ventilation, plumbing, and other service facilities shall be elevated at or above one foot above the base

flood elevation.

Non-residential construction. New construction and/or the substantial improvement of any structure located in A1-30, AE, or AH zones may be floodproofed in lieu of elevation. The structure, together with

attendant utility and sanitary facilities, must be designed to be watertight to one foot above the base flood elevation, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and structural

components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of

construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions above, and shall provide such certification to the county engineer as set forth in subsection 34-49(6) of this

chapter.

Standards for manufactured homes and recreational vehicles. Where base flood elevation data are available:

All manufactured homes placed and/or substantially improved on: (1) individual lots or parcels, (2) in new and/or substantially improved existing manufactured home parks or subdivisions, (3) in

expansions to existing manufactured home parks or subdivisions, or (4) on a site in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision where a manufactured home has incurred "substantial damage"

as a result of a flood must have the lowest floor including basement elevated no lower than one foot above the base flood elevation.

Manufactured homes placed and/or substantially improved in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision may be elevated so that either:

The lowest floor of the manufactured home is elevated no lower than one foot above the level of the base flood elevation; or

The manufactured home chassis is elevated and supported by reinforced piers (or other foundation elements of at least an equivalent strength) of no less than 36 inches in height above grade.

All manufactured homes must be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist flotation, collapse and lateral movement (reference subsection 34-81(6)).

All recreational vehicles placed on sites must either:

Be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days;

Be fully licensed and ready for highway use, (a recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is licensed, on its wheels or jacking system, attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities

and security devices, and has no permanently attached structures or additions); or

The recreational vehicle must meet all the requirements for "new construction," including the anchoring and elevation requirements of items a. and c., above.

Floodway—Located within areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7 may be areas designated as floodway. A floodway may be an extremely hazardous area due to velocity floodwaters, debris

or erosion potential. In addition, the area must remain free of encroachment in order to allow for the discharge of the base flood without increased flood heights. Therefore, the following provisions shall

apply:

Encroachments are prohibited, including earthen fill, new construction, substantial improvements or other development within the regulatory floodway. Development may be permitted provided that it

is demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in accordance with standard engineering practice that the encroachment shall not result in any increase in flood levels or floodway

widths during a base flood discharge. A registered professional engineer must provide supporting technical data and certification thereof.

Any new construction or substantial improvement allowed in accordance with subsection a. above shall comply with all other applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of this article.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-83. - Building standards for streams without established base �ood elevations and/or �oodway (A-zones).

Within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7, where streams exist but no base flood data have been provided (A-zones), or where base flood data have been provided but a floodway has not been

delineated, the following provisions apply:

5/23/24, 5:04 PM Effingham County, GA Code of Ordinances

about:blank 1/2

50

Item II. 5.

173

Item X. 6.

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


(2)

(3)

a.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(a)

(b)

When base flood elevation data or floodway data have not been provided by FEMA in accordance with section 34-7, then the county engineer may obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any scientific or historic base flood

elevation and floodway data available from a federal, state, or other source, in order to administer the provisions of this article. If data are not available from these sources, then the following provisions (2) and (3) shall

apply.

No encroachments, including structures or fill material, shall be located within an area equal to the width of the stream or within 20 feet, whichever is greater, measured from the top of the stream bank,

unless certification by a registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that such encroachment shall not result in more than a one foot increase in flood levels during the occurrence of the base

flood discharge.

In special flood hazard areas without base flood elevation data, new construction and substantial improvements of existing structures shall have the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including

basement) elevated no less than three feet above the highest adjacent grade at the building site. NOTE: Require the lowest floor to be elevated one foot above the estimated base flood elevation in A-zone

areas where a limited detail study has been completed). Openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with standards of subsection 34-81(4) of

this article.

All heating and air conditioning equipment and components (including ductwork), all electrical, ventilation, plumbing, and other service facilities shall be elevated no less than three feet above the

highest adjacent grade at the building site.

A registered land surveyor or professional engineer shall certify the lowest floor elevation level to the county engineer and the record shall become a permanent part of the permit file.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-84. - Standards for areas of special �ood hazard (zones AE) with established base �ood elevations without designated �oodways.

Within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7 where streams with base flood elevations are provided but no floodways have been designated (zones AE), the following provisions apply:

No encroachments, including fill material, new structures or substantial improvements shall be located within areas of special flood hazard, unless certification by a registered professional engineer is

provided demonstrating that the cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the

base flood more than one foot at any point within the community. The engineering certification should be supported by technical data that conforms to standard hydraulic engineering principles.

New construction or substantial improvements of buildings shall be elevated or floodproofed to elevations established in accordance with section 34-82 of this article.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-85. - Standards for areas of shallow �ooding (AO zones).

Areas of special flood hazard established in section 34-7 may include designated "AO" shallow flooding areas. These areas have base flood depths of one to three feet above ground, with no clearly defined channel. The

following provisions apply:

All new construction and substantial improvements of residential and non-residential structures shall have the lowest floor, including basement, elevated to the flood depth number specified on the flood

insurance rate map (FIRM), above the highest adjacent grade. If no flood depth number is specified, the lowest floor, including basement, shall be elevated at least three feet above the highest adjacent

grade. Openings sufficient to facilitate the unimpeded movements of floodwaters shall be provided in accordance with standards of subsection 34-81(4) of this article.

A registered land surveyor or professional engineer shall certify the lowest floor elevation level to the county engineer and the record shall become a permanent part of the permit file.

New construction or the substantial improvement of a non-residential structure may be floodproofed in lieu of elevation. The structure, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, must be

designed to be watertight to the specified FIRM flood level plus one foot above highest adjacent grade, with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water, and structural components having the

capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and the effect of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the design and methods of construction are in

accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions above, and shall provide such certification to the official as set forth above and as required in subsections 34-47(1)c. and (2).

Drainage paths shall be provided to guide floodwater around and away from any proposed structure.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-86. - Standards for subdivisions.

For the purposes this section, "subdivisions" shall include only major subdivisions as defined in the subdivision regulations (appendix B), and "development" shall not include those activities exempt under the

development plan ordinance (appendix E).

All subdivision and/or development proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage;

All subdivision and/or development proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage;

All subdivision and/or development proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards; and

For subdivisions and/or developments greater than 50 lots or five acres, whichever is less, base flood elevation data shall be provided for subdivision and all other proposed development, including

manufactured home parks and subdivisions. Any changes or revisions to the flood data adopted herein and shown on the FIRM shall be submitted to FEMA for review as a conditional letter of map revision

(CLOMR) or conditional letter of map amendment (CLOMA), whichever is applicable. Upon completion of the project, the developer is responsible for submitting the "as-built" data to FEMA in order to obtain

the final LOMR and assuring that the new base flood boundary, floodway and/or V zone boundary if applicable, and the applicable base flood elevation for the building site on each lot, be clearly marked on

all recorded subdivision plats, be they for residential, commercial, or industrial use.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

Sec. 34-87. - Standards for critical facilities.

Critical facilities shall not be located in the area of special flood hazard.

All ingress and egress from any critical facility must be protected to the highest known base flood elevation.

(Ord. of 3-3-15, § 1)

5/23/24, 5:04 PM Effingham County, GA Code of Ordinances

about:blank 2/2

51

Item II. 5.

174

Item X. 6.

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
jhulme
Line

jhulme
Text Box
an



Staff Report        Public Hearing  

Subject:  Ordinance Revision  

Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 

Department:  Development Services 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description:  Consideration to approve the amendment of the Code of Ordinances Part II – 

Official Code: Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Section 3.17 - Excavation, Mining, Ponds, and Fills of 

land and/or State/Federal Jurisdictional Waters or Wetlands and 3.17A - Ponds—Construction of the 

Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  

 

Summary Recommendation 

The County needs Amendments to the current Ponds Ordinance. The County Planning Staff have 

suggested some clarification amendments and some setback amendments to the ordinance.  

 

Executive Summary/Background 

Recommended Clarifications: 

• Clarifying when projects must be reviewed by Planning Board and Board of Commissioners 

or only by County Staff. 

• Removal of Section 3.17A – All information is moved to Section 3.17.4 

Recommended Changes: 

• There must be a 50ft setback from any dwelling, church, school or highway right of way.  

• Buffers must adhere to the Buffer Ordinance.  

• Removal of Item #6 under Construction Requirements – 3.17.4 

  

Alternatives 
1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Section 3.17 & 3.17A 

2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Section 3.17 & 3.17A. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review: FUNDING: N/A 

 

Attachments:  1. Section 3.17 - Excavation, Mining, Ponds, and Fills of land and/or State/Federal 

Jurisdictional Waters or Wetlands and 3.17A - Ponds—Construction Red Line 

Version    

 

175

Item X. 7.



3.17 - Excavation, mining, ponds, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or 
wetlands. 

3.17.1 The following activities shall be subject to review by the county planning board: 
1. Excavation of land, or removal of earth that exceeds one acres of disturbed area. 
2. Removal of earth or like material from the subject site to another parcel. 
3. Filling of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or wetlands. 
If any 2 out of the 3 items above meets the project criteria, review by the planning 
board and approval by the board of commissioners is mandatory. If 1 of the 3 items 
above meets the project criteria, review by the County Engineer or their designee is 
mandatory.  

3.17.2 Excavation, mining, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or 
wetlands. Excavation, mining, and fills of land and/or state/federal jurisdictional waters or 
wetlands that are associated with a specific project that has been approved by the board of 
commissioners that comply with all other regulations set forth in this ordinance are exempt 
from section 3.17. 

3.17.3 Requirements for submittal for planning board and/or staff review. 

1. Application and checklist. 
a. Applications and a checklist may be obtained from the development 
services office. 
b. Application and checklist must be complete and submitted with all 
required information. 
c. Fees in accordance with the county schedule of fees must be paid at the 
time of application submittal. 

2. Excavation activities that have greater than one acre of disturbed area must 
obtain a state mining permit. A copy of the approved state mining permit must be 
submitted to the development services office prior to work commencing. 

3. Any excavation activity between one acre and ten acres that requires a state 
mining permit or is a GDOT-approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved 
project, may be permitted as a conditional use in the AR-1 and AR-2 zoning districts, 
upon approval of the board of commissioners, and after review by the planning 
board. 

4.Any excavation activity greater than one acre of disturbed area may be permitted 
in the PD-MR zoning district. Excavation activities that have greater than ten acres 
must be permitted in PD-MR. 

3.17.3A Requirements for approval and final inspection. 

1. Pond of less than one acre of disturbed area. Construction of the pond shall 
cease within six months of the approval date. The pond may be subject to a final 
inspection. 

176

Item X. 7.



2. For any excavation activity between one acre and ten acres that is approved as a 
conditional use in AR-1 or AR-2, and requires a state mining permit, or is a GDOT-
approved borrow-source or pit for a GDOT-approved project, the bond shall be 
submitted to DNR, if required. Excavation activities shall cease within three years of 
DNR or GDOT approval date. Extension of excavation activities beyond three years 
will require approval by the board of commissioners, after review by the planning 
board. Business operator shall maintain an annual occupation tax certificate, 
pursuant to article II, business and occupation tax, for a license to operate a surface 
mine. Applicant shall submit a survey of the completed excavation site to 
development services. A final inspection is required. All DNR reclamation 
requirements shall be met.  

3. For any excavation activity greater than one acre that requires a state mining 
permit and is permitted in PD-MR, or is a GDOT-approved borrow-source or pit for a 
GDOT-approved project, the bond shall be submitted to DNR, if required. Excavation 
activities shall cease within five years of DNR or GDOT-approval date. Extension of 
excavation activities beyond five years shall require approval by the board of 
commissioners, after review by the planning board. Business operator shall 
maintain an annual occupation tax certificate, pursuant to article II, business and 
occupation tax, for a license to operate a surface mine. Applicant shall submit a 
survey of the completed excavation site to development services. A final inspection 
is required. All DNR reclamation requirements shall be met. 

3.17.4 Construction requirements. 

1. All projects must comply with best management practices as outlined in the 
"Manual for Soil and Sediment Control in Georgia" as specified in O.C.G.A. § 12-7-6. 

2. Side slopes of any excavated area must be constructed at a maximum of 3:1 
slope (one foot in elevation change per three feet of horizontal distance) from the 
top of the excavation to the bottom at all times during construction and at 
completion of the excavation. All wet ponds must have a minimum 5ft depth and a 
minimum 10ft width from bottom of the bank, excluding stormwater ponds. 

3. All digging and hauling operations must be completed within six (6) months. All 
disturbed areas will have a permanent stand of grass established at completion. 

4. No digging and hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 
8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m, Monday through Friday for a pond less than one (1) acre and 
in an R Zoning District. A project of regional significance may be permitted 
alternative hours of operation, upon review and approval by the county manager or 
his designee. 

5. Unless a pond/excavation is to be shared by two or more parcels it shall be 
located at least 50 feet from the nearest property line. Proposed excavations shall 
not be nearer than 100 feet to any existing school, church, dwelling, or highway 
right-of-way. The location of the existing Pond may not be within 50ft from any 

177

Item X. 7.



proposed school, church, dwelling or highway right-of-way. No pond shall be 
located less than ten (10) feet from the nearest access or utility easements.  This 
section shall serve as the buffer requirements for surface mining operations. Refer 
to the Buffer Ordinance (Section 3.4) for Buffer requirements for Surface Mining 
Operations. 

6. The limits of excavation of the pond shall be located at a distance from the 
nearest access easement or utility easement, as follows: 

 a. For pond depths of ten inches or less, the limits of excavation of the pond 
shall be 20 inches from the nearest access easement or utility easement; 
and 

b. For every additional five-inch depth of pond, the additional distance from 
the nearest access easement or utility easement shall be ten inches. 

7. 6. All wetland impacts must be approved by the USACE. 

8. 7. The construction entrance and roadway shall be designed and built pursuant to 
GSWCC Construction Exit Guidance (2016 Edition). The roadway shall extend a 
minimum of 50 feet into the mine site from the paved entrance. 

(Ord. of 7-5-05; Ord. of 8-2-16, § 1; Ord. of 9-15-20 ; Ord. of 1-3-23(1) ) 

 

3.17A - Ponds—Construction. 

• No digging and hauling activities shall take place except between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 
p.m. Monday through Friday. 

• Unless a pond is to be shared by two or more parcels it shall be located at least 50 feet from the 
nearest property line. 

• No pond shall be located less than ten feet from the nearest access or utility easements. 

• The pond sides shall be sloped at a 3 to 1 run to rise ratio. 

• All wetland impacts must be approved by the USACE. 

• All digging and hauling operation must be completed within six months. 

 

(Ord. of 9-4-07, § 1(b)) 

178

Item X. 7.



Staff Report        Public Hearing  

Subject:  Ordinance Revision  

Author:  Samantha Easton, Planner II 

Department:  Development Services 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description:  Consideration to approve the amendment of the Code of Ordinances Part II – 

Official Code: Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 3.41 Swimming pools, private 

community, or club of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  

 

Summary Recommendation 

The County needs Amendments to the current Pools Ordinance. The County Planning Staff have 

suggested some clarification amendments and some setback amendments to the ordinance.  

 

Executive Summary/Background 

Recommended Clarifications: 

• Measuring to Waters Edge. 

• Pools cannot be in the front yard.  

• Pools are Permitted by Development Services. 

Recommended Changes: 

• Requiring a Fence around all Swimming Pools with a Locking Gate. 

• Private Swimming Pools that are used for Swimming Lessons have the same requirements 

as Community Swimming Pools.  

  

Alternatives 

1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Section 3.41 – Swimming Pools, 

Private Community or Club. 

2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Section 3.41 – Swimming Pools, Private 

Community or Club. 

Recommended Alternative: 1   Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review: FUNDING: N/A 

 
Attachments: 1. Section 3.41 – Swimming Pools, Private Community or Club Red Line Version    

 

179

Item X. 8.



 

 

 
    Created: 2023-03-28 15:01:28 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 27) 

 
Page 1 of 1 

3.41 Swimming pools, private community, or club. 

3.41.1 Swimming pools. A swimming pool, whether in the ground or permanently installed aboveground, or an 
above ground pool less than 48 inches in height above grade (Section 305.3 ISPSC) is hereby defined as any 
pool, lake, or open tank, other than a farm pond, which is not located within a completely enclosed building 
and which contains, or is capable of containing, water at a depth at any point greater than 1½ feet. No such 
private swimming pool shall be allowed permitted by Development Services in the B-1, AR, PUD districts, or 
in any R district, except as an accessory use, and unless it complies with the following conditions and 
requirements:  

3.41.2 Use. The pool is intended and is to be used solely for the enjoyment of the occupants of the principal use of 
the property on which it is located and their guests, and no fee shall be charged.  

3.41.3 Location. It may not be located, including any walks or paved areas or accessory structures adjacent 
thereto, closer than ten feet from water’s edge to any property line of the property on which it is located, and ten 
feet from any dwelling. Swimming Pools are prohibited in the front yard of any Agricultural and/or Residential 
Zoning District. 

3.41.4 Reserved. Fence. The swimming pool should be fenced at a minimum of four (4) foot with a self-latching 
gate with a lockable device that opens away from the pool to prevent uncontrolled access by children. 

3.41.5 Community or club swimming pools. A community or club swimming pool shall be any pool constructed by 
an association of property owners, or by a private club solely for use and enjoyment by members of the 
association or club and their families and guests of members. Community and club swimming pools shall comply 
with the following conditions and requirements:  

3.41.5.1 The pool and accessory structures thereto, including the areas used by the bathers, shall meet the 
front setback for the district in which it lies. Side and rear setbacks shall be ten feet.  

3.41.5.2 The swimming pool and all of the area used by the bathers shall be so walled or fenced as to 
prevent uncontrolled access by children from the street or adjacent properties. The said fence or wall 
shall not be less than four feet in height and maintained in good condition and grounded for electricity. 
The area surrounding the enclosure, except of the parking spaces, shall be suitably landscaped with 
grass, hardy shrubs, and trees and shall be maintained in good condition.  

3.41.6 Private Swimming Pools used for Swimming Lessons. A private pool hosting swimming lessons must adhere 
to the same standards as a community or club swimming pool in Section 3.41.5, as well as obtain a Home 
Occupation Tax Certificate.  

 

 

180

Item X. 8.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of the Task Order 24-IDC-RFP-067 for POND & Company 

Author: Danielle Carver, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department:  

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Task Order 24-IDC-RFP-067 for POND & Company 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of Task Order 24-IDC-RFP-067 for 

POND & Company to complete the design of the roundabout at SR-30 and Midland Road. 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 

 The Roundabout design for SR-30 and Midland Road was originally included in the 

Roberts Civil Engineering TSPLOST contract. The decision was made to remove this 

project from that contract. 

 Effingham County submitted an RFP to three of the firms on the IDC and two responded. 

 POND & Company at $432,097.28 

 Atlas Technical Consultants at $473,135.00 

 The evaluation criteria was based on 45% Cost, 45% Schedule and 10% Proposed 

Work Plan. 

 The proposals have been reviewed by staff and POND was selected to complete the 

design. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Task Order 24-IDC-RFP-067 for POND & Company to complete the design 

of the roundabout at SR-30 and Midland Road for $432,097.28. 

2. Take no action. 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Engineer, PCPM, T&H 

Funding Source: Budget Amendment may be Necessary 

Attachments: NTP and POND Proposal, Vendor Scores by Evaluation Criteria 

181

Item X. 9.



2 

24-IDC RFP-067 - RE-BID I-6 SR 30 at Midland Road

  NOTICE TO PROCEED 

TO: 

RE: NOTICE TO PROCEED 

        Task Order: 24-IDC RFP-067 - RE-BID I-6 SR 30 at Midland Road

Please consider this your NOTICE TO PROCEED on the above referenced project. In accordance 

with the terms of the contract, work is to commence within 14 calendar days of receipt of the Notice 

to Proceed unless otherwise agreed and to be completed in accordance with the schedule included 
within the proposal.    

Dated this _____day of __________, 2024 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 

ACCEPTANCE OF NOTICE: 

Receipt of the above Notice to Proceed is acknowledged. 

Contractor: __________________________________ 

By: ________________________________________ 

Title: _______________________________________ 

Date of Acceptance: ___________________________ 

POND & Company

182

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

 
 
 

 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, GA 31405 
T: 912.228.3611 

Letter of Interest 
 
June 24, 2024 
 
Tim Callanan 
County Manager 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
Re: 23-IDC RFP-063, I-6 (SR 30 at Midland Road – GDOT Roundabout), Effingham County 

 
Pond is pleased to submit this proposal for the I-6 (SR 30 at Midland Road – GDOT Roundabout).  Our team of traffic 
and transportation engineers are very interested in providing their expertise to County for these transportation 
improvements. We are committed to meeting the requirements specified in the request for proposal, and in the 
following pages provide more detail as to our approach to accomplishing the work. 
 
Pond is fully qualified and capable of performing these services for the County.  Zach Puckett, PE will serve as the Project 
Manager for this effort and Richard Fangmann, PE, PTO will be the Principal in Charge. We are supported by our team 
of planners and engineers to carry out the necessary tasks for this project.  To provide the highest quality and best 
value of services to the County, we have assembled a team of qualified professionals to provide comprehensive services 
covering all discipline needs as requested however to support our efforts, we are utilizing National Data & Surveying 
Services (NDS) to provide Traffic Data Collection Services – TMC and ADT and Southern Research to provide 
Environmental Cultural Resources. 
 
We appreciate your time and consideration and look forward to the opportunity to continue to collaborate with 
Effingham County. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Pond & Company 
 
 
 
Richard Fangmann, PE, PTOE   Melissa Phillips 
Vice-President     Associate | Client Manager 
 
 

183

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 
 

 
 
 

 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, GA 31405 
T: 912.228.3611 

Project Approach / Work Plan 
Project Understanding 
Effingham County has a conceptual design for a proposed roundabout at the intersection of SR 30/ Noel C Conaway 
Road at Midland Road. The conceptual design includes survey, utilities, and right of way information. GDOT has 
determined that this project will require an encroachment permit per Chapter 11 of the Driveway and Encroachment 
Control Manual. The project has been issued a PI number and requires GDOT oversight during development. The 
construction plans will be developed utilizing an abbreviated GDOT Plan Development Process, including a Limited 
Scope Concept Report, Preliminary and Final Field Plan Reviews, as well as local certification of utilities, environmental, 
and right of way. 

Professional Services 
The work in this proposal will consist of concept development through final design. Pond, along with our 
subconsultants, will provide the design services necessary for completing the tasks as described herein for Effingham 
County.  

Scope of Work 
Task 1: GDOT Program Management and Coordination 
 
Pond will serve as the County’s representative and project manager throughout project execution. We will cultivate 
cooperative relationships between all stakeholders of the project and prioritize the County’s vision over procedures 
and processes. Pond will facilitate monthly meetings with the GDOT PM, the County, and subject matter experts, and 
manage communications to ensure an open dialogue.  Pond has delivered several local projects that required GDOT 
oversight, and we are able to avoid roadblocks that can occur during project development. 
 
Pond will assist the County in navigating this abbreviated GDOT Plan Development Process and streamline this process 
as much as possible to ensure on time delivery of the project. 

 
Deliverables for Task 1: 
• Risk Assessment 
• Monthly Meeting Minutes 

 
  

184

Item X. 9.



   
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Task 2: Concept Development 
 
Task 2.1: Traffic Analysis 
Traffic Data Collection – All traffic data collection will be performed by a sub-consultant and provided to Pond.  The 
traffic counts listed below will be collected during an agreed/approved week that schools are in session: 
• 6-Hour Turning Movement Count (6:00 AM – 9:00 AM; 3:00 PM –6:00 PM): 

o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Coventry Drive 
• 12-Hour Turning Movement Count (7:00 AM – 7:00 PM): 

o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Midland Road 
o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Coventry Drive 

• 24-Hour Traffic Volume and Classification Counts: 
o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road, west of Midland Road 
o Midland Road, north of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road 

 
Field Visit of Existing Conditions – Pond will complete a field visit to the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway at Midland 
Road to observe existing field conditions. Pictures will be taken to properly document the existing conditions, including 
geometry, sight distance, and speed limits. Each intersection will also be reviewed to identify current deficiencies. 
 
Traffic Analysis – Pond will analyze the traffic at each of the (2) intersections listed above, with the primary focus on 
the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Midland Road. 
 
A review of crash history will be completed utilizing GDOT’s GEARS and Numetric databases. Capacity analysis will be 
performed for each intersection using Synchro Software. This analysis will be performed for the AM and PM peak hours 
of the existing year, opening year, and design year. Analysis of the opening and design years will include a no-build 
condition. This analysis will be used to determine what improvements and alternatives are necessary to obtain 
acceptable operations. 
 
The GDOT Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) tool will be utilized to determine the potential improvements at all 
GDOT intersections. Stage 1 and Stage 2 are anticipated for the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Midland 
Road, whereas Stage 1 with a Waiver Request is anticipated for the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at 
Coventry Drive. 
 
Traffic Engineering (TE) Report – Pond will document the analysis results and recommendations in a Traffic Engineering 
Report. 
 
Effingham County Review – Pond will submit the TE Report to Effingham County for comment/approval. This task 
includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the report. We will respond to (1) round of comments and incorporate 
appropriate comments into the report. 
 
GDOT District 5 Review – Pond will submit the TE Report to GDOT District 5 for comment/approval. This task includes 
(1) meeting with GDOT to discuss the report, as/if needed. We will respond to (1) round of comments and incorporate 
appropriate comments into the report. 
 
  

185

Item X. 9.



   
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Task 2.2: Concept Report  
Pond will produce a Limited Scope Concept Report as required by Chapter 11 of the GDOT Driveway and Encroachment 
Manual. The concept report will evaluate the proposed roundabout based on existing and projected traffic volumes. 
The concept report will also document planning and background data, design features, utility and property impacts, 
anticipated environmental requirements, and outline coordination and activity responsibilities.  
 
Part of the concept report will include an alternatives analysis to evaluate benefits and costs. The report will produce 
a preferred alternative to move forward with preliminary design. Concept reports typically include three alternatives, 
including a “no-build” alternative. Due to Pond’s previous work on the comprehensive transportation plan, Pond is 
prepared to present the roundabout as the preferred alternative for this project and left turn lanes on Midland and 
SR 30 as a secondary alternative.  
 
During the concept development phase, the previous survey will be evaluated and converted, as needed. Also, 
environmental resources will be identified and shown on the conceptual drawings. Early coordination with project 
stakeholders will begin and a public involvement plan will be implemented. No GEPA documentation will be required, 
however other environmental documentation will be needed as part of this process. 
 
Pond’s risk assessment will inform what work will need to be completed prior to concept report approval. To 
streamline project delivery, some tasks may be completed after concept approval, including traffic projection and 
environmental surveys based on risk evaluation. Pond will request all GDOT-provided information early in concept 
development to avoid delays in concept report approval. 
 
Deliverables for Task 2: 
• Traffic Engineering Report 
• Approved Limited Scope Concept Report 
• Public Involvement Plan (PIP) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1-Roundabout-Preferred 
Alternative 

Figure 2-Left Turn Lanes-Secondary 
Alternative 

186

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

 
 
 

 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, GA 31405 
T: 912.228.3611 

Task 3: Preliminary Design 
The Preliminary Plans will include roadway plans, roadway profile, driveway profiles, cross sections, utility plans, signing 
and marking plans, and erosion control plans. Pond will prepare the construction plans based on the topographic survey 
database (completed as part of previous/separate Effingham County project). The design plans will be prepared 
conforming to AASHTO, Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), Effingham County, and Georgia 
Department of Transportation (GDOT) requirements and standards, as appropriate, using MicroStation V8i with 
InRoads or OpenRoads Connect (ORD) software. All turn lane improvements are based on queue lengths identified in 
the Traffic Engineering Report, as well as GDOT minimum lengths. 
 

Utility Plans and Coordination – As part of the First Submission Utility Request, Pond will prepare utility plans and submit 
to all provided utility owners for markups to determine existing facilities. We will incorporate the markups into the 
utility adjustment plans.  
 

Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare (1) detailed opinion of probable cost for the project. Pond will prepare a construction 
cost estimate and will provide R/W and easement areas for the county to cost. Utility costs will be by others. 
 

Right of Way Plans – After Preliminary Plan approval, we will prepare Right-of- Way plans per GDOT design guidelines. 
The Right-of-Way plans will include all required permanent Right-of-Way takes and all construction easements.  
 

Environmental Documentation – all required environmental documentation required per Chapter 11 of the Driveway 
and Encroachment Manual will be provided. 
 

Effingham County/GDOT Review – Pond will submit the Preliminary Plans to Effingham County for comment/approval. 
This task includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the plans. We will respond to (1) round of comments. 
 

Deliverables for Task 3: 
• PFPR Plans and Checklist Items 
• Environmental Documentation 
 
  

187

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Page 5 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Task 4: Final Design 
Final Design Plans (FFPR) – Based on all comments received from the Preliminary Plan submittal, we will further refine 
the plans. These plans will include compiling a list of all Preliminary Plan comments received and our responses, prior 
to incorporating into Final Plans. 
 
Utility Plans and Coordination – Pond will continue utility coordination efforts. Second Submission Utility Request will 
be coordinated with utility owners to finalize any utility conflicts and determine any proposed facility/utility relocations. 
All utility relocations will be designed by others and included in the utility coordination plans. 
 
Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare (1) detailed opinion of probable cost/cost estimate for the project. Pond will prepare 
a construction cost estimate and will provide R/W and easement areas for the county to cost. Utility costs will be by 
others. 

 
Effingham County/GDOT Review – Pond will submit Final Plans to Effingham County for comment/approval. This task 
includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the plans. We will respond to (1) round of comments and incorporate 
them into the plans as applicable. 

 
GDOT Encroachment Permit – Pond will finalize all items needed as part of the GDOT Special Encroachment Permit 
process. Documents will be uploaded to the Georgia Permit Application System (GPAS) portal for distribution to GDOT 
District 5 for review and approval.   

 
Pond will also provide the following services as part of Final Design. 

 
• Preparation of Bid Package – Pond will prepare the documents necessary for the County to advertise for bid, 

including the compilation of the Bid Plans and any required specifications and special provisions. 
 

• Pre-Bid Meeting and Bidding Assistance – Pond will prepare for, assist the County, and attend the pre-bid meeting 
to answer any questions and to make sure that the contractor fully understands the scope and nature of this 
project. Pond will continue to assist the city to answer any questions submitted during the RFP process. 
 

• Pre-Construction Meeting and Construction Kick-Off Meeting – Pond will prepare for, assist the County, and attend 
the pre-construction meeting to answer any questions and to make sure that the contractor fully understands the 
scope and nature of this project. 
 

• Respond to RFIs – During the bidding and construction process, Pond will respond in writing to the contractor’s 
request for information. This assumes a maximum number of (10) RFI requests. 
 

• 7-Day Inspection Letter – Upon notification from the permittee, we will observe the erosion control measures that 
have been installed to verify they have been installed correctly and are functioning properly. Additionally, a letter 
will be submitted to the County summarizing the observations of the qualified personnel and noting deficiencies. 

 
Deliverables for Task 4: 
• FFPR Plans and Checklist Items 

188

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Page 6 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Schedule 
Pond has estimated that Task 1 through Task 4 listed above can be completed within (12) months, following Notice to 
Proceed (NTP) from Effingham County. Please note that this schedule timeframe is also dependent on subconsultant 
scheduling and agency review times, including Effingham County and GDOT. 

Assumptions 
The design plans will be prepared as a locally funded project.  
 
Services or tasks not specifically outlined above are excluded and would be considered additional services.  Services not 
included in the scope:

• Traffic Analysis – Beyond Task 2 
• Traffic Data Collection – Beyond Task 2 
• Traffic Signal Plans 
• GDOT Design Traffic Forecasting Manual 
• GDOT Office of Planning Design Traffic  
• Traffic Signal Plans 
• ITS/Signal Communications Plans 
• Lighting Plans 
• Landscaping Plans 
• Tree Removal/Recompense Plans 
• Topographic Survey Services 

• Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) Services  
• Additional Meetings 
• MS4 Analysis/Documentation 
• Right-of-Way Staking, Right of Way Acquisition 

Services/Assistance 
• Railroad Preliminary Engineering Review or 

Other Associated Fees  
• Structural Design and/or Analysis 
• Pay Application Review 
• Materials Testing 
• Construction Engineering and Inspection 

 
 

189

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 
 

 
 
 

 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, GA 31405 
T: 912.228.3611 

Technical Proposal 
Project Understanding 
Effingham County has a conceptual design for a proposed roundabout at the intersection of SR 30/ Noel C Conaway 
Road at Midland Road. The conceptual design includes survey, utilities, and right of way information. GDOT has 
determined that this project will require an encroachment permit per Chapter 11 of the Driveway and Encroachment 
Control Manual. The project has been issued a PI number and requires GDOT oversight during development. The 
construction plans will be developed utilizing an abbreviated GDOT Plan Development Process, including a Limited 
Scope Concept Report, Preliminary and Final Field Plan Reviews, as well as local certification of utilities, environmental, 
and right of way. 

Professional Services 
The work in this proposal will consist of concept development through final design. Pond, along with our 
subconsultants, will provide the design services necessary for completing the tasks as described herein for Effingham 
County.  

Scope of Work 
Task 1: GDOT Program Management and Coordination 
 
Pond will serve as the County’s representative and project manager throughout project execution. We will cultivate 
cooperative relationships between all stakeholders of the project and prioritize the County’s vision over procedures 
and processes. Pond will facilitate monthly meetings with the GDOT PM, the County, and subject matter experts, and 
manage communications to ensure an open dialogue.  Pond has delivered several local projects that required GDOT 
oversight, and we are able to avoid roadblocks that can occur during project development. 
 
Pond will assist the County in navigating this abbreviated GDOT Plan Development Process and streamline this process 
as much as possible to ensure on time delivery of the project. 

 
Deliverables for Task 1: 
• Risk Assessment 
• Monthly Meeting Minutes 

 
  

190

Item X. 9.



   
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Task 2: Concept Development 
 
Task 2.1: Traffic Analysis 
Traffic Data Collection – All traffic data collection will be performed by a sub-consultant and provided to Pond.  The 
traffic counts listed below will be collected during an agreed/approved week that schools are in session: 
• 6-Hour Turning Movement Count (6:00 AM – 9:00 AM; 3:00 PM –6:00 PM): 

o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Coventry Drive 
• 12-Hour Turning Movement Count (7:00 AM – 7:00 PM): 

o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Midland Road 
o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Coventry Drive 

• 24-Hour Traffic Volume and Classification Counts: 
o SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road, west of Midland Road 
o Midland Road, north of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road 

 
Field Visit of Existing Conditions – Pond will complete a field visit to the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway at Midland 
Road to observe existing field conditions. Pictures will be taken to properly document the existing conditions, including 
geometry, sight distance, and speed limits. Each intersection will also be reviewed to identify current deficiencies. 
 
Traffic Analysis – Pond will analyze the traffic at each of the (2) intersections listed above, with the primary focus on 
the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Midland Road. 
 
A review of crash history will be completed utilizing GDOT’s GEARS and Numetric databases. Capacity analysis will be 
performed for each intersection using Synchro Software. This analysis will be performed for the AM and PM peak hours 
of the existing year, opening year, and design year. Analysis of the opening and design years will include a no-build 
condition. This analysis will be used to determine what improvements and alternatives are necessary to obtain 
acceptable operations. 
 
The GDOT Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) tool will be utilized to determine the potential improvements at all 
GDOT intersections. Stage 1 and Stage 2 are anticipated for the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at Midland 
Road, whereas Stage 1 with a Waiver Request is anticipated for the intersection of SR 30/Noel C Conaway Road at 
Coventry Drive. 
 
Traffic Engineering (TE) Report – Pond will document the analysis results and recommendations in a Traffic Engineering 
Report. 
 
Effingham County Review – Pond will submit the TE Report to Effingham County for comment/approval. This task 
includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the report. We will respond to (1) round of comments and incorporate 
appropriate comments into the report. 
 
GDOT District 5 Review – Pond will submit the TE Report to GDOT District 5 for comment/approval. This task includes 
(1) meeting with GDOT to discuss the report, as/if needed. We will respond to (1) round of comments and incorporate 
appropriate comments into the report. 
 
  

191

Item X. 9.



   
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Task 2.2: Concept Report  
Pond will produce a Limited Scope Concept Report as required by Chapter 11 of the GDOT Driveway and Encroachment 
Manual. The concept report will evaluate the proposed roundabout based on existing and projected traffic volumes. 
The concept report will also document planning and background data, design features, utility and property impacts, 
anticipated environmental requirements, and outline coordination and activity responsibilities.  
 
Part of the concept report will include an alternatives analysis to evaluate benefits and costs. The report will produce 
a preferred alternative to move forward with preliminary design. Concept reports typically include three alternatives, 
including a “no-build” alternative. Due to Pond’s previous work on the comprehensive transportation plan, Pond is 
prepared to present the roundabout as the preferred alternative for this project and left turn lanes on Midland and 
SR 30 as a secondary alternative.  
 
During the concept development phase, the previous survey will be evaluated and converted, as needed. Also, 
environmental resources will be identified and shown on the conceptual drawings. Early coordination with project 
stakeholders will begin and a public involvement plan will be implemented. No GEPA documentation will be required, 
however other environmental documentation will be needed as part of this process. 
 
Pond’s risk assessment will inform what work will need to be completed prior to concept report approval. To 
streamline project delivery, some tasks may be completed after concept approval, including traffic projection and 
environmental surveys based on risk evaluation. Pond will request all GDOT-provided information early in concept 
development to avoid delays in concept report approval. 
 
Deliverables for Task 2: 
• Traffic Engineering Report 
• Approved Limited Scope Concept Report 
• Public Involvement Plan (PIP) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1-Roundabout-Preferred 
Alternative 

Figure 2-Left Turn Lanes-Secondary 
Alternative 

192

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

 
 
 

 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, GA 31405 
T: 912.228.3611 

Task 3: Preliminary Design 
The Preliminary Plans will include roadway plans, roadway profile, driveway profiles, cross sections, utility plans, signing 
and marking plans, and erosion control plans. Pond will prepare the construction plans based on the topographic survey 
database (completed as part of previous/separate Effingham County project). The design plans will be prepared 
conforming to AASHTO, Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD), Effingham County, and Georgia 
Department of Transportation (GDOT) requirements and standards, as appropriate, using MicroStation V8i with 
InRoads or OpenRoads Connect (ORD) software. All turn lane improvements are based on queue lengths identified in 
the Traffic Engineering Report, as well as GDOT minimum lengths. 
 

Utility Plans and Coordination – As part of the First Submission Utility Request, Pond will prepare utility plans and submit 
to all provided utility owners for markups to determine existing facilities. We will incorporate the markups into the 
utility adjustment plans.  
 

Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare (1) detailed opinion of probable cost for the project. Pond will prepare a construction 
cost estimate and will provide R/W and easement areas for the county to cost. Utility costs will be by others. 
 

Right of Way Plans – After Preliminary Plan approval, we will prepare Right-of- Way plans per GDOT design guidelines. 
The Right-of-Way plans will include all required permanent Right-of-Way takes and all construction easements.  
 

Environmental Documentation – all required environmental documentation required per Chapter 11 of the Driveway 
and Encroachment Manual will be provided. 
 

Effingham County/GDOT Review – Pond will submit the Preliminary Plans to Effingham County for comment/approval. 
This task includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the plans. We will respond to (1) round of comments. 
 

Deliverables for Task 3: 
• PFPR Plans and Checklist Items 
• Environmental Documentation 
 
  

193

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Page 5 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Task 4: Final Design 
Final Design Plans (FFPR) – Based on all comments received from the Preliminary Plan submittal, we will further refine 
the plans. These plans will include compiling a list of all Preliminary Plan comments received and our responses, prior 
to incorporating into Final Plans. 
 
Utility Plans and Coordination – Pond will continue utility coordination efforts. Second Submission Utility Request will 
be coordinated with utility owners to finalize any utility conflicts and determine any proposed facility/utility relocations. 
All utility relocations will be designed by others and included in the utility coordination plans. 
 
Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare (1) detailed opinion of probable cost/cost estimate for the project. Pond will prepare 
a construction cost estimate and will provide R/W and easement areas for the county to cost. Utility costs will be by 
others. 

 
Effingham County/GDOT Review – Pond will submit Final Plans to Effingham County for comment/approval. This task 
includes (1) meeting with the county to discuss the plans. We will respond to (1) round of comments and incorporate 
them into the plans as applicable. 

 
GDOT Encroachment Permit – Pond will finalize all items needed as part of the GDOT Special Encroachment Permit 
process. Documents will be uploaded to the Georgia Permit Application System (GPAS) portal for distribution to GDOT 
District 5 for review and approval.   

 
Pond will also provide the following services as part of Final Design. 

 
• Preparation of Bid Package – Pond will prepare the documents necessary for the County to advertise for bid, 

including the compilation of the Bid Plans and any required specifications and special provisions. 
 

• Pre-Bid Meeting and Bidding Assistance – Pond will prepare for, assist the County, and attend the pre-bid meeting 
to answer any questions and to make sure that the contractor fully understands the scope and nature of this 
project. Pond will continue to assist the city to answer any questions submitted during the RFP process. 
 

• Pre-Construction Meeting and Construction Kick-Off Meeting – Pond will prepare for, assist the County, and attend 
the pre-construction meeting to answer any questions and to make sure that the contractor fully understands the 
scope and nature of this project. 
 

• Respond to RFIs – During the bidding and construction process, Pond will respond in writing to the contractor’s 
request for information. This assumes a maximum number of (10) RFI requests. 
 

• 7-Day Inspection Letter – Upon notification from the permittee, we will observe the erosion control measures that 
have been installed to verify they have been installed correctly and are functioning properly. Additionally, a letter 
will be submitted to the County summarizing the observations of the qualified personnel and noting deficiencies. 

 
Deliverables for Task 4: 
• FFPR Plans and Checklist Items 

194

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Page 6 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

Schedule 
Pond has estimated that Task 1 through Task 4 listed above can be completed within (12) months, following Notice to 
Proceed (NTP) from Effingham County. Please note that this schedule timeframe is also dependent on subconsultant 
scheduling and agency review times, including Effingham County and GDOT. 

Assumptions 
The design plans will be prepared as a locally funded project.  
 
Services or tasks not specifically outlined above are excluded and would be considered additional services.  Services not 
included in the scope:

• Traffic Analysis – Beyond Task 2 
• Traffic Data Collection – Beyond Task 2 
• Traffic Signal Plans 
• GDOT Design Traffic Forecasting Manual 
• GDOT Office of Planning Design Traffic  
• Traffic Signal Plans 
• ITS/Signal Communications Plans 
• Lighting Plans 
• Landscaping Plans 
• Tree Removal/Recompense Plans 
• Topographic Survey Services 

• Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) Services  
• Additional Meetings 
• MS4 Analysis/Documentation 
• Right-of-Way Staking, Right of Way Acquisition 

Services/Assistance 
• Railroad Preliminary Engineering Review or 

Other Associated Fees  
• Structural Design and/or Analysis 
• Pay Application Review 
• Materials Testing 
• Construction Engineering and Inspection 

 
 

195

Item X. 9.



 
 
 

Engineering  |  Architecture  |  Planning  |  Construction Management pondco.com 
 

 

 
 
 

 49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 
Savannah, GA 31405 
T: 912.228.3611 

Proposal Cost 
 
June 24, 2024 
 
Tim Callanan 
County Manager 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
804 S. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
Re: 23-IDC RFP-063, I-6 (SR 30 at Midland Road – GDOT Roundabout), Effingham County 

 
Pond & Company (Pond) is pleased to submit this proposal for transportation engineering design services for the above 
project. 

Professional Fees 
Pond proposes to accomplish Task 1 through Task 5 for a Not-to-Exceed Lump Sum total of $443,907.28. The fee details 
are listed in the attached Man-Hour Estimate. 

• Task 1 – GDOT Program Management and Coordination: $36,518.50 
• Task 2 – Conceptual Development: $211,451.78 (Includes Environmental Documentation) 
• Task 3 – Preliminary Design: $112,000.00 
• Task 4 – Final Design: $72,127.00 

 
These fees are based on the contracted unit rates, not to exceed total of $432,097.28 
 
If this fee is acceptable, Pond & Company is available to begin work immediately. If you would like to discuss or modify, 
please contact me at FangmannR@pondco.com  or Zach Puckett, who will serve as the Project Manager, at 
PuckettZ@pondco.com or via phone at (678) 336-7740.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
POND & COMPANY 

 
Richard Fangmann, PE, PTOE 
Vice-President 
 
Cc:   Zach Puckett, PE       Attachments: 
 Melissa Phillips       Man-Hour Estimates 
 

196

Item X. 9.

mailto:FangmannR@pondco.com
mailto:PuckettZ@pondco.com


PHASE
AMOUNTS

Phase 1 GDOT Program Management and Coordination 36,518.50$       

Phase 2 Concept Development (Includes Environmental) 211,451.78$     

Phase 3 Preliminary Design 112,000.00$     

Phase 4 Final Design 72,127.00$       

-$                  

TOTAL DESIGN COST FOR ALL SEGMENTS 432,097.28$     

6/24/2024

Effingham County

SR 30 at Midland Road

Project Length 0.23 miles

COST  AMOUNT  OF  CONTRACT  PROPOSAL

SUMMARY  BY PHASE

Roundabout

197

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 1
GDOT Program Management and Coordination

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 6 250.00$         1,500.00$      

PROJECT MANAGER 123 230.00$         28,290.00$    

SENIOR ENGINEER 24 200.00$         4,800.00$      

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 12 130.00$         1,560.00$      

SENIOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 162.84$         -$               

SUVEYOR, PROJECT 0 120.82$         -$               

SURVEY, CREW 0 131.33$         -$               

ADMINISTRATIVE -$               

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 165 Manhours 36,150.00$          

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.67$             550 368.50$               

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

368.50$               

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

-$                     

-$                     

 

-$                     

36,518.50$          COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

SUB CONSULTANT

Subconsultant Sub Total

ITEM

Direct Cost Total

Effingham County

Phase 1 Summary

MILEAGE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

198

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 1
GDOT Program Management and Coordination

TASKS Assumptions

No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SUVEYOR, 
PROJECT

SURVEY, CREW
ADMINISTRA

TIVE
TOTAL

% OF TOTAL HOURS

Project Management

Client Meetings 12 monthly meetings, includes preparation 6 24 12 42 25.5%

Kickoff Meeting 3 3 1.8%

Internal Meetings 12 12 12 36 21.8%

Project Management Invoicing Coordination 48 48 29.1%

QAQC Quality Assurance 12 12 7.3%

Review Submittals 24 24 14.5%
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

  

  
  
  
  
  

  

  

  
TOTALS 0 6 123 24 12 0 0 0 165 100.0%

Effingham County

Phase 1 Detail

199

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 2
Concept Development (Includes Environmental)

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 0 250.00$         -$               

PROJECT MANAGER 12 230.00$         2,760.00$      

SENIOR ENGINEER 106 200.00$         21,200.00$    

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 340 130.00$         44,200.00$    

SUVEYOR, PROJECT 0 120.82$         -$               

SURVEY, CREW 0 131.33$         -$               

ADMINISTRATIVE 2 95.00$           190.00$         

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 460 Manhours 68,350.00$          

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.67$             550 368.50$               

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

368.50$               

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

61,086.78$          

79,666.50$          
1,980.00$            

 

142,733.28$        

211,451.78$        

MILEAGE

Effingham County

Phase 2 Summary

ITEM

COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

Direct Cost Total

SUB CONSULTANT

Environmental (Cultural Resources)

Pond Environmental (GEPA, Ecology, Public Involvement)
Traffic Counts

Subconsultant Sub Total

200

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 2
Concept Development (Includes Environmental)

TASKS Assumptions
No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SUVEYOR, 
PROJECT

SURVEY, 
CREW

ADMINISTRATIVE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 
HOURS

ROADWAY

Site Visit 8 8 16 3.5%

Data Gathering 8 8 1.7%

Concept Horizontal Alignment 2 4 2 8 1.7%

Concept Typical Sections Coordination with surveyor; included reveiew of databased and field visit to confirm 2 8 10 2.2%

Concept Pavement Design 1 4 5

Concept Vertical Alignment 2 4 6

Roundabout Design 16 40 56 12.2%

Fastest Path Analysis Site visit to verify survey and utility information 2 16 18 3.9%

Turning Movement Templates (Autoturn) 1 8 9

Intersection Sight Distance Analysis 2 8 10 2.2%

Concept Bridge Layout   

Concept Bridge Design   

Concept Drainage Design 4 16 20 4.3%

Concept MS4 Design   

Concept Cross Sections 4 24 28 6.1%

Concept Layout 8 16 24 5.2%

Concept Report 8 16 24 5.2%
QAQC 16 16 3.5%

Concept Construction Cost Estimate 2 8 10 2.2%

Concept Utility Cost Estimate 1 4 5 1.1%

Concept Right of Way Cost Estimate 1 4 5 1.1%

Concept Mitigation Cost Estimate 1 4 5 1.1%

Revise Concept with Client Comments 8 16 24 5.2%
  

SURVEY   

Validate/Convert survey 40 40 8.7%
  

  

  

Traffic   

Traffic Analysis Analysis, including ICE documentation 2 6 40 48 10.4%

Report Documentation 4 6 40 50 10.9%
QA/QC 4 4 4 12 2.6%

Coordination with Sub Coordination with traffic data collection sub 2 1 3 0.7%

  

  
TOTALS 0 0 12 106 340 0 0 2 460 95.7%

Effingham County

Phase 2 Detail

201

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 3
Preliminary Design 

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 0 250.00$         -$               

PROJECT MANAGER 12 230.00$         2,760.00$      

SENIOR ENGINEER 99 200.00$         19,800.00$    

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 688 130.00$         89,440.00$    

SENIOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 162.84$         -$               

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 131.33$         -$               

ADMINISTRATIVE 0 95.00$           -$               

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 799 Manhours 112,000.00$        

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.67$             0 -$                     

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

-$                     

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

-$                     

-$                     
-$                     

 

-$                     

112,000.00$        

MILEAGE

Effingham County

Phase 3 Summary

ITEM

COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

Direct Cost Total

SUB CONSULTANT

Subconsultant Sub Total

202

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 3
Preliminary Design 

TASKS Assumptions

No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SENIOR 
LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

ADMINISTRATIVE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 
HOURS

ROADWAY DESIGN

Horizontal Alignments 2 16 18 2.3%

Typical Sections 12 internal monthly meetings @ 0.5 hr per meeting 1 16 17 2.1%

Vertical Alignments 2 16 18 2.3%

Plan View Layout 4 80 84 10.5%

Driveway Profiles 2 16 18 2.3%

Drainage Design 4 48 52 7%

Cross Sections 8 48 56 7.0%

Prepare Staging Plans 8 80 88 11.0%

Prepare Lighting Plans 0   

Prepare Signing and Marking Plans 4 32 36 4.5%

Prepare Signal Plans 0   

Prepare ITS/ATMS Plans 0   

Prepare Landscaping Plans 0   

Prepare Wall Envelopes 0   

Prepare Bridge Plans 0   

Erosion Control Plans 8 80 88 11.0%

Drainage Layout/Profiles 8 32 40 5.0%
Cross Sections 8 48 56 7.0%

Utility Plans  2 16 18 2.3%

Utility Coordination 1st Submission 8 8 0 16 2.0%

Cost Estimate 4 32 36 4.5%

PFPR Meeting Virtual 4 4 8 16 2.0%

R/W Cover 2 8 10 1.3%

R/W Plan Sheets 8 48 56 7.0%

R/W Description/Table Sheets 4 16 20 2.5%

R/W Revisions 8 48 56 7.0%
  

  

  
  
  
  
  

  

  

  
TOTALS 0 0 12 99 688 0 0 0 799 100.0%

Effingham County

Phase 3 Detail

203

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 4
Final Design

PERSONNEL
EST. 

HOURS
RATE/HR. COST $ TOTALS

PRINCIPAL 0 250.00$         -$               

PROJECT MANAGER 47 230.00$         10,810.00$    

SENIOR ENGINEER 124 200.00$         24,800.00$    

MID LEVEL ENGINEER 265 130.00$         34,450.00$    

SENIOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 162.84$         -$               

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 0 131.33$         -$               

ADMINISTRATIVE 14 95.00$           1,330.00$      

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

TOTAL DIRECT LABOR 450 Manhours 71,390.00$          

DIRECT COSTS (SPECIFY):
UNIT COST QUANTITY TOTALS

0.67$             1100 737.00$               

150.00$         0 -$                     

50.00$           0 -$                     

-$               0 -$                     

-$                     

737.00$               

SUBCONSULTANTS (LIST):
TOTALS

-$                     

-$                     

 

-$                     

72,127.00$          

MILEAGE

Effingham County

Phase 4 Summary

ITEM

COST AMOUNT FOR PHASE

REPRODUCTION 

MAIL & DELIVERY

TRAVEL

Direct Cost Total

SUB CONSULTANT

Subconsultant Sub Total

204

Item X. 9.



PROJECT: SR 30 at Midland Road Roundabout

Phase 4
Final Design

TASKS Assumptions
No. of 
SHT

PRINCIPAL
PROJECT 
MANAGER

SENIOR 
ENGINEER

MID LEVEL 
ENGINEER

SENIOR 
LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

LANDSCAPE 
ARCHITECT

ADMINISTRATIVE TOTAL % OF TOTAL 
HOURS

ROADWAY

Finalize Horizontal Alignments 2 4 2 8 1.8%

Finalize Typical Sections 2 4 6 1.3%

Finalize Vertical Alignments 2 4 4 10 2.2%

Finalize Plan View Layout 8 40 48 10.7%

Finalize Driveway Profiles 4 8 12 3%

Finalize Drainage Design 8 16 24 5.3%

Finalize Cross Sections 8 24 32 7.1%

Finalize Staging 8 40 48 10.7%

Finalize Lighting Plans   

Finalize Signing and Marking Plans 4 16 20 4.4%

Finalize Signal Plans   

Finalize ITS/ATMS Plans   

Finalize Landscaping Plans   

Finalize Wall Envelopes   

Finalize Bridge Plans   

Finalize Erosion Control Plans 8 24 32 7.1%

Utility Plans  4 4 8 1.8%
Utility Coordination 2nd Submission 8 8 16 3.6%

Cost Estimate 2 4 16 22 4.9%

FFPR Meeting 4 4 4 12 2.7%
  

GDOT Encroachment Permit Upload and coordination 8 12 25 45 10.0%
  

Bid Package Preparation 4 4 8 8 24 5.3%

Pre-Bid Meeting and Bidding Assistance Virtual 8 8 16 3.6%

Pre-Construction Meeting 8 8 16 3.6%
RFIs 10 RFIs 5 10 20 35 7.8%

7 day inspection 8 8 16 3.6%

  
  
  
  
  

  

  

TOTALS 0 0 47 124 265 0 0 14 450 100.0%

Effingham County

Phase 4 Detail

205

Item X. 9.



ID Task Name Duration Start Finish Predecessors

1 EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS APPROVAL 1 day Fri 7/26/24 Fri 7/26/24

2 COUNTY ISSUES NOTICE TO PROCEED (NTP) 1 day Wed 8/7/24 Wed 8/7/24 1FS+7 days

3 PROJECT ENTRY AND KICK OFF 6 days Thu 8/8/24 Thu 8/15/24

4 PHASE 1: GDOT PROGRAM MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION 52 wks Fri 8/16/24 Thu 8/14/25 3

5 PHASE 2: CONCEPT DEVELOPMENT 100 days Fri 8/16/24 Thu 1/2/25 3

6 PHASE 3: PRELIMINARY DESIGN 100 days Fri 1/3/25 Thu 5/22/25 5

7 PHASE 4: FINAL DESIGN 60 days Fri 5/23/25 Thu 8/14/25 6

Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3
2024 2025

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Manual Progress

Effingham County-SR 30 AT MIDLAND ROAD

Page 1

Project: Effingham County-
Date: Mon 6/24/24

206

Item X. 9.



 

207

Item X. 9.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 

Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering  

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department: Public Works  

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections 

Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval for Change Order #4 for Task Order 

22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts 

Civil Engineering in the amount of $105,000.00 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Change Order 1 was approved for the design and construction management of two 

additional intersections: 

1. Hodgeville Road @ Scuffletown Road - $74,242 

2. Hodgeville Road @ Forest Haven Road - $74,242 

 Change Order 2 was approved to add Right Of Way Acquisition Services and Lighting 

Design to the scope for a NTE total of $437,560.00.  

 Change Order 3 was approved for the resurfacing of Hodgeville Road in conjunction with 

the turn lane improvements included in CO1, Hodgeville/Scuffletown and 

Hodgeville/Forest Haven. 

 Change Order 4 is being requested due to changes in the Scope of Work in the Contract 

Agreement that required additional hours:  

1. Survey - Scope of Survey Work has significantly grown to accommodate 

increased scope of Roundabout Designs along with additional area for Traffic 

Staging and Slip Lanes adding increased need for Right-of-Way staking and 

plating. 

2. Underground utility design and planning - Increases in Scope added extensive 

time to the Planning and Coordination with Effingham County Utility Providers 

including extensive Utility Design and Evaluation of Alternatives. 

3. Civil engineering design - Increased Scope of Work to include additional 

Roundabout Designs, Slip Lanes, Traffic Staging Plans and other additional 

requirements as requested by Effingham County Program Management team. 

4. Project management - Responsibilities have significantly increased to 

accommodate the significant changes in the project: 

 Scope of Work increased exponentially beyond the Project Descriptions 

in the Transportation Master Plan 

 Increased Requirement to Maintain an uninterrupted traffic flow 

5. Construction Oversight – Responsibilities have greatly increased due to the 

additions of roundabout construction, lighting and the requirement to maintain an 

uninterrupted traffic flow. 

 The original contract amount is $742,423.00 

208

Item X. 10.



 Change Order 1: $148,484.00 

 Change Order 2: $437,560.00 

 Change Order 3: $105,000.00 

 Change Order 4: $492,020.00 

 The new contract total is $1,925,487.00 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval for Change Order #4 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections 

Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering in the amount of 

$492,020.00 

2. Deny Change Order #4 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Engineer, PCPM, T&H 

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments:  

1. Change Order #4 

2. AWR – Roberts 

209

Item X. 10.



Change Order # 4

 
 

Project: 22-25-006 – Engineering/Design of TSPLOST Intersections 

Contract Date: December 7, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: July 17, 2024 

Change Order Issued to: Roberts Civil Engineering 

    301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

    St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Unit Price Quantity Total 

1 Requested Increase in Hourly 1 793,200.00 793,200.00 

 Work removed from Scope – I-1B and 

I-6 

1 -301,180.00 -301,180.00 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 TOTAL   $492,020.00 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 742,423.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 691,044.00 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 1,433,467.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 492,020.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 1,925,487.00 

 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Roberts Civil Engineering 

804 S. Laurel Street     301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

Springfield, GA 31329     St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

210

Item X. 10.



 
 

St Simons Island | Savannah | Jacksonville | Charleston 
www.robertscivilengineering.com 

                                                              

Additional Work Authorization Request 

Expanded Scope of Project 

 Effingham County TSPLOST – Engineering/Design of Intersections 

RFP 22-25-006 

 
On this 20th day of June 2024, the services below are proposed in addition to the executed Contract 

Agreement between Effingham County Board of Commissioners and Roberts Civil Engineering, 

LLC dated December 7th, 2021. All terms of the aforementioned Contract Agreement shall remain in 

effect for all work.    

 

The following provides a brief summary of the required changes to the Scope of Work in the 

Contract Agreement.  

 

1. Survey – Scope of Survey Work has significantly grown to accommodate increased scope of 

Roundabout Designs along with additional area for Traffic Staging and Slip Lanes adding increased 

need for Right-of-Way staking and plating. 

2. Underground Utility Design and Planning – Increases in Scope added extensive time to the Planning 

and Coordination with Effingham County Utility Providers including extensive Utility Design and 

Evaluation of Alternatives. 

3. Civil Engineering Design – Increased Scope of Work to include additional Roundabout Designs, Slip 

Lanes, Traffic Staging Plans and other additional requirements as requested by Effingham County 

Program Management team. 

4. Lighting Revisions – Additional Lighting Revisions are not anticipated at this time. 

5. Environmental Survey and Permitting – Additional Environmental Services are not anticipated at 

this time.   

6. Project Management – Responsibilities have significantly increased to accommodate the significant 

changes in the project: 

a. Scope of Work increased exponentially beyond the Project Descriptions in the 

Transportation Master Plan 

b. Increased Requirement to Maintain an uninterrupted traffic flow 

7. Construction Oversight – Responsibilities have greatly increased due to the additions of roundabout 

construction, lighting and the requirement to maintain an uninterrupted traffic flow. 

 

 

Additional Work Requested                           $793,200.00 

Work Removed from Scope – I-1B and I-6 -$301,180.00 

(Including Credits from Previously Removed I-9, I-10, & I-11) 

 

Item 1: Requested Increase in Hourly Not to Exceed Fee:   $492,020.00 
 

The Hourly Billable Rates we have used to project our Not to Exceed Fees are tied to our existing 

May 11, 2021 Indefinite Delivery Contract as modified by our March 7, 2023 Amendment #1.  In 

accordance with the Terms and Conditions of this agreement, we will only invoice for hours worked. 

 

*The following spreadsheet displays the budgeted summary for the additional work 

referenced and has been revised from the original sent 4/9/2024. 

211

Item X. 10.

http://www.robertscivilengineering.com/


Effingham County - TSPLOST - RFP - 22-25-006
Additional Services Request 6/20/2024

INTERSECTION I1B I2B I4B I5 I6 I7 I8B I9 I10 I11 TOTAL
ADDITIONAL SERVICES REQUIRED
Survey $92,000 $0 $11,500 $23,000 $0 $0 $34,500 $23,000 $0 $0 $0 $92,000

Underground Util. Plan $150,000 $0 $18,750 $37,500 $0 $0 $56,250 $37,500 $0 $0 $0 $150,000

Civil Engineering $131,200 $35,000 $7,650 $15,300 $0 $35,000 $22,950 $15,300 $0 $0 $0 $131,200

Traffic Studies $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Lighting Revisions $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Environmental $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
RCE Construction Oversight (3% of Const. Costs) $315,000 $0 $39,375 $78,750 $0 $0 $118,125 $78,750 $0 $0 $0 $315,000
RCE Project Management $105,000 $35,000 $5,833 $11,667 $0 $23,333 $17,500 $11,667 $0 $0 $0 $105,000

-$20,000 -$20,000 -$42,000 -$42,000 -$56,000 -$180,000.00
-$15,000 -$15,000 -$30,000.00

-$30,000.00
-$34,960 -$26,220 -$61,180.00

Proposed Increase in NTE Fee $40 $83,108 $166,217 $0 -$2,887 $249,325 $166,217 -$42,000 -$42,000 -$56,000 $492,020

COMPLETE
Notes: 1.  The costs shown are estimated increases to the Not to Exceed Contracted Fee.  The adjustments shown are based upon additional work performed or projected to be performed at the request of the Effingham County Board of Commissioners and Staff.

2.  The allocations shown for each intersection are shown as part of the Total NTE Fee for the project and are not guaranteed as the Not to Exceed Fee for each category or assignment.

4.  Right-of-Way Acquisition is subject to further adjustment as parcel impacts may change during final design.
3.  Traffic Studies, Lighting Revisions and Environmental Consulting are not included in this request and may be provided under a separate agreement.

<Lighting Phase Credit>
<Credit for Work Removed from Scope>

<Right of Way Acquisition Credit>
<Additional Lighting Credit for Hodgeville Rd Int's>

212

Item X. 10.

JeffBors
Typewriter
2



3 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed as of the day and 

year first above written.   

ENGINEER:            

CLIENT:            

 

 

          By:  Johnathan Roberts   

          For:  Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC          

           Its:  Professional Engineer   

                 

  

           

 
 

 

          By:  ____________________________   

          For:  ____________________________            

           Its:  ____________________________   

213

Item X. 10.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of PO 23-RFQ-062 for the Replacement of Fine Screen and Washer 

Compactor for the Waste Water Treatment Plant 

Author: Danielle Carver, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: WWTP 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: PO 23-RFQ-062 with Aqualitec Corp for the Replacement of Fine 

Screen and Washer Compactor 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of PO 23-RFQ-062 for the 

Replacement of Fine Screen and Washer Compactor for the Waste Water Treatment 

Plant for $111,700.00 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff posted a Request for Quotes for the replacement of fine screen and washer 

compactor for the Waste Water Treatment Plant.  

 

 After review from staff and reference checks by EOM, staff recommends award 

to Aqualitec Corp as they were the lowest qualified bidder. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of PO 23-RFQ-062 to Aqualitec Corp for the Replacement of Fine 

Screen and Washer Compactor for the Waste Water Treatment Plant for 

$111,700.00. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EOM, PCPM, Finance 

Funding Source: Budget Amendment May Be Necessary 

Attachments: PO 23-RFQ-062, Aqualitec Corp Scope and Pricing 

 

 

 

 

#1 Aqualitec Corp #2 Parkson #3 The TDH Company/OPS Group

$111,700.00 $149,735.00 $240,090.00

214

Item X. 11.



804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:
SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #
Phone: 912-754-2159
Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO
Aqualitec Corp Effingham County Board of Commissioners
3415 S Sepulveda Blvd #1100 804 S.Laurel Street
Los Angeles, CA 90034 Springfield, GA 31329

ATTN : Danielle Carver
ATTN : Olivier Monfort 912-754-2159
omonfort@aqualitec.com

ITEM # QTY
1 1

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS
ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  
Aqualitec Corp - SIGNATURE TITLE

  
Aqualitec Corp - PRINT NAME DATE

 
  
AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 
AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

 

 

Wesley Corbitt

-$                 
-$                 
-$                 

Aqualitec Corp agrees to furnish and replace the Fine Screen and Washer Compactor as described in the scope of 23-REQ-062.  The 
County references the terms, conditions and specifications contained in 23-REQ-062.

CHAIRMAN

111,700.00$   

TAX
S & H
OTHER
TOTAL

TAX RATE
111,700.00$   

-$                 
SUBTOTAL

 
 

UNIT PRICE
111,700.00$   

PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

Fine Screen and Washer Compactor

Project ID: 23-REQ-062
Replacement of Fine Screen and Washer Compactor

7/16/2024
23-REQ-062

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL
$111,700.00

215

Item X. 11.



216

Item X. 11.



217

Item X. 11.



218

Item X. 11.



219

Item X. 11.



220

Item X. 11.



Staff Report 
 

Subject: Public Works Services Agreement Amendment 7 for FY 2025 

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department: Public Works  

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration to approve Amendment 7 to EOM Operations contract 

to perform Public Works related tasks. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval of Amendment 7 with EOM Operations to 

perform Public Works related tasks.   

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The County has utilized consultant services for Public Works support.  Since 2015, EOM 
Operations has performed these tasks.  Public Works Operations Management Services 
include the County’s department of Public Works, Fleet Maintenance, Water Distribution and 
Wastewater Collections and Treatment. 

 The current contract was approved on June 20, 2017. 

 Amendment 1 dated August 7th, 2018; Amendment 2 dated August 20th, 2019; Amendment 

3 dated September 15th, 2020; Amendment 4 dated October 19th, 2021; Amendment 5 dated 

June 21, 2022. And Amendment 6 dated July 18th, 2023. 

 Operations Amendment 7 adds the additional lift stations and increases/decreases as listed 

below. 

1. Water/Sewer $576,810 (increased in budget was $554,625) 
2. WWTP $343,486 (increased in budget was $330,275) 
3. Public Works $1,380,210 (increased in budget was $1,327,125) 
4. Ash Roads $195,000 no change 
5. Fleet $306,800 (decreased units was $390,000) 

 For FY 2025, County staff is recommending Public Works services be performed via contract 

with EOM Operations. This assures timely and complete services to the community in the 

most cost-effective manner.   

 Funding is approved in the FY 2025 budget. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve Amendment 7 for the extension of Public Works services for FY 2025 for EOM 

Operations. 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Public Works 

Funding Source: General Fund & Special Funds. 

 

Attachments: 

1. EOM Operations Contract June 20, 2017 with Amendment 1 through 6. 

2. FY 2025 Amendment 7 proposal. 

221

Item X. 12.



222

Item X. 12.



223

Item X. 12.



224

Item X. 12.



225

Item X. 12.



226

Item X. 12.



227

Item X. 12.



228

Item X. 12.



229

Item X. 12.



230

Item X. 12.



231

Item X. 12.



232

Item X. 12.



233

Item X. 12.



234

Item X. 12.



235

Item X. 12.



236

Item X. 12.



237

Item X. 12.



238

Item X. 12.



239

Item X. 12.



240

Item X. 12.



241

Item X. 12.



242

Item X. 12.



243

Item X. 12.



244

Item X. 12.



245

Item X. 12.



246

Item X. 12.



247

Item X. 12.



248

Item X. 12.



249

Item X. 12.



250

Item X. 12.



251

Item X. 12.



252

Item X. 12.



253

Item X. 12.



254

Item X. 12.



255

Item X. 12.



256

Item X. 12.



257

Item X. 12.



258

Item X. 12.



259

Item X. 12.



260

Item X. 12.



261

Item X. 12.



262

Item X. 12.



263

Item X. 12.



264

Item X. 12.



265

Item X. 12.



266

Item X. 12.



267

Item X. 12.



v1 

AMENDMENT No. 7 
AGREEMENT 

For 
OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

 
This Amendment No. 7 (hereinafter referred to as “Amendment”) is made by and between The Board of 
Commissioners of Effingham County (hereinafter referred to as “County”) and EOM Operations, a 
division of EOM Public Works, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “EOM”). 

WHEREAS, the County and EOM entered into an Agreement for Public Works Operations Management 
Services  dated June 20th, 2017 for Public Works Operations Management Services defined to include 
the County’s department of Public Works, Fleet Maintenance, Water Distribution and Wastewater 
Collections and Treatment (hereinafter referred to as  the “Agreement”); Amendment 1 dated August 
7th, 2018; Amendment 2 dated August 20th, 2019; Amendment 3 dated September 15th, 2020; 
Amendment 4 dated October 19th, 2021; Amendment 5 dated June 21st, 2022; Amendment 6 dated July 
18th, 2023 and   

WHEREAS, the parties desire to amend the provisions of the Agreement; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises in the Agreement, and for 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the parties agree as set forth below. 

1. This Amendment allows for an increase in the Base Fee to $2,797,025  
  

2. This Amendment modifies section 2.3.5 of the Agreement for Public Works Operations Management 
Services to reflect the current lift station listed below.  

EF-PS-01 MARLOW ELEMENTARY 
EF-PS-02 SOUTH BEND 

EF-PS-03 
SOUTH EFFINGHAM 
ELEMENTARY 

EF-PS-04 HODGEVILLE ROAD 
EF-PS-05 PARK WEST 
EF-PS-06 EXLEY TRACT 
EF-PS-07 GREYSTONE 
EF-PS-08 BLANDFORD ELEMENTARY 
EF-PS-09 GOSHEN ROAD_LEARNING TREE 
EF-PS-10 WINDFIELD 
EF-PS-11 S.E.P_BUCKINGHAM 

EF-PS-12 
OLD AUGUSTA RD- JASPER 
VILLAGE 

EF-PS-13 TIMBERLAKE 
EF-PS-14 STAFFORDSHIRE 
EF-PS-15 SETTLERS POINT 
EF-PS-16 PARK WEST PHASE 3 
EF-PS-17 RED OAK 

EF-PS-18 SUMMER STATION 
EF-PS-19 CEDAR RIDGE 
EF-PS-20 LAUREL MILL 
EF-PS-21 BLANDFORD CROSSING 
EF-PS-22 SADDLECLUB @ BELMONT GLEN 
EF-PS-23 PATRIOTS POINT 
EF-PS-24 ANTIGUA- CARRIBEAN VILLAGE 
EF-PS-25 PARK WEST PHASE 4 
EF-PS-26 WOODLANDS 
EF-PS-27 COVERED BRIDGE 
EF-PS-28 TRADE CENTER- GITC 
EF-PS-29 BLUE JAY COMMONS 
EF-PS-30 PARK WEST PHASE 5 
EF-PS-31 CREEKSIDE 
EF-PS-32 NEW HAVEN 
EF-PS-33 GITC 2 
EF-PS-34 Old Augusta Commerce Center 
EF-PS-35 Old Augusta Warehouses 
  

268

Item X. 12.



v1 

3. This Amendment allows for a change in department operating limits and structure to reflect the 2024-
2025 approved budget. EOM will provide an accounting of the amount spent for each budget in the 
monthly report.  
 

4. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between the Agreement, previous Amendments and this 
Amendment, this Amendment shall control. 
 

5. This Amendment shall be effective and binding on the date that the last authorized signature is affixed 
below.  

Both parties indicate their approval of this Amendment by their signatures below. 
 
EOM OPERATIONS            Board of Commissioners of Effingham County 
 
Authorized Signature ______________________       Authorized Signature _______________________ 

Name____________________________         Name ____________________________________ 

Title______________________________         Title______________________________________ 

Date_______________             Date_____________________ 

269

Item X. 12.



Staff Report 
Subject: Consideration to Approve Task Order 9 with EOM Operations under the 

Master Services Agreement  

Author: Danielle Carver, PCPM 

Department:  

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Task Order 9 with EOM Operations under the Master Services 

Agreement 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Task Order 9 with EOM 

Operations for services under the Master Services Agreement 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 

 The services included in this Task Order are as follows: 

 

1. Section 1 Water and Sewer Site Plan Review $192,288  
2. Section 2 MS4 Compliance Services $21,300.00  
3. Section 3 WPP Services $27,500.00  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approve Task Order 9 with EOM Operations under the Master Services 

Agreement for FY25 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Finance 

Funding Source: Operations 

Attachments: Task Order 9 

 

 

 

 

270

Item X. 13.



 
 

  Page 1 

Task Order 9  
Civil Engineering Services 
 
 
EOM Operations, a full-scale public works operations, engineering, and utilities construction firm is pleased to 
provide civil engineering design review services as described below. The services described herein shall be performed 
in accordance with and shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Agreement for Professional 
Services (hereinafter referred to as “Agreement”) executed by and between The Board of Commissioners of 
Effingham County (hereinafter referred to as “County”) and EOM Operations, a division of EOM Public Works, LLC 
(hereinafter referred to as “EOM”) on 15th day of September, 2020 and all subsequent amendments to the 
Agreement. 

1. Site Plan Review 
1.1 Water and sewer plan review of residential subdivisions and commercial and industrial sites. This includes 

the review of sanitary sewer systems, potable water systems, and reuse water systems for compliance with 
Effingham County’s, State and Federal Design Standards and Specifications. Review shall be based on 
electronic plan submissions provided by Owner staff. Services exclude meetings and/or calls with consultants 
to review County development standards and ordinances. 
 

1.2 The following are excluded from site plan review services.  
 

1.2.1 Residential development plan reviews greater than 20 acres 
1.2.2 Commercial development plan reviews that are greater than 50 acres 
1.2.3 Water and Sewer Extension forms and submittals. 
1.2.4 Review and evaluation of Traffic Impact Studies and Speed Studies. 
1.2.5 Review of clearing and grading plans, storm drainage systems, hydrology reports, geotechnical 

reports, and roadway systems 
1.2.6 Reviewing and updating existing County’s specifications, ordinances, standards and procedures 

related to site development, civil engineering, and construction. 
1.2.7 Review of any site development located in sensitive areas which will require additional technical 

assistance to evaluate. 
1.2.8 Review of site development of any commercial or industrial facilities which handle hazardous 

materials or require any specialized pre-treatment facility or component which will require 
specialized technical staff to review. 

1.2.9 Review of surface and sub-surface mines sites, landfills, and contaminated or brownfield sites. 
1.2.10 Review of any structural component of any site development. 
1.2.11 Review of any septic systems. 
1.2.12 More than 3 reviews for a single development due to quality, changes in the project, additional 

requirements stipulated by other agencies, etc. These reviews will be performed on an hourly basis.  
1.2.13 Site inspections. If requested, these will be performed on an hourly basis.  

2. Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Compliance Services 
2.1 Planning: EOM will meet with all relevant County departments to discuss project tasks and ensure all are 

properly planned. During this meeting EOM will provide the activity summary which will outline all tasks that 
will need to be completed prior to the December 31st, 2024, deadline. The activity summary is a summary of 
the best management practices (BMPs) in the County’s Stormwater Management Program (SWMP). EOM will 
meet with the appropriate departments prior to the end of the permit year to discuss the SWMP and ensure 
that all tasks are complete or scheduled for completion.  

271

Item X. 13.



 
 

  Page 2 

2.2 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 1 Stormwater Presentations: EOM will prepare and present educational opportunities 
utilizing lesson plans, books, resources and other educational tools. 

2.3 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 2 Education through Media Outlets: EOM will prepare and distribute 4 general awareness 
information topics to multiple media outlets.  

2.4 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 3 Education through Website Scope Changes: EOM will make recommendations to IT for 
updates to the website to improve education content and ease of use. 

2.5 MCM 4.2.1 BMP 4 Educational Brochures: EOM will create educational brochures for distribution at the 
County administrative offices. The cost of printing will be billed to the County without markup. 

2.6 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 1 Rivers Alive Clean-Up: EOM will coordinate, advertise and oversee a stream clean up 
event. 

2.7 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 2 Community Outreach Clean-Up: EOM will coordinate, advertise and oversee a litter clean 
up event. 

2.8 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 3 Recycling Program: The County currently contracts waste disposal and recycling services to 
Atlantic Waste. EOM will provide copies of recycling schedules and items accepted in the annual report.  

2.9 MCM 4.2.2 BMP 4 Citizen Complaint: EOM will include a summary of all citizen complaints received related to 
stormwater pollutants and illicit discharges in the annual report.  

2.10 MCM 4.2.3 BMP 3 Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination (IDDE) Inspections: In accordance with the 
County’s approved SWMP, The County is required to complete dry weather screening on 100% of the total 
number of outfalls within the 5-year permit term that are located within the County limits that outfall to 
Waters of the State annually. Dry weather screening will be performed according to the County’s dry 
weather screening procedures approved by the EPD. The EPD approved dry weather screening checklist will 
also be filled out for each outfall visited and inspected. The checklists will be delivered in a format that can be 
easily inserted into the County’s NPDES Phase II 2024 Annual Report. If a dry weather discharge is present, a 
visual observation of the flow’s odor, color, turbidity, and floatables will be noted. Also, a sample will be 
collected and tested per the County’s approved IDDE Guidance Manual for temperature, pH level, chlorine, 
surfactants, and specific conductivity utilizing an in-situ water quality meter. Finally, a sample will be 
collected and analyzed for surfactants by a laboratory. If the in-situ measurement or visual observations 
indicated potential sewage, a fecal coliform grab sample will be collected and analyzed by a laboratory. 

2.11 MCM 4.2.3 BMP 3 IDDE Source Tracing: Source tracing activities will need to be completed if the dry weather 
screening data indicates that there is a potential water quality impairment present. The County will be 
notified immediately if the in-situ parameters or laboratory results indicate that there is a potential illicit 
discharge prior to beginning any source tracing activities. EOM will not initiate source tracing activities 
without prior authorization of the County. Source tracing will involve following the MS4 system “upstream” 
to identify the source of the non-stormwater discharge. Please note that the NPDES Phase II permit requires 
that the County to source trace 100% of the identified illicit discharges and notify the illicit discharger to 
cease the activity, if the source tracing clearly documents the source. If the source cannot be definitively 
identified, the County is only required to document the activities undertaken and the findings. All the source 
tracing work should be performed according to the EPD approved Source Tracing Procedures included in the 
County’s SWMP. Source tracing is considered out of scope. If EOM performs a source tracing work effort, the 
estimated cost for EOM to conduct the work will be based on a “per source tracing exercise.” If the illicit 
discharge source cannot be clearly identified within a three-hour time frame, the work will be documented 
and provided to the County for approval of further investigation. 

2.12 MCM 4.2.3 BMP 4 Illicit Discharge Education: EOM will provide education related to IDDE. 
2.13 MCM 4.2.6 BMP 2 MS4 Inspections: In accordance with the County’s approved SWMP, the County shall 

inspect 100% of the MS4 structures in urbanized areas within the 5-year permit term. EOM will complete a 
visual inspection and record the data. The inspection records will be summarized in an excel spreadsheet and 
submitted with the Annual Report. 

2.14 MCM 4.2.6 BMP 5 Employee Training: EOM will utilize existing training materials and conduct an employee 
training session for County employees involved in facility management, construction, or operations. 

2.15 EPD Annual Report Submission: After the December 31st, 2024, deadline, EOM will contact County staff to 
collect information on programs implemented during the 2024 reporting period. This documentation will be 
used to develop the County’s Annual Report for submittal to EPD by February 15th, 2025. Prior to submittal, 

272

Item X. 13.



 
 

  Page 3 

an electronic copy of the Annual Report will be provided to the County for review and comment. Once the 
County finds the report acceptable, EOM will submit the Annual Report to EPD. If EPD has comments on the 
Annual Report, EOM will address the comments on an hourly basis.  

2.16 At this time, the County’s MS4 boundary is limited and fully developed. As such, some of the services in the 
permit’s Minimum Control Measures have not been needed. In the event this changes, EOM can provide 
additional services at an hourly rate upon written authorization from the County. 

3. Long Term Monitoring for Watershed Protection Plan (WPP) 
3.1 Water Quality Monitoring: Water quality will be monitored as required according to the Watershed 

Protection Plan updated on June 2020. The monitoring for all parameters except metals and bacteria will be 
performed four (4) times per year during three (3) dry weather days (no rain event over previous 72 hours) 
and one (1) wet weather day (at least 0.2 inches rainfall and at least 72 hours since the last storm event). The 
wet weather event will be collected as a composite of three grab samples collected over the storm 
hydrograph. Bacteria sampling, including fecal coliform and enterococci, will be based on a geometric mean 
(geomean) requiring the collection of four (4) samples over a thirty-day period. Bacteria sampling will be 
performed during the summer months to calculate two (2) geomeans per year. Metals will be monitored 
once annually during the wet weather event.  

3.2 EPD Annual Report Submission: As a part of implementing the WPP, a certification including summary of 
work and EPD’s Excel Watershed Assessment and Protection Plan Data Submittal Form will be completed and 
submitted to the County. The task also includes providing quarterly updates of the sampling progress along 
with results. The annual certification and report will be submitted to EPD by June 30, 2025.   

4. Reporting 
Provide monthly progress reports for inclusion in Board of Commissioner packets. 

5. Owner Meetings  
Attend Planning Board and Board of Commissioner’s meetings, as necessary, to participate in technical discussions or 
provide project updates on agenda items involving EOM services. Attend regular meetings with Owner staff to 
provide technical assistance and guidance. Meetings may be conducted in person or virtual and shall not exceed 
more than one meeting per week. 

6. Compensation 
6.1 Owner shall pay to EOM as compensation for services performed under this Task Order a Base Fee of Two 
Hundred Fifty-Seven Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-Eight Dollars ($241,088.00). Below is a breakdown of the Base 
Fee.  
 

6.1.1 Section 1 Water and Sewer Site Plan Review $192,288 
6.1.2 Section 2 MS4 Compliance Services $21,300.00 
6.1.3 Section 3 WPP Services $27,500.00 

 
6.2 Services will be billed on a monthly basis.  

 
5.2 Additional efforts, including fees and services outside the Scope of Services will be coordinated directly with 
the Owner prior to proceeding. Additional fees will be billed at the hourly rates shown on Appendix A.  

7. Authority 
6.1 Both parties represent and warrant to the other party that the execution, delivery, and performance of this 
Task Order has been duly authorized by the responsible parties thereof. Both parties warrant that all required 
approvals have been obtained and the executing party below has such authority to bind the party. 

273

Item X. 13.



 
 

  Page 4 

 
Both parties indicate their approval of this Task Order by their signatures below.  
 
EOM OPERATIONS,      Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
a division of EOM PUBLIC WORKS, LLC   
 
Authorized Signature:      Authorized Signature: 
 
   
Name: __________________________   Name: __________________________ 
 
Title: ____________________________   Title: ____________________________ 
  
Date: ___________________________   Date: ___________________________ 
 
  

274

Item X. 13.



 
 

  Page 5 

Appendix A – Additional Services 
 
 
Additional outside of base scope services shall be billed at the hourly rates listed below and shall be invoiced the 
month following the month in which services occurred.  
 

Director of Engineering/Vice President    $190.00/HR  
Floodplain Manager        $180.00/HR  
Program Manager       $175.00/HR  
Senior Professional Engineer     $165.00/HR  
Professional Engineer      $155.00/HR 
Engineer        $145.00/HR  
Project Manager      $135.00/HR 
Construction Engineer      $125.00/HR  
CADD Draftsmen       $115.00/HR  
Administration       $75.00/HR  

 

275

Item X. 13.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    FY 2025 Budget Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 7/16/24 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the FY 2025 budget. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval of an amendment to the FY 2025 budget. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year the Board of Commissioners proposes a tentative budget. During the year, 

the Board receives requests from agencies and department heads to adjust the budget. 

Additionally, other factors, such as revenue, may fluctuate thereby allowing the Board to 

direct that additional expenditures be made. Therefore, a formal budget resolution 

incorporating these factors is made to adjust the budget accordingly.  

 

Background: 

Georgia Law 6-81-3. Requires the establishment of fiscal year; requirement of annual 
balanced budget; adoption of budget ordinances or resolutions generally; budget 
amendments; uniform chart of accounts. Section (b)(1) notes that each unit of local 
government shall adopt and operate under an annual balanced budget for the general 
fund, each special revenue fund, and each debt service fund in use by the local 
government. The annual balanced budget shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution 
and administered in accordance with this article. 
 
  
The budget amendment attached reflects the following changes: 

1. The library system submitted an original budget proposal in February and 
an amended proposal in April.  Finance omitted the amended proposal 
from the adopted FY 2025 county budget, in error.  This proposed budget 
amendment corrects that.   
 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the resolution to amend the budget for FY 2025.  
2. Do not approve the resolution. 

3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

276

Item X. 14.



Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the resolution to amend the budget 

for FY 2025. 

 

Other Alternatives:  

N/A  

 

Department Review:  

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Fund Balance 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2025 budget amendment resolution 

277

Item X. 14.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
           Resolution# ____________ 

 

State of Georgia 

County of Effingham 

 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE FY 2025 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, the FY 2025 budget of Effingham County was adopted on June 18th  2024 

and; WHEREAS, it is necessary to further amend said budget to reflect desired changes and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County Effingham, 

Georgia that the following amendment be made: 

  

 
 
 

This amendment allocates funding for the amended Live Oaks Library FY 2025 operating budget 

proposal. 

 
 Approved this _____ day of ___________   2024. 
 
Attest: 
 
 
                                          
Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk   Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman  

DEPT DEPT NAME ACCT NAME ACCT NO. TYPE AMOUNT DESCRIPTION

051 OTHER AGENCIES LIBRARY 100-6510-051-57-2009 EXP 51,052          allocate funding for updated library budget proposal

051 OTHER AGENCIES CASH CARRY FORWARD 100-38-9015 FB (51,052)        allocate funding for updated library budget proposal

-                net entries

278

Item X. 14.



 

 

Staff Report 
Subject:   City of Springfield Annexation - Map# 389B Parcel# 18 

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Consideration to acknowledge a Petition for Annexation as submitted by the 

City of Springfield located at 1528 Highway 21 South Map# 389B Parcel# 18 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

According to an aerial photography provided by Effingham County GIS data, this parcel is 

contiguous with other properties within the city limits of Springfield. Adjoining parcels of property 

were annexed earlier this year (March 2024).  
 

Executive Summary: 

As required under state law O.C.G.A §36-36-6 upon accepting an application for annexation or a 

petition for annexation, the governing authority of the annexing municipality shall provide written 

notice to the governing authority of the county where the proposed annexation is located.  

 

A public hearing of the City of Springfield’s Planning & Zoning Board and the Mayor and City 

Council will be held July 23, 2024, at 6:00 pm to consider this petition. Said property is currently 

zoned AR-1, proposed zoning upon annexation will be B-1. 
 

Background: 

Annexation documentation was received via hand delivered mail from the City of Springfield. These 

parcels identified as Map# 389B Parcel# 18 (owned by Midnight Garden LLC) consisting of 1 acre. 

This property lies within the City of Springfield’s water and sewer service area. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Acknowledge the Petition Requesting Annexation as presented by the City of Springfield 
2. Do not approve the Petition Requesting Annexation. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff leaves the decision to the Board’s discretion.   
 

Other Alternatives: N/A Department Review: Administration  
 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Petitions for Annexation 
2. Aerial Map (related parcels and depicting city boundary) 

 

279

Item X. 15.



280

Item X. 15.



281

Item X. 15.



282

Item X. 15.



283

Item X. 15.



284

Item X. 15.



285

Item X. 15.



286

Item X. 15.



287

Item X. 15.



288

Item X. 15.



289

Item X. 15.



290

Item X. 15.



Staff Report          

   
Subject: Memorandum of Understanding Proposed Sewer Assets between Effingham County 
and City of Springfield 

Author: Jonathan Hulme  

Department: Engineering  

Date:  July 16, 2024  

  

Item Description: Memorandum of Understanding Proposed Sewer Assets between 
Effingham County and City of Springfield 

  

Summary Recommendation:  
This memorandum will establish a memorandum of understanding to accept sewer from the city 

of Springfield. This will help the regions sewer capacity and resiliency by taking advantage of 

the expansion of the Effingham County wastewater treatment plant.  

  

Executive Summary/Background:   
City of Springfield and City of Guyton have no capacity to treat additional wastewater. This 

memorandum establishes a basic understanding of between the municipalities and cost sharing for 

the project. The goal is to have sewer unification in place at the same time of the Effingham County 

wastewater treatment plant expansion being completed.  

 

Alternatives:  
Approve the Memorandum of Understanding Proposed Sewer Assets between Effingham 
County and City of Springfield. 

  

Deny the Memorandum of Understanding Proposed Sewer Assets between Effingham County 
and City of Springfield. 

  

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2  

  

Department Review:  Engineering Department   FUNDING: N/A  

  

Attachments: MOU Proposed Sewer Assets Effingham County and City of Springfield  

291

Item X. 16.



 

 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM            MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING     

CITY OF SPRINGFIELD 

                                 

                     

  

This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is made and entered into this ____ day of 

XXXXX, 2024, by and between the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, a public 

body corporate and politic of the State of Georgia existing under the Constitution of the State of 

Georgia (hereinafter referred to as “Effingham County”, and the City of Springfield, Georgia, a 

Municipal Corporation and political subdivision of the State of Georgia (hereinafter referred to 

as “Springfield”) and; 

  

WHEREAS, Effingham County and the City of Springfield, among others, the power to: 

(a) acquire by purchase and hold, maintain, lease and operate a water and sewage system and 

now owns, operates and maintains a water and sewage system and (b) contract with others 

pertaining to the sewer facilities; and 

 

    WHEREAS, pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of Georgia, Effingham 

County and the City of Springfield have the power to provide stormwater and sewage collection 

and disposal systems, and to provide for the development, storage, treatment purification, and 

distribution of sewer; and 

 

   WHEREAS, Article IX, Section III, Paragraph 1 of the Constitution of the State of 

Georgia provides that “The state, or any institution, department, or other agency thereof, and any 

county, municipality, school district, or other political subdivision of the state may contract for 

any period not exceeding 50 years with each other or with any other public agency, public 

corporation, or public authority for joint services, for the provision of services, or for the joint or 

separate use of facilities or equipment; but such contracts must deal with activities, services, or 

facilities which the contracting parties are authorized by law to undertake or provide. By way of 

specific instance and not limitation, a mutual undertaking by a local government entity to borrow 

and an undertaking by the state or a state authority to lend funds from and to one another for 

water or sewerage facilities or systems or for regional or multijurisdictional solid waste recycling 

or solid waste facilities or systems pursuant to law shall be a provision for services and an 

activity within the meaning of this Paragraph.” 

 

   WHEREAS, the actions to be mutually taken by Parties herein will benefit the health, 

safety, and general welfare of the citizens of Effingham County, the City of Springfield, and the 

City of Guyton. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties desiring to work together to establish certain 

conditions relative to the provision of sewer assets understand as follows: 

 

1. Effingham County Focus of Effort:  

 

The parties understand that Effingham County:  

 

(a) Will perform a Feasibility Study to analyze potential routes for a possible reuse and 

force main extension that would benefit the region with the least amount of cost and 

impact; 30% design plans will be produced as a result of this study for the selected 

route; 
292

Item X. 16.



 

2 
 

 

(b) Will contract with an Engineer to finalize engineering plans based on the Feasibility 

Study for the design, construction, extension, implementation and operation of sewer 

assets connecting the City of Springfield’s wastewater treatment plant to Effingham 

County’s wastewater treatment plant, for the approval by the Parties; 

 

(c) Will fund the design and construction of the proposed sewer assets, if grant funds are 

not secured; 

 

(d) Will properly account for and administer any grant funds it may receive associated 

with the activities described in this Memorandum;  

 

 

2.   City of Springfield Focus of Effort: 

 

The parties understand that the City of Springfield: 

 

(a) Will provide anticipated flows for discharge to Effingham County’s contracted 

Engineer during the detailed design phase to be sure proposed pipes are adequately 

sized; 
 

(b) Will accept flow from the City of Guyton through a separate agreement between the 

City of Springfield and the City of Guyton;  

 

(c) Will be responsible for sending a minimum amount of flow to be agreed upon with 

Effingham County through the newly proposed sewer assets to ensure minimal 

operational standards are met; frequency to be memorialized through an 

Intergovernmental Agreement once the design plans are finalized and pipe sizes are 

determined; 
 

(d) Will be responsible for cost sharing for the design and construction costs for the 

proposed sewer assets through cost recovery fees, if grant funding is not secured; 

exact distribution of cost recovery fees to be paid will be negotiated at a later date 

through an Intergovernmental Agreement 

 

4.  City and County Joint Activities: 

 

The parties understand that they will: 

 

(a) pursue funding initiatives and matching funds to serve any service areas 

 

(b) cooperate in sharing technical expertise, data, analyses, and resources to further the 

purposes of this Memorandum; 

 

(c) meet regularly to review the progress of collaborative projects, address issues, and 

plan future activities associated with the sewer extension project  

 

(d) bear its own costs associated with its obligations under this Memorandum unless 

otherwise agreed upon in writing. 

293

Item X. 16.



 

3 
 

 

(e) determine a discharge scenario to Effingham County from Springfield 

 

(f) determine ownership, operation and maintenance of proposed sewer assets  

 

        4. This Memorandum shall be effective once signed by authorized representatives of 

the parties and shall continue until XXXXX or until the various tasks and conditions set forth 

herein have been accomplished, whichever comes first.   

 

 5. Either party may terminate this Memorandum by giving the other party ninety 

(90) days’ written notice of intent to terminate.   

 

 6.   Any notices between the parties may be given in writing, to include e-mail, by 

authorized representatives of the parties.   

 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF THIS MEMORANDUM is executed by the authorized 

representative of each of the parties as of this ____ day of XXXXX 

 

 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA  CITY OF SPRINGFIELD, GEORGIA                 

        EDGEFIELD COUNTIES, INC. 

_________________________                                        _____________________    _________________________  

By:                                                      By:     By:  Will Williams 

                                              

 

294

Item X. 16.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of the Preliminary Engineering Agreement with CSX Transportation, Inc. for 

the Goshen Road Widening Project 

Author: Danielle Carver, Procurement and Capital Projects Manager 

Department: Public Works/Roads 

Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 

Item Description: Preliminary Engineering Agreement with CSX Transportation, Inc 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the Preliminary Engineering 

Agreement with CSX Transportation, Inc. for the Goshen Road Widening Project 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 The PE Agreement will cover the effort for distribution of plans to various internal 

departments for project scope approval, site inspections, review of project plans, 

correspondence/ meetings to progress the project schedule, preparation of agreement 

exhibits, and coordinating schedule for construction work. 

 Note that the agreement amount is an estimate and that only actual charges will be 

billed. The estimated proposed amount is $64,543.00. If the actual charges end up 

exceeding $64,543.00 then the proposal will be reviewed and resubmitted to the Board 

for approval.  

 The agreement has been reviewed and approved to form by the County Attorney, as 

well as Thomas & Hutton in a program management capacity. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the Preliminary Engineering Agreement with CSX Transportation, Inc. for the 

Goshen Road Widening Project for up to $64,543.00. 

2. Take no action. 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, County Engineer, PCPM, County Attorney, T&H 

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments: Preliminary Engineering Agreement with CSX Transportation, Inc 

295

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

Page 1 of 7 

    

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING AGREEMENT 

 This Preliminary Engineering Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made as of 

________________________, 2024, by and between CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC., a Virginia 

corporation with its principal place of business in Jacksonville, Florida (“CSXT”), and Effingham 

County, a body corporate and political subdivision of the  State of Georgia (“Agency”). 

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT 

1. Agency wishes to facilitate the development of the proposed Goshen Rd. roadway widening at 

crossing number 635121D, milepost S-485.55 in the Carolinas Zone, Columbia subdivision 

located in Rincon, Effingham County, GA (the “Project”). 

2. Agency has requested that CSXT proceed with certain necessary engineering and/or design 

services for the Project to facilitate the parties’ consideration of the Project. 

3. Subject to the approval of CSXT, which approval may be withheld for any reason directly or 

indirectly related to safety or CSXT operations, property, or facilities, the Project is to be 

constructed, if at all, at no cost to CSXT, under a separate construction agreement to be executed 

by the parties at a future date. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing Explanatory Statement and other 

good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged by the parties 

and incorporate by reference, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Scope of Work 

1.1.    Generally.  The work to be done by CSXT under this Agreement shall consist of: (i) the 

preparation or review and approval of preliminary and final engineering and design plans, 

specifications, drawings, agreements and other documents pertaining to the Project, (ii) the 

preparation of cost estimates for CSXT's work in connection with the Project, and (iii) the 

review of construction cost estimates, site surveys, plats, legal descriptions, assessments, 

studies, easements, agreements and related construction documents submitted to CSXT by 

Agency for the Project (collectively, the “Engineering Work”).  Engineering Work may also 

include office reviews, field reviews, attending hearings and meetings, and preparing 

correspondence, reports, and other documentation in connection with the Project.  Nothing 

contained in this Agreement shall oblige CSXT to perform work which, in CSXT’s opinion, is 

not relevant to CSXT’s participation in the Project. 

1.2. Effect of CSXT Approval or Preparation of Documents.  By its review, approval or preparation 

of plans, specifications, drawings or other documents pursuant to this Agreement (collectively, 

the “Plans”), CSXT signifies only that the Plans and the Project proposed to be constructed in 

accordance with the Plans satisfy CSXT’s requirements. CSXT expressly disclaims all other 

representations and warranties in connection with the Plans, including, but not limited to, the 

integrity, suitability or fitness for the purposes of Agency or any other persons of such Plans or 

the Project constructed in accordance with the Plans. 

2. Project Construction.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute CSXT's 

approval of or consent to the construction of the Project, which approval or consent may be withheld 

296

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

Page 2 of 7 

    

for any reason directly or indirectly related to safety or CSXT operations, property, or facilities.  The 

Project if constructed is to be constructed, if at all, under a separate construction agreement to be 

executed by the parties at a future date. Furthermore, the PUBLIC AGENCY acknowledges and 

understands that any estimated cost to construct the Project shall only be good for a limited period of 

time and that any delays to move to construction, if CSXT agrees to such construction, shall result in 

increased costs. 

3. Reimbursement of CSXT Expenses. 

3.1. Reimbursable Expenses.  Agency shall reimburse CSXT for all costs and expenses incurred by 

CSXT in connection with the Engineering Work, including, without limitation: (i) all out of 

pocket expenses, (ii) travel and lodging expenses, (iii) telephone, facsimile, and mailing 

expenses, (iv) costs for equipment, tools, materials and supplies, (v) sums paid to consultants 

and subcontractors, and (vi) labor, together with labor overhead percentages established by 

CSXT pursuant to applicable law (collectively, the “Reimbursable Expenses”). 

3.2. Estimate.  CSXT has estimated the total Reimbursable Expenses for the Project to be 

approximately $64,543 (the “Estimate” as amended or revised).  In the event CSXT anticipates 

that actual Reimbursable Expenses may exceed such Estimate, it shall provide Agency with the 

revised Estimate of total Reimbursable Expenses for Agency's approval and confirmation that 

sufficient funds have been appropriated to cover the total Reimbursable Expenses as reflected 

in the revised Estimate.  CSXT may elect, by delivery of notice to Agency, to immediately 

cease all further Engineering Work, unless and until Agency provides such approval and 

confirmation. 

3.3. Payment Terms. 

3.3.1. Advance Payment in Full.  Upon execution and delivery of this Agreement by 

Agency, Agency will deposit with CSXT a sum equal to the Reimbursable Expenses, 

as shown by the Estimate.  Agency shall submit advance deposit payment to CSXT 

for Reimbursable Expenses in the amount set forth in Section 3.2 Estimate, with a 

copy of the CSXT Schedule PA form attached to this agreement, to the address on 

the CSXT Schedule PA form.  If CSXT anticipates that it may incur Reimbursable 

Expenses in excess of the deposited amount, CSXT will request an additional deposit 

equal to the then remaining Reimbursable Expenses which CSXT estimates that it 

will incur.  CSXT shall request such additional deposit by delivery of invoices to 

Agency.  Agency shall make such additional deposit within thirty (30) days following 

delivery of such invoice to Agency. 

3.3.2. Following completion of all Engineering Work, CSXT shall reconcile the total 

Reimbursable Expenses incurred by CSXT against the total payments received from 

Agency and shall submit to Agency a final invoice if required.  Agency shall pay to 

CSXT the amount by which actual Reimbursable Expenses exceed total payments, as 

shown by the final invoice, within thirty (30) days following delivery to Agency of 

the final invoice.  CSXT will provide a refund of any unused deposits if the deposit 

exceeds the incurred Reimbursable Expenses for the Project. 

3.3.3. In the event that Agency fails to pay CSXT any sums due CSXT under this 

Agreement: (i) Agency shall pay CSXT interest at the lesser of 1.0% per month or 

297

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

Page 3 of 7 

    

the maximum rate of interest permitted by applicable law on the delinquent amount 

until paid in full; and (ii) CSXT may elect, by delivery of notice to Agency: (A) to 

immediately cease all further work on the Project, unless and until Agency pays the 

entire delinquent sum, together with accrued interest; and/or (B) to terminate this 

Agreement. 

3.4. Effect of Termination.  Agency’s obligation to pay CSXT Reimbursable Expenses in 

accordance with this Section shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

4. Appropriations.  Agency represents to CSXT that: (i) Agency has obtained appropriations sufficient 

to reimburse CSXT for the Reimbursable Expenses encompassed by the initial Estimate; (ii) Agency 

shall use its best efforts to obtain appropriations necessary to cover Reimbursable Expenses 

encompassed by subsequent Estimates approved by Agency; and (iii) Agency shall promptly notify 

CSXT in the event that Agency is unable to obtain such additional appropriations. 

5. Termination. 

5.1. By Agency.  Agency may terminate this Agreement, for any reason, by delivery of notice to 

CSXT.  Such termination shall become effective upon the expiration of fifteen (15) calendar 

days following delivery of notice to CSXT or such later date designated by the notice. 

5.2. By CSXT.  CSXT may terminate this Agreement (i) as provided pursuant to Section 3.3.3., or 

(ii) upon Agency’s breach of any of the terms of, or its obligations under, this Agreement and 

such breach continues without cure for a period of ninety (90) days after written notification 

from CSXT to Agency of such breach.   

5.3. Consequences of Termination.  If the Agreement is terminated by either party pursuant to this 

Section or any other provision of this Agreement, the parties understand that it may be 

impractical to immediately stop the Engineering Work.  Accordingly, both parties agree that, 

in such instance a party may continue to perform Engineering Work until it has reached a 

point where it may reasonably and/or safely suspend the Engineering Work.  Agency shall 

reimburse CSXT pursuant to this Agreement for the Engineering Work performed, plus all 

costs reasonably incurred by CSXT to discontinue the Engineering Work and all other costs 

of CSXT incurred as a result of the Project up to the time of full suspension of the 

Engineering Work.  Termination of this Agreement or Engineering Work on the Project, for 

any reason, shall not diminish or reduce Agency’s obligation to pay CSXT for Reimbursable 

Expenses incurred in accordance with this Agreement.  In the event of the termination of this 

Agreement or the Engineering Work for any reason, CSXT’s only remaining obligation to 

Agency shall be to refund to Agency payments made to CSXT in excess of Reimbursable 

Expenses in accordance with Section 3. 

6. Subcontracts.  CSXT shall be permitted to engage outside consultants, counsel and subcontractors to 

perform all or any portion of the Engineering Work. 

7. Notices.  All notices, consents and approvals required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in 

writing and shall be deemed delivered (i) on the expiration of three (3) days following mailing by first 

class U.S. mail, (ii) on the next business day following mailing by a nationally recognized overnight 

carrier, or (iii) on the date of transmission, as evidenced by written confirmation of successful 

transmission, if by facsimile or other electronic transmission if sent on a business day (or if not sent 

298

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

Page 4 of 7 

    

on a business day, then on the next business day after the date sent), to the parties at the addresses set 

forth below, or such other addresses as either party may designate by delivery of prior notice to the 

other party: 

If to CSXT:  CSX Transportation, Inc. 

500 Water Street, J301 

Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

Attention:  Director Project Management – Public Projects 

             If to Agency:  Effingham County 

    804 S. Laurel St. 

    Springfield, GA 31329 

    Attention: Timothy Callanan, County Manager 

 

8. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement embodies the entire understanding of the parties, may not be 

waived or modified except in a writing signed by authorized representatives of both parties, and 

supersedes all prior or contemporaneous written or oral understandings, agreements or 

negotiations regarding its subject matter.  In the event of any inconsistency between this 

Agreement and the Exhibits, the more specific terms of the Exhibits shall be deemed controlling. 

9. Waiver.  If either party fails to enforce its respective rights under this Agreement, or fails to insist 

upon the performance of the other party’s obligations hereunder, such failure shall not be 

construed as a permanent waiver of any rights or obligations in this Agreement. 

10. Assignment.  CSXT may assign this Agreement and all rights and obligations herein to a 

successor in interest, parent company, affiliate, or future affiliate.  Upon assignment of this 

Agreement by CSXT and the assumption by CSXT’s assignee of CSXT’s obligations under this 

Agreement, CSXT shall have no further obligations under this Agreement.  Agency shall not 

assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without CSXT’s prior written consent, 

which consent may be withheld for any reason. 

11. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida, 

exclusive of its choice of law rules.  The parties further agree that the venue of all legal and 

equitable proceedings related to disputes under this Agreement shall be situated in Duval County, 

Florida, and the parties agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of any State or Federal court 

situated in Duval County, Florida. 

 

 

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

 

 

299

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

Page 5 of 7 

    

 

 

BY SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, I certify that there have been no changes made to the content of 

this Agreement since its approval by the CSXT Legal Department on October 27, 2021. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in duplicate, each by 

its duly authorized officers, as of the date of this Agreement. 

 

Effingham County 

 

By:  ______________________________________ 

Print Name: _______________________________ 

Title:  ____________________________________ 

 

 

CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC. 

 

By:  ______________________________________ 

  Todd Allton 

  Project Manager – CSX Public Projects 

   

300

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

Page 6 of 7 

    

ESTIMATE SUBJECT TO REVISION AFTER: 6/12/2025 DOT NO.: 635121D

CITY: COUNTY: Effingham STATE: GA

ZONE: Carolinas SUB-DIV: Columbia MILE POST: S-485.55

AGENCY PROJECT NUMBER: 0

PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING:

Contracted & Administrative Engineering Services (CSX Admin+ Signal Design & Estimate) 30,000$           

Contracted & Administrative Engineering Services (STV) 28,675$           

Subtotal 58,675$             

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING/INSPECTION:

Contracted & Administrative Engineering Services -$                

Subtotal -$                    

FLAGGING SERVICE: (Contract Labor)

Labor (Conductor-Flagman) 0 Days @ 350.00$  -$                

Labor (Foreman/Inspector) 0 Days @ 504.00$  -$                

Additive 135.90%  (Transportation Department) -$                    

Additive 168.00%  (Engineering Department) -$                    

Subtotal -$                    

SIGNAL & COMMUNICATIONS WORK: -$                    

TRACK WORK: -$                    

PROJECT SUBTOTAL: 58,675$             

CONTINGENCIES: 10.00% 5,868$                

PROJECT TOTAL: ***************************************************** 64,543$             

CURRENT AUTHORIZED BUDGET: ***************************************************** -$                    

TOTAL SUPPLEMENT REQUESTED: ***************************************************** 64,542.50$       

DIVISION OF COST:

Agency 100.00% 64,543$             

Railroad 0.00% -$                    

NOTE:  Estimate is based on FULL CROSSING CLOSURE during work by Railroad Forces.

Office of Chief Engineer Public Projects--Jacksonville, Florida

STV Incorporated Approved by: CTA CSXT Public Project Group

DATE: 06/12/24 REVISED: 01/00/00 DATE: 06/14/24

Estimated prepared by:

This estimate has been prepared based on site conditions, anticipated work duration periods, material prices, labor rates, manpower and resource availability, and other 

factors known as of the date prepared.  The actual cost for CSXT work may differ based upon the agency's requirements, their contractor's work procedures, and/or 

o ther conditions that become apparent once construction commences or during the progress of the work

Rincon

DESCRIPTION:  Goshen Rd. roadway widening to include new crossing surface and signals

301

Item X. 17.



Project: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA 

Goshen Rd. roadway widening 

DOT 635121D, Columbia Sub.,  MP S-485.55 

OP No. __________ 

 

7 of 7 

 

 

CSXT Schedule PA 

 

PAYMENT SUBMISSION FORM 

 
 

Project Description: Rincon, Effingham Co., GA Goshen Rd. roadway widening to include new 

crossing surface and signals at 635121D Carolinas Zone, Columbia Sub., S-485.55 

 

CSXT OP# ________________ (To be filled in by CSXT) 

 

****************************************************************************** 

Payment may be made via paper check or ACH/EFT payment as detailed below. 

Payment due prior to work commencing. 

 

*********Mail a Check********* 

Mail this form (via USPS only), 

along with your paper check (do not 

send the Agreement) to the following 

address: 

 

CSX Transportation, Inc. 

P.O. Box 530192 

Atlanta, GA 30353-0192 

 

****************************** 

 

 

 

 

OR 

*******ACH/EFT Payment******* 

Submit Payment to: 

 

 

CSXT Govt. Billing 

P.O. Box 530192 

Atlanta, GA 30353-0192 

 

Acct # 1219082172 

ACH ABA# 267084199 

******************************

When submitting payment VIA EITHER CHECK OR ACH/EFT, send a photocopy of the check 

or associated ACH/EFT payment info, along with this form via email/mail to: 

 

Todd Allton 

Project Manager II - Public Projects 

Todd_Allton@csx.com 

Amy_Henry@csx.com 

Janae.Hudgins@stvinc.com 

 

****************************************************************************** 

(All information below to be completed by Agency providing Payment) 

 

 Sponsor Name Payment Date Check #  Amount 

 

            

 

302

Item X. 17.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Text Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Greg Coleman requests a text amendment from ordinance Section 5.11.2, to allow for 
the addition of truck and trailer parking as a conditional use in B-3 zoning.  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a text amendment to ordinance 
Section 5.11.2, to allow for the addition of truck and trailer parking as a conditional use in B-3 zoning. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for a Text Amendment is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article IX – 

Amendments to Map or Text. 

 The applicant is requesting a Text Amendment to ordinance section 5.11.2 to allow for the addition of truck 

and trailer parking as a conditional use within the B-3 zoning district. 

 Currently, the Effingham County Table of Permitted Uses allows truck and trailer parking as a conditional 

use in the Light Industrial Zoning District. 

 The B-3 zoning district is the most intensive commercial district; the following are the current conditional 

uses allowed within B-3 zoning: 

- Butcher Shop with Abattoir  

- Automotive Sales, Service, and Storage 

- Boat Sales and Repair 

- Truck Stops (more than 10 pumps) 

- Commercial Recreation (Fairgrounds/ 

Flea Markets) 

- Adult Entertainment Club 

- Outdoor Amusement Parks – 

Temporary 

- Government Owned Utilities – Gas, 

Electrical, Hydropower 

- Public Utilities Substation/ Sub 

Installation  

- Solar Power Farms 

- Vocational School (with Outdoor 

Component) 

- Food Processing     

 

 This text amendment is consistent with the Future Land Use Map (FLUM), as these parcels are projected 

to remain commercial, are within the commercial corridor character area, and are predominately 

surrounded by transitional parcels.  

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval with Staff 

recommendations. Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.     

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the requested text amendment from ordinance Section 5.11.2, to allow for the addition of truck 

and trailer parking as a conditional use in B-3 zoning. 

 

2. Deny the requested text amendment from ordinance Section 5.11.2, to allow for the addition of truck and 

trailer parking as a conditional use in B-3 zoning. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Text Amendment Application  

303

Item XIII. 1.



304

Item XIII. 1.



305

Item XIII. 1.



306

Item XIII. 1.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Conditional Use (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Luis R. Perdomo requests a conditional use for a Rural Business to allow for 
commercial vehicle parking. Located at 100 Highland Drive. [Map# 466B Parcel# 10] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends denial of the request for a conditional use for a Rural 
Business to allow for commercial vehicle parking. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for a Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – 

Uses permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant requests a conditional use for a Rural Business to allow commercial vehicle parking 

at their residence.   

 The applicant attended a Technical Review Committee Meeting in March to discuss the 

Conditional use process, access management, and buffering.  

 Staff have received multiple requests for commercial vehicle parking within the AR-1 zoning 

district. Per the Effingham County Table of Permitted Uses, Commercial Truck Parking is a 

conditional use within the Light Industrial zoning district. 

 At the Planning Board meeting on June 11, 2024, the applicant explained that they have 3 bobtails 

and two trailers.     

 The applicant is willing, per the application, to install a privacy fence to screen the area of the 

parking. 

 Staff are in the process of updating the Home Occupation Ordinance, recognizing that a one-size-

fits-all approach does not work for home occupations.   

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for denial. Mr. 

Peter Higgins seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.   

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a conditional use for a Rural Business to allow for commercial vehicle 

parking with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational 
Tax Certificate (business license).  

 
 
2. Deny the request for the conditional use of a Rural Business to allow commercial vehicle parking.   

Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives: 1  
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph     3. Deed 
 

307

Item XIII. 2.



308

Item XIII. 2.



309

Item XIII. 2.



310

Item XIII. 2.



311

Item XIII. 2.



312

Item XIII. 2.



313

Item XIII. 2.



314

Item XIII. 2.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Luis R. Perdomo requests a conditional use for a Rural Business to allow for 
commercial vehicle parking. Located at 100 Highland Drive. [Map# 466B Parcel# 10] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends denial of the request for a conditional use for a Rural 
Business to allow for commercial vehicle parking. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for a Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – 

Uses permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant requests a conditional use for a Rural Business to allow commercial vehicle parking 

at their residence.   

 The applicant attended a Technical Review Committee Meeting in March to discuss the 

Conditional use process, access management, and buffering.  

 Staff have received multiple requests for commercial vehicle parking within the AR-1 zoning 

district. Per the Effingham County Table of Permitted Uses, Commercial Truck Parking is a 

conditional use within the Light Industrial zoning district. 

 At the Planning Board meeting on June 11, 2024, the applicant explained that they have 3 bobtails 

and two trailers.     

 The applicant is willing, per the application, to install a privacy fence to screen the area of the 

parking. 

 Staff are in the process of updating the Home Occupation Ordinance, recognizing that a one-size-

fits-all approach does not work for home occupations.   

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for denial. Mr. 

Peter Higgins seconded the motion and it carried unanimously.   

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a conditional use for a Rural Business to allow for commercial vehicle 

parking with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational 
Tax Certificate (business license).  

 
 
2. Deny the request for the conditional use of a Rural Business to allow commercial vehicle parking.   

Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives: 1  
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  
 

315

Item XIII. 3.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

466B-10 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

466B-10 

 

AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, LUIS R. PERDOMO has filed an application for a conditional use to allow for a rural business to allow for 

commercial vehicle parking; map and parcel number 466B-10, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use to allow for a rural business to allow for commercial vehicle parking; 

map and parcel number 466B-10, located in the 2nd commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate (business 

license).  

 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:      FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

316

Item XIII. 3.



Subject:  Variance (First District)        
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Betty Crosby requests a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction 
in the required building setbacks. Located at 118 Second Street, zoned AR-1. [Map# 296A Parcel# 25] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a variance from ordinance 
Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction in the required building setbacks.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 5.1.4, to allow the reduction in the required building 

setbacks. 

 The applicant’s parcel is .51 acres, and the lot size is approximately 136’ X 105’.  

 The applicant would like to place a mobile home on the property for a caregiver. Due to this parcel being 

zoned AR-1 the Effingham County Code of Ordinances does allow this an immediate family member.  

 AR-1 setbacks are as follows: 

Front: 50 feet 

Rear: 50 feet 
Side: 25 feet 

 Per the applicant, there was previously a home and septic system on site. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval on the 
condition that the home could not be closer than 10 feet to the property line along 2nd Street and 10 feet to 
the side property line.  

 Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.  
  

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction in the required 

building setbacks. 
- The home cannot be closer than 10 feet to the property line along 2nd Street and 10 feet to the side 

property line.   
 

2. Deny the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction in the required 

building setbacks. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph     3. Deed 

 
317

Item XIII. 4.



318

Item XIII. 4.



319

Item XIII. 4.



320

Item XIII. 4.



321

Item XIII. 4.



322

Item XIII. 4.



323

Item XIII. 4.



324

Item XIII. 4.



Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment        
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Betty Crosby requests a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction 
in the required building setbacks. Located at 118 Second Street, zoned AR-1. [Map# 296A Parcel# 25] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a variance from ordinance 
Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction in the required building setbacks.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 5.1.4, to allow the reduction in the required building 

setbacks. 

 The applicant’s parcel is .51 acres, and the lot size is approximately 136’ X 105’.  

 The applicant would like to place a mobile home on the property for a caregiver. Due to this parcel being 

zoned AR-1 the Effingham County Code of Ordinances does allow this an immediate family member.  

 AR-1 setbacks are as follows: 

Front: 50 feet 

Rear: 50 feet 
Side: 25 feet 

 Per the applicant, there was previously a home and septic system on site. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval on the 
condition that the home could not be closer than 10 feet to the property line along 2nd Street and 10 feet to 
the side property line.  

 Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.  
  

Alternatives  
 
1. Approve the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction in the required 

building setbacks. 
- The home cannot be closer than 10 feet to the property line along 2nd Street and 10 feet to the side 

property line.   
 

2. Deny the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for a reduction in the required 

building setbacks. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

 
325

Item XIII. 5.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

296A-25 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

296A-25 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, BETTY CROSBY has filed an application for a variance, to allow for a reduction in required building setbacks; 

map and parcel number 296A-25, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance to allow for a reduction in required building setbacks; map and parcel 

number 296A-25, located in the 1st commissioner district is approved, with the following condition: 

- The home cannot be closer than 10 feet to the property line along 2nd Street and 10 feet to the side property line.   

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

326

Item XIII. 5.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Variance (Third District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Amy Wilson as agent for Sandra Hutcheson requests a variance from ordinance 
Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an RV during home construction. Located at 569 Little McCall Road, 
zoned AR-1. [Map# 320 Parcel# 51] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a variance from ordinance 
Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an RV during home construction.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances 

may only be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, 
or shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions 
peculiar to the particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and 
not to circumstances or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in 
the neighborhood or district in which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the 
property can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that 
the authorization of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an RV during 

home construction. 

 The applicant is currently looking at permanent home options for the property. A building permit 

has not been applied for yet.  

 AR-1 zoning does allow a secondary dwelling for immediate family members.   

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) does show this parcel as agriculture/residential. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval with 

the following condition: 

- The applicant can stay in the mobile home for up to 12 months, should that time need to be 

extended, the applicant would need to come back before the Board of Commissioners for 

approval. 

 Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

Alternatives  
 

1. Approve the request for a variance from ordinance Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of 

an RV during home construction. 

- The applicant can stay in the mobile home for up to 12 months, should that time need to be 

extended, the applicant would need to come back before the Board of Commissioners for 

approval.   

 
2. Deny the request for a variance from ordinance Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an 

RV during home construction. 

327

Item XIII. 6.



Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph     3. Deed 

 

328

Item XIII. 6.



329

Item XIII. 6.



330

Item XIII. 6.



331

Item XIII. 6.



332

Item XIII. 6.



333

Item XIII. 6.



334

Item XIII. 6.



335

Item XIII. 6.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Amy Wilson as agent for Sandra Hutcheson requests a variance from ordinance 
Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an RV during home construction. Located at 569 Little McCall Road, 
zoned AR-1. [Map# 320 Parcel# 51] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the request for a variance from ordinance 
Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an RV during home construction.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances 

may only be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, 
or shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions 
peculiar to the particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and 
not to circumstances or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in 
the neighborhood or district in which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the 
property can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that 
the authorization of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an RV during 

home construction. 

 The applicant is currently looking at permanent home options for the property. A building permit 

has not been applied for yet.  

 AR-1 zoning does allow a secondary dwelling for immediate family members.   

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) does show this parcel as agriculture/residential. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval with 

the following condition: 

- The applicant can stay in the mobile home for up to 12 months, should that time need to be 

extended, the applicant would need to come back before the Board of Commissioners for 

approval. 

 Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

Alternatives  
 

1. Approve the request for a variance from ordinance Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of 

an RV during home construction. 

- The applicant can stay in the mobile home for up to 12 months, should that time need to be 

extended, the applicant would need to come back before the Board of Commissioners for 

approval.   

 
2. Deny the request for a variance from ordinance Section 3.21.1, to allow for the occupation of an 

RV during home construction. 

336

Item XIII. 7.



Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment  

 

337

Item XIII. 7.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

320-51 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

320-51 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, AMY WILSON AS AGENT FOR SANDRA HUTCHESON has filed an application for a variance, to allow for 

occupation of a RV during home construction; map and parcel number 320-51, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance to allow for occupation of a RV during home construction; map and parcel 

number 320-51, located in the 3rd commissioner district is approved, with the following condition: 

- The applicant can stay in the mobile home for up to 12 months, should that time need to be extended, the applicant would 

need to come back before the Board of Commissioners for approval.   

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

338

Item XIII. 7.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Variance (Fourth District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Robert Crisp requests a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for the reduction 
in required building setbacks. Located at 156 Knotty Pine Circle, zoned R-1. [Map# 428C Parcel# 150] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends denial of the requests a variance from ordinance Section 
5.1.4, to allow for the reduction in required building setbacks.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances 

may only be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, 
or shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions 
peculiar to the particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and 
not to circumstances or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in 
the neighborhood or district in which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the 
property can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that 
the authorization of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 5.1.4, to allow the reduction in the required 

building setbacks. 

 This variance is to allow the accessory strutcure to be 3 feet from the home. The Effingham 

County Code of Ordinances requires that accessory structures be at least 10 feet from the primary 

dwelling.   

 There is a 15’ utility easement along the back portion of the property, however there is a building 

located within that easement. 

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Appendix C, Article VI, Section 6.2.3 – 

Accessory Structures: 

An accessory structure less than ten feet from the principal structure must be connected thereto 

by a breezeway or similar structure and will be considered a component of the principal structure 

and comply with all yard setbacks for the principal structure. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval, 

there was not a second and the motion died. 

 Mr. Ryan Thompson followed with a motion for denial based on the staff’s recommendation. It was 

Second by Mr. Peter Higgins. The vote was tied 2-2, as both Mr. Alan Zipperer and Chairman 

Dave Burns opposed.    

Alternatives  
 

1. Approve the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for the reduction in 

required building setbacks. 

 
2. Deny the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for the reduction in required 

building setbacks. 
339

Item XIII. 8.



Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives: 1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Variance Application 2.  Aerial photograph     3. Deed 

340

Item XIII. 8.



341

Item XIII. 8.



342

Item XIII. 8.



343

Item XIII. 8.



344

Item XIII. 8.



345

Item XIII. 8.



346

Item XIII. 8.



347

Item XIII. 8.



348

Item XIII. 8.



349

Item XIII. 8.



350

Item XIII. 8.



351

Item XIII. 8.



352

Item XIII. 8.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
 
Item Description: Robert Crisp requests a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for the reduction 
in required building setbacks. Located at 156 Knotty Pine Circle, zoned R-1. [Map# 428C Parcel# 150] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends denial of the requests a variance from ordinance Section 
5.1.4, to allow for the reduction in required building setbacks.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances 

may only be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, 
or shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions 
peculiar to the particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and 
not to circumstances or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in 
the neighborhood or district in which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the 
property can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that 
the authorization of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 The applicant requests a variance from Section 5.1.4, to allow the reduction in the required 

building setbacks. 

 This variance is to allow the accessory strutcure to be 3 feet from the home. The Effingham 

County Code of Ordinances requires that accessory structures be at least 10 feet from the primary 

dwelling.   

 There is a 15’ utility easement along the back portion of the property, however there is a building 

located within that easement. 

 Per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Appendix C, Article VI, Section 6.2.3 – 

Accessory Structures: 

An accessory structure less than ten feet from the principal structure must be connected thereto 

by a breezeway or similar structure and will be considered a component of the principal structure 

and comply with all yard setbacks for the principal structure. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval, 

there was not a second and the motion died. 

 Mr. Ryan Thompson followed with a motion for denial based on the staff’s recommendation. It was 

Second by Mr. Peter Higgins. The vote was tied 2-2, as both Mr. Alan Zipperer and Chairman 

Dave Burns opposed.    

Alternatives  
 

1. Approve the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for the reduction in 

required building setbacks. 

 
2. Deny the request for a variance from ordinance Section 5.1.4, to allow for the reduction in required 

building setbacks. 
353

Item XIII. 9.



Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives: 1 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Zoning Map Amendment 

354

Item XIII. 9.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

428C-150 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

428C-150 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, ROBERT CRISP has filed an application for a variance, to allow for a reduction in required building setbacks; 

map and parcel number 428C-150, located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024, and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance to allow for a reduction in required building setbacks; map and parcel 

number 428C-150, located in the 4th commissioner district is approved. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

355

Item XIII. 9.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
Item Description: Jason Ruarks as agent for Karen Lanier & Gary Moore requests to rezone +/- 
4.88 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new home sites. Located at 188 Harley 
Road. [Map# 417B Parcel# 4] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 4.88 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new home sites. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to AR-2 to subdivide the lot into 3 separate parcels. 

 There are currently two homes located on the property; to place a third home, the applicant is 

subdividing the parcel.  

 AR-1 zoning requires that the parcel must be 5 acres or more, the new proposed parcels will not 

meet that acreage.   

 The parcel is surrounded by agriculture/residential zoned parcels on all sides.  

 This rezoning will be consistent with the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as this parcel is projected to 

be agriculture/residential. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval. The 

motion was second by Mr. Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously.      

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 4.88 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create 
new home sites with the following conditions: 

- A plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded before the 

zoning can take effect.  

  

2. Deny the requests to rezone +/- 4.88 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new 
home sites. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 
 

356

Item XIII. 10.



357

Item XIII. 10.



358

Item XIII. 10.



359

Item XIII. 10.



360

Item XIII. 10.



361

Item XIII. 10.



362

Item XIII. 10.



363

Item XIII. 10.



364

Item XIII. 10.



365

Item XIII. 10.



366

Item XIII. 10.



367

Item XIII. 10.



368

Item XIII. 10.



369

Item XIII. 10.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2024 
Item Description: Jason Ruarks as agent for Karen Lanier & Gary Moore requests to rezone +/- 
4.88 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new home sites. Located at 188 Harley 
Road. [Map# 417B Parcel# 4] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 4.88 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new home sites. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to AR-2 to subdivide the lot into 3 separate parcels. 

 There are currently two homes located on the property; to place a third home, the applicant is 

subdividing the parcel.  

 AR-1 zoning requires that the parcel must be 5 acres or more, the new proposed parcels will not 

meet that acreage.   

 The parcel is surrounded by agriculture/residential zoned parcels on all sides.  

 This rezoning will be consistent with the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as this parcel is projected to 

be agriculture/residential. 

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval. The 

motion was second by Mr. Ryan Thompson and carried unanimously.      

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 4.88 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create 
new home sites with the following conditions: 

- A plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded before the 

zoning can take effect.  

  

2. Deny the requests to rezone +/- 4.88 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new 
home sites. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Zoning Map Amendment  

370

Item XIII. 11.



 

 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

417B-4 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

417B-4 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JASON RUARKS AS AGENT FOR KAREN LANIER & GARY MOORE has filed an application to rezone 

four and eighty-eight hundredth (4.88) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create a new home site; map and 

parcel number 417B-4, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT four and eighty-eight hundredth (4.88) +/- acres; map and parcel number 417B-4, 

located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for subdivision to create new home site, with the 

following conditions: 

- A plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded before the zoning can take effect.  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

371

Item XIII. 11.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2023 
Item Description: Lee Grider requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow 
for commercial/business opportunities. Located at 1243 & 1257 Noel C Conaway Road. [Map# 375E 
Parcel# 5 & 6] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres 
from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for commercial/business opportunities. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to B-1 to start a proposed coffee shop. 

 Across Nease Road is a church and across Noel C Conaway Road is Effingham County High 

School.  

 The B-1 commercial zoning is the Neighborhood Commercial District. Based on the Effingham 

County Table of Permitted Uses, the following are allowed within the B-1 zoning district: 

- Plant Nurseries 

- Hotel/Motel over 75 Rooms 

- Banks 

- Automated Bank Tellers (Stand 

Alone) 

- Dentist  

- Doctor (All Specialties) 

- Urgent Care 

- Orthodontist  

- Optometry 

- Physical Therapy 

- Pharmacy 

- Pharmacy for Medical Cannabis 

Dispensary or Medical Marijuana 

Dispensary  

- Counseling 

- Veterinarian  

- Butcher Shop without Abattoir 

- Retail – General 

- Rural Business 

- Convenience Store (no gas pumps) 

- Dry Cleaning Outlets 

- Florist (Wholesale/Retail) 

- Gas Station (less than 10 pumps) 

- Movie Theater 

- Outdoor Recreational Facilities 

(Playgrounds, pools) 

- Unlighted Regulation Size (18 Holes) 

or Par Three (9 Holes+) Gold 

Courses 

- Utility Operation Centers 

- Government Owned EV Charging 

Stations 

- Childcare Center  

- Nursing Homes 

- Libraries/Museums  

- Places of Worship 

- Taxidermy  

  

 This parcel is surrounded by agriculture/residential zoned parcels on all sides.  

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) does have these parcels projected to be agriculture/residential. 

372

Item XIII. 12.



 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval with 

Staff recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.      

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for 
commercial/business opportunities with the following conditions: 

- A recombination plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded. 

- A site plan shall be approved by the Board of Commissioners per the Effingham County Code 
of Ordinances, Chapter 14, Article II, Division 2, Section 14-56 – Permits.  

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax 
Certificate (business license).  
  

2. Deny the requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for 
commercial/business opportunities. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 
 

373

Item XIII. 12.



374

Item XIII. 12.



375

Item XIII. 12.



376

Item XIII. 12.



377

Item XIII. 12.



378

Item XIII. 12.



379

Item XIII. 12.



380

Item XIII. 12.



381

Item XIII. 12.



382

Item XIII. 12.



383

Item XIII. 12.



384

Item XIII. 12.



385

Item XIII. 12.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2023 
Item Description: Lee Grider requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow 
for commercial/business opportunities. Located at 1243 & 1257 Noel C Conaway Road. [Map# 375E 
Parcel# 5 & 6] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres 
from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for commercial/business opportunities. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to B-1 to start a proposed coffee shop. 

 Across Nease Road is a church and across Noel C Conaway Road is Effingham County High 

School.  

 The B-1 commercial zoning is the Neighborhood Commercial District. Based on the Effingham 

County Table of Permitted Uses, the following are allowed within the B-1 zoning district: 

- Plant Nurseries 

- Hotel/Motel over 75 Rooms 

- Banks 

- Automated Bank Tellers (Stand 

Alone) 

- Dentist  

- Doctor (All Specialties) 

- Urgent Care 

- Orthodontist  

- Optometry 

- Physical Therapy 

- Pharmacy 

- Pharmacy for Medical Cannabis 

Dispensary or Medical Marijuana 

Dispensary  

- Counseling 

- Veterinarian  

- Butcher Shop without Abattoir 

- Retail – General 

- Rural Business 

- Convenience Store (no gas pumps) 

- Dry Cleaning Outlets 

- Florist (Wholesale/Retail) 

- Gas Station (less than 10 pumps) 

- Movie Theater 

- Outdoor Recreational Facilities 

(Playgrounds, pools) 

- Unlighted Regulation Size (18 Holes) 

or Par Three (9 Holes+) Gold 

Courses 

- Utility Operation Centers 

- Government Owned EV Charging 

Stations 

- Childcare Center  

- Nursing Homes 

- Libraries/Museums  

- Places of Worship 

- Taxidermy  

  

 This parcel is surrounded by agriculture/residential zoned parcels on all sides.  

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) does have these parcels projected to be agriculture/residential. 

386

Item XIII. 13.



 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for approval with 

Staff recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.      

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for 
commercial/business opportunities with the following conditions: 

- A recombination plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded. 

- A site plan shall be approved by the Board of Commissioners per the Effingham County Code 
of Ordinances, Chapter 14, Article II, Division 2, Section 14-56 – Permits.  

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax 
Certificate (business license).  
  

2. Deny the requests to rezone +/- 1.34 acres from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for 
commercial/business opportunities. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Zoning Map Amendment 

387

Item XIII. 13.



 

 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

375E-5 &6 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

375E-5 & 6 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS LEE GRIDER has filed an application to rezone one and thirty-four hundredth (1.34) +/- acres; from AR-1 & 

AR-2 to B-1 to allow for commercial/business opportunities; map and parcel number 375E-5 & 6, located in the 2nd commissioner 

district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT one and thirty-four hundredth (1.34) +/- acres; map and parcel number 375E-5 & 6, 

located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 & AR-2 to B-1 to allow for commercial/business opportunities, with the 

following conditions: 

- A recombination plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded. 

- A site plan shall be approved by the Board of Commissioners per the Effingham County Code of Ordinances, Chapter 14, 

Article II, Division 2, Section 14-56 – Permits.  

- The applicant shall obtain, and keep in good standing, an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate (business license).  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

388

Item XIII. 13.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2023 
Item Description: Brooke Graham requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide 
to create new home sites. Located at 2453 GA Highway 119 N. [Map# 408 Parcel# 24A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home sites. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home sites. 

 The parcel would be subdivided into 3 tracts, with a 60’ access easement from GA Highway 119 N 

that will serve the 1.506-acre tract.  

 Due to these proposed parcels being less than 5 acres, they will need to be rezoned to AR-2.    

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) for this parcel is projected to be agriculture.  

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval. 

Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.    

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home 
sites with the following conditions: 

- A plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded before the 

zoning can take effect.  

  

2. Deny the requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home 
sites. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 
 

389

Item XIII. 14.



390

Item XIII. 14.



391

Item XIII. 14.



392

Item XIII. 14.



393

Item XIII. 14.



394

Item XIII. 14.



395

Item XIII. 14.



396

Item XIII. 14.



397

Item XIII. 14.



398

Item XIII. 14.



399

Item XIII. 14.



400

Item XIII. 14.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2023 
Item Description: Brooke Graham requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide 
to create new home sites. Located at 2453 GA Highway 119 N. [Map# 408 Parcel# 24A] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home sites. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to rezone to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home sites. 

 The parcel would be subdivided into 3 tracts, with a 60’ access easement from GA Highway 119 N 

that will serve the 1.506-acre tract.  

 Due to these proposed parcels being less than 5 acres, they will need to be rezoned to AR-2.    

 The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) for this parcel is projected to be agriculture.  

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board meeting, Mr. Ryan Thompson made a motion for approval. 

Mr. Alan Zipperer second the motion and it carried unanimously.    

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home 
sites with the following conditions: 

- A plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded before the 

zoning can take effect.  

  

2. Deny the requests to rezone +/- 5.14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home 
sites. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Zoning Map Amendment  

401

Item XIII. 15.



 

 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

408-24A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

408-24A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS BROOKE GRAHAM has filed an application to rezone five and fourteen hundredths (5.14) +/- acres; from AR-

1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home sites; map and parcel number 408-24A, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT five and fourteen hundredths (5.14) +/- acres; map and parcel number 408-24A, located 

in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2 to subdivide to create new home sites, with the following conditions: 

- A plat shall be submitted to Development Services and approved, then recorded before the zoning can take effect.  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

402

Item XIII. 15.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2023 
Item Description: Read Brennan requests to rezone +/- 27.65 acres from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow 
for the amendment of a Planned Development. Located on Blue Jay Road. [Map# 415 Parcel# 10 & 
Map# 414 Parcel# 9] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 27.65 acres 
from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to amend the Planned Development text for the Staffordshire 

Development on Blue Jay Road. 

 The text amendment provides for an increase in the number of allowed units from 184 to 225 

maximum units.  

 The text also allows the county access to an easement on the north side of the property connecting 

to Blue Jay Road.  

 This proposed development will be considered an additional phase to the Staffordshire Subdivision, 

and utilities are already in place.  

 The proposed development will add additional stormwater capacity.   

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as these parcels are projected 

to be agricultural/residential.  

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for denial. Mr. 

Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 27.65 acres from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment 
of a Planned Development with the following conditions: 

- A recombination plat shall be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, 

before the zoning can take effect.   

- A preliminary plat shall be approved by the Board of Commissioners.  

  

2. Deny the requests rezone +/- 27.65 acres from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment of a 
Planned Development. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                           2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 
 

403

Item XIII. 16.



404

Item XIII. 16.



405

Item XIII. 16.



406

Item XIII. 16.



407

Item XIII. 16.



408

Item XIII. 16.



409

Item XIII. 16.



410

Item XIII. 16.



411

Item XIII. 16.



412

Item XIII. 16.



413

Item XIII. 16.



414

Item XIII. 16.



415

Item XIII. 16.



416

Item XIII. 16.



417

Item XIII. 16.



418

Item XIII. 16.



419

Item XIII. 16.



420

Item XIII. 16.



Staff Report            

 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Senior Planner 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: July 16, 2023 
Item Description: Read Brennan requests to rezone +/- 27.65 acres from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow 
for the amendment of a Planned Development. Located on Blue Jay Road. [Map# 415 Parcel# 10 & 
Map# 414 Parcel# 9] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application and recommends approval of the requests to rezone +/- 27.65 acres 
from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant is requesting to amend the Planned Development text for the Staffordshire 

Development on Blue Jay Road. 

 The text amendment provides for an increase in the number of allowed units from 184 to 225 

maximum units.  

 The text also allows the county access to an easement on the north side of the property connecting 

to Blue Jay Road.  

 This proposed development will be considered an additional phase to the Staffordshire Subdivision, 

and utilities are already in place.  

 The proposed development will add additional stormwater capacity.   

 This rezoning is consistent with the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as these parcels are projected 

to be agricultural/residential.  

 At the June 11, 2024, Planning Board Meeting, Mr. Alan Zipperer made a motion for denial. Mr. 

Peter Higgins second the motion and it carried unanimously.  

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the requests to rezone +/- 27.65 acres from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment 
of a Planned Development with the following conditions: 

- A recombination plat shall be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, 

before the zoning can take effect.   

- A preliminary plat shall be approved by the Board of Commissioners.  

  

2. Deny the requests rezone +/- 27.65 acres from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment of a 
Planned Development. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Zoning Map Amendment 

421

Item XIII. 17.



 

 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

415-10 & 414-9 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

415-10 & 414-9 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS BROOKE GRAHAM has filed an application to rezone twenty-seven and sixty-five hundredths (27.65) +/- 

acres; from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned Development; map and parcel number 415-10 & 414-9, 

located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on July 16, 2024 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on June 12, 2024; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on May 15, 2024; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT twenty-seven and sixty-five hundredths (27.65) +/- acres; map and parcel number 415-

10 & 414-9, located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from PD & AR-1 to PD to allow for the amendment of a Planned 

Development, with the following conditions: 

- A recombination plat shall be approved and signed by Development Services, then recorded, before the zoning can take effect.   

- A preliminary plat shall be approved by the Board of Commissioners.  

 

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

422

Item XIII. 17.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	CONSENT - Disaster Debris Monitoring Renewal
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Thompson Consulting Agreement
	3. RFP_No._23-RFP-025_Proposal_Cost_Thompson_Response

	Item IX. 2.	Ratification of Approval of a Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement between Effingham County Board of Commissioner and Greystone Homeowners Association
	Greystone Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement Staff Report 07-16-24
	Greystone HOA Custom Traffic Signpost Agreement - Signed 07-01-24

	Item IX. 3.	CONSENT - Disaster Debris Removal Renewal
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Ceres CONTRACT DEBRIS REMOVAL
	3. CrowderGulf CONTRACT DEBRIS REMOVAL

	Item IX. 4.	CONSENT - EOM Engineering Renewal
	1. Staff Report
	2. Engineering Master Service Agreement
	3. Engineering_Master Service Agreement Renewal Amendment No. 4_2024_07_01

	Item IX. 5.	CONSENT - Verizon Tower Agreement (Springfield - Site 133762)
	1. Staff Report Verizon Tower Agreement
	2.  Verizon - Original Agreement & Amendment

	Item X. 1.	Purchase of Fire Engine and Ladder Truck
	Staff Report Fire Engine and Ladder Truck
	Proposal Document - January 2024
	Proposal Document - Effingham mid mount

	Item X. 2.	Lonadine Phase 2A - Plat
	Lonadine Phase 2A

	Item X. 3.	Construction Specification - Section 02400 & Stormwater Management Local Design Manual
	StaffReport
	Section 02400 Storm Drainage System
	Stormwater Management Local Design Manual Page 14 July 2024
	Section 02400 Storm Drainage System July 2024

	Item X. 4.	GMC Contract - Well Proposal
	StaffReport
	Proposal.Effingham County Goshen Commercial Park Well Evaluation

	Item X. 5.	Part II - Official Code, Chapter 34 - Article III - Section 34.83
	Staff Report-Amendment To Part II, Chapter 34, Article III, Section 34.83
	Floodplain Ordinance Section 34.83
	Stormwater Management Local Design Manual page 13

	Item X. 6.	Part II - Official Code, Chapter 34 - Article III - Section 34.83
	Staff Report-Amendment To Part II, Chapter 34, Article III, Section 34.84
	Stormwater Management Local Design Manual page 13
	Floodplain Ordinance Section 34.83 (1)

	Item X. 7.	Ponds Ordinance
	BOC Upload

	Item X. 8.	Pools
	BOC Upload

	Item X. 9.	Roundabout at SR-30 and Midland Road Task Order
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. NTP and POND Proposal 30@Midland
	3. Vendor Scores by Evaluation Criteria

	Item X. 10.	Roberts Change Order #4 - Intersection Hours
	1. Staff Report Template
	2._Change_Order_4_TSPLOST_Intersections
	3. 2024-06-20 Additional Work Request

	Item X. 11.	Replacement of Fine Screen and Washer Compactor
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Aqualitec Purchase Order 23-REQ-062
	3. Aqualitec Scope and Price

	Item X. 12.	EOM Public Works Renewal
	1. Staff Report Public Works Agreement
	2. Agreement - Public Works Agreement
	3. Operations_Amendment No. 7_2024_07_01

	Item X. 13.	EOM Master Services Agreement Task Order 9
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Engineering_Task Order 9

	Item X. 14.	Budget Amendment FY 2025 - library correction
	Staff Report FY 2025 Budget Amendment 7-16-24
	Resolution FY 2025 budget amendments 7-16-24 meeting

	Item X. 15.	City of Springfield Annexation Petition_389B-18
	COS Annexation sr_
	COS Annexation_389B-18

	Item X. 16.	City of Springfield Sewer MOU
	StaffReport
	DRAFT MOU_Proposed Sewer Assets_EffinghamCounty_Springfield 6.13.24

	Item X. 17.	Preliminary Engineering Agreement with CSX Transportation for Goshen Road
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. GAXXXX Rincon, GA Goshen Rd PE Agrmt 20240612

	Item XIII. 1.	Ordinance Amendment - Appendix C, Article IX
	Text Amendment_Coleman
	TextAmendment_Coleman

	Item XIII. 2.	Perdomo - Conditional Use
	Perdomo CU_Staff Report
	466B-10_Perdomo_CU

	Item XIII. 3.	Perdomo - CU 2nd Reading
	Perdomo CU 2nd Reading
	Perdomo CU ZMA

	Item XIII. 4.	Betty Crosby - Variance
	Crosby V_Staff Report
	296A-25_Crosby_V

	Item XIII. 5.	Betty Crosby - V 2nd Reading
	Crosby V 2nd Reading
	Crosby V ZMA

	Item XIII. 6.	Amy Wilson - Variance
	Wilson V_Staff Report
	320-51_Wilson_V

	Item XIII. 7.	Amy Wilson - V 2nd Reading
	Wilson V 2nd Reading
	Wilson V ZMA

	Item XIII. 8.	Robert Crisp - Variance
	Crisp V_Staff Report
	428C-150_Crisp_V

	Item XIII. 9.	Robert Crisp - V 2nd Reading
	Crisp V 2nd Reading
	Crisp V ZMA

	Item XIII. 10.	Jason Ruarks - Rezoning
	Ruarks RZ_Staff Report
	417B-4_Ruarks_RZ

	Item XIII. 11.	Ruarks - RZ 2nd Reading
	Ruarks RZ 2nd Reading
	Ruarks RZ ZMA

	Item XIII. 12.	Lee Grider - Rezoning
	Grider RZ_Staff Report
	375E-5_6_Grider_RZ

	Item XIII. 13.	Lee Grider - RZ 2 Reading
	Grider RZ 2nd Reading
	Grider RZ ZMA

	Item XIII. 14.	Brooke Graham - Rezoning
	Graham RZ_Staff Report
	408-24A_Graham_RZ

	Item XIII. 15.	Brooke Graham - RZ 2nd Reading
	Graham RZ 2nd Reading
	Graham RZ ZMA

	Item XIII. 16.	Read Brennan - Rezoning
	Brennan RZ_Staff Report
	415-10_414-9_Brennan_RZ

	Item XIII. 17.	Read Brennan - RZ 2nd Reading
	Brennan RZ 2nd Reading
	Brennan RZ ZMA

	Bottom

